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Five Year Financial Summary

AFEMBRE

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

"'Year ended

31 December

Year ended
31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
gF2011E HZ2010% B 22000% HZ2008% HE2007%
12ABLEEE 12A31ALEE  12B31ALERE  12A31BLEE  12A31ALFE
(restated) (restated)
(mE5) (mE5)
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TEL ThT TEL TAL TEL
Turnover EEL
~Continuing operations ~FANERE 35,079 29,024 15,155 4,206 294
—Discontinued operations -BRIEEEEE - - 19,279 38,532 75,772
35,079 29,224 34,434 42,738 76,066
Result gz
—Continuing operations -REREER
Profit/{loss) before income BATER LAl
fax expenses wfl/ (E8) (92,611) 8,194 (32,940) (40,244) (36,673)
Income tax expenses R (3,628) (3,510) - - -
(96,239) 4,684 (32,940) (40,244) (36,673)
—Discontinued operations -—BRLEERE
Gain/{loss) from discontinued BRIEEEEH
operations B/ (BR) - - 3,073 (9,543) (37,213)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HENEAFNE
(B8) - - 11,593 (87,531) 66,909
Income tax expenses FBRT L - - (651) (2,830) (959)
- - 14,015 (99,904) 28,737
Profit/{loss) for the year AEERT/ (B#B) (96,239) 4,684 (18,925) (140,148) (7,936)
Profit/{loss) attributable to: UTATEEER/ (B]B):
QOwners of the Company AYNGIE DN (96,239) 6,108 (18,784) (140,148) (7,936)
Non-controlling interest ¥R - (1,424) (141) - -
(96,239) 4,684 (18,925) (140,148) (7,936)
Earings/(loss) per share BRA/ (58)
—Basic (HK cents) —ER(E) (0.979) 0.101 (0.431) (3.311) (0.191)
~Diluted (HK cents) .- 1) (0.979) 0.098 (0.431) (3.311) (0.191)
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AFEMBRE

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
P2011E 12010% 820095 120085 20075
12A318 127318 12A31A 12A318 12R31A
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHET TEL TEL TEL TEL
Assets and liabilities BEHER

Non-current assets ERBEE 3,567,892 2,750,595 228,481 113,165 194,386
Net current assets/(liabilties) THEE/(86)FE (201,437) (207,122) (4,384) 19,264 66,463
Non-current liabilities ERPERE (305,499) (15,008) (75,806) - -
Net assets EEFE 3,060,956 2,528,375 148,291 132,429 260,849
Non-controling interests RS - = (141) (122) -

Equity attributable to RRAERA
owners of the Company felhiEs 3,060,956 2,528,375 148,150 132,307 260,849
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Chairman’s Statement

TREEE .

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors, | am pleased to report
the audited annual results of the Company, together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Our business progressed steadily during the year. The coalbed
methane (“CBM”) project in Sanjiao Block in Shanxi and Shaanxi
Provinces has moved ahead on schedule with commercial
sales within the year, and is gradually enhancing its operational
efficiency. The Group’s oil exploitation business in the Erdos
Basin has also continued to deliver satisfactory and steady
income.

China’s National Energy Administration (“NEA”) announced the
“12th Five-Year Plan for Development and Utilization of Coalbed
Methane (Coal Mine Methane)” in a conference last year. Zeng
Yachuan, Director General of the Department of Policy and
Legislation, remarked at the conference that while 2011 was the
year of energy planning for NEA, 2012 will witness the intensive
launch of details of the plan.

CBM Business Gains Leverage from “12th Five-Year
Plan”

CBM is still in its nascent stage of development in China.
Starting from zero during the “11th Five-Year Plan”, national
capacity reached 3.1 billion cubic meters with an output of 1.5
billion cubic meters in 2010. Despite a significant expansion of
exploitation works, proved geological reserves only accounted
for 0.74% of the country’s total resources, indicating tremendous
room for development. Currently only the fields in Qinshui Basin
and the eastern fringe of Erdos Basin have preliminarily realized
large-scale production. NEA noted that the commercialization
of fields in other areas would encounter greater difficulty. It will
therefore focus on the development of CBM operations in Qinshui
and Erdos Basins. The Group’s Sanjiao Block CBM project is
advantageously situated on the eastern fringe of Erdos Basin.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFREEE

NEA has laid down several goals under the “12th Five-Year
Plan”, including the addition of 1 trillion cubic meters of proved
geological reserves and output of 30 billion cubic meters of CBM
by 2015. The Plan also includes the building of 13 gas pipelines
in Qinshui Basin, eastern Erdos Basin and Yubei District, with
a total length of exceeding 2,000 kilometers, as well as the
appropriate development of CBM compression and liquefaction.
To encourage the development of the CBM industry, the Plan
proposes the stringent implementation of tax incentive schemes,
policy support for gas-fired electricity, and study into raising
drainage and utilization subsidies. Such policies will pave the way
for the expedited development of our business in the coming
years.

To ensure the commercialization of the CBM sector, the country
vows to further its supportive efforts. NEA is in negotiation
with the Ministry of Finance in respect of the raising of CBM
production subsidies from the current RMBO0.2 to RMBO0.4 per
square meter.

Strategic Investors and Policy Support

International crude oil prices have climbed continuously after
hitting a new low in October 2011. Events including fuel and
power shortages in China and Japan’s nuclear leak have provided
support for the oil price, and have stimulated demands for new
energy sources to replace nuclear and traditional thermal power.
CBM'’s composition is 98% methane which is low in pollution. It is
a clean energy source that can be used for electricity generation
in cities and for industrial purposes. The exploitation of CBM
also helps to reduce coal mine incidents caused by gas leaks
and carbon emissions and pollution due to gas combustion.
The development of CBM has therefore gained the full support
of the state based on economic, environmental and safety
considerations.

With a focus on oil and gas businesses, the Group has received
strong investors’ attention and support in view of the promising
prospects of its CBM operations. The Group is pleased to
welcome the Mandolin Fund of the Richard Chandler Corporation
as a strategic shareholder during the year. The Sanjiaoc CBM
project also received funding from China Development Bank on
preferential terms. With this financial support from seasoned
investors and state finance institutions, the Group will be able to
maintain a strong financial position to pursue future development
opportunities.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFREEE

Looking around the globe, the worst of the European debt crisis
has passed, and the United States is witnessing a recovery of
its employment and economic conditions. Despite paring its 8%
economic growth target, China has vowed to continue to expand
domestic consumption and to control inflation in order to mitigate
the impact of the decline in exports. Looking to 2012, China
and the world need to boost their strength while staying alert
to economic adversities. The Group’s CBM business enjoys a
stronger resilience towards the forthcoming turbulent economies
and the management is confident about the ongoing prospects
of our business. We believe that with the gradual advancement of
the commercial operational efficiency of the CBM business, our
profitability can be further improved.

On behalf of the board of directors, | send my condolences
for the late Mr. Ni Zhenwei, a former non-executive director of
the Company. We are immensely indebted for the invaluable
contributions he made to the Company during his tenure of office.
At the same time, the board welcomes Dr. Wang Yanbin and
Mr. Xu Zucheng to join as independent non-executive director
and executive director repsectively. Lastly, | extend my sincere
gratitude to all our shareholders, customers, business partners
and staff team for their support to the Group.

Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2011, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Sino Oil and Gas”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) reported a turnover
of HK$35,100,000 (2010: HK$29,200,000), an increase of
approximately 20% year on year. During the year under review,
the Company incurred a loss of HK$96,200,000 (2010: profit of
HK$4,600,000), including an expense of HK$60,000,000 (2010:
HK$19,000,000) as share-based payment for equity-settled share
options issued in December 2011.

Natural Gas and Oil Exploitation

Coalbed Methane Exploitation — Sanjiao Block in Erdos Basin

The Group, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Orion Energy
International Inc. (“Orion”), entered into a production sharing
contract (“PSC”) with PetroChina Coalbed Methane Gas Company
Limited (“PetroChina CBM”). Pursuant to the PSC, the Group
participates in coalbed methane (CBM) exploration, exploitation
and production in the Sanjiao Block located in Shanxi and
Shaanxi Provinces and is entitled to a 70% interest in the project.

During the period under review, Orion continued with the
preparation and reporting work in respect of the Overall
Development Program (“ODP”) of the Sanjiao Program. The
ODP will be submitted to the National Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC”) via PetroChina CBM before middle of
May 2012 for approval. It is expected that NDRC’s preliminary
approval will be obtained shortly, upon submission of the ODP.

In May 2011, the Group entered into a sales collaboration
agreement with PetroChina CBM on the basis of the PSC.
Pursuant to this agreement, the Group and PetroChina CBM
signed a sales and purchase agreement with a company engaged
in CBM businesses in Shanxi Province in June 2011. CBM
produced from the Sanjiao Block in Shanxi Province was to be
sold to this buyer in the form of compressed natural gas (CNG).
A CNG head station with daily compression capacity of 30,000
cubic meters was commissioned in August 2011, enabling the
commencement of trial sales of CBM. The pricing of CBM is
determined with reference to local prices as approved by the
Development and Reform Commission of Shanxi Province, subject
to adjustments in accordance with market conditions and national
policy. Daily CNG sales currently amounts to approximately
18,000 cubic meters per day at an average price of RMB1.51
per cubic meter. Up to the end of December 2011, Orion had
completed 35 multilateral horizontal wells, 6 U-shaped remote
connected horizontal wells and 9 vertical and directional wells in
the Sanjiao Block. A ground pipeline network of 7 kilometers and
interwell pipelines measuring 12 kilometers have also been built.
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The Group is working with PetroChina CBM on the expansion of
the head station for CNG with a view to furthering the scale of
commercial operations of the project. Infrastructure works were
completed in the fourth quarter of 2011 with facilities installation,
testing and turning currently in progress. It is expected that upon
commissioning of the expanded CNG head station by the second
quarter of 2012, daily compression capacity will reach 150,000
cubic meters. Daily sales could reach 100,000 cubic meters.

According to a competent person’s report, the aggregate of the
proved reserves, probable reserves plus possible reserves of
the Sanjiao CBM field as at 31 October 2011 attributable to the
Group was 669.5 billion cubic feet (bcf), 15% higher than the
original reserves as stated in the circular issued in September
2010 in respect of the acquisition.

National Energy Administration officially released a policy paper
on the “12th Five-Year Plan for Development and Utilization
of Coalbed Methane (Coal Mine Methane)” (the “Plan”) on 31
December 2011. The Plan indicated the state’s focus on the
development of two CBM commercial bases in Qinshui Basin
and the eastern fringe of Erdos Basin. By 2015 the productive
capacity of CBM on the eastern fringe of Erdos Basin will reach 5
billion cubic meters. The Group’s Sanjiao CBM project in Shanxi
Province has been listed as a core project on the eastern fringe
under the Plan.

In December 2011, the Sanjiao natural gas development project
received support from the China Development Bank (“CDB”).
Through its subsidiary CDB Leasing Co., Ltd., CDB extended a
facility of RMB1 billion to Orion, to be drawn down over two years
and with a term of five years. The financing will provide adequate
funding for the development of the CBM project.

Liuluoyu and Yanjiawan

The Group’s two oil fields in Erdos Basin, Shaanxi Province,
Liuluoyu and Yanjiawan, are both producing oil fields. During
the year under review, the two fields had an aggregate crude oil
production of approximately 6,500 tonnes, which was at a similar
level to the previous year.

Jinzhuang

The Group obtained a fifteen month operation right of Jinzhuang
oil field under a sub-contracting agreement commencing in May
2010 and expiring by the end of October 2011. Jinzhuang is a
producing oil field located at the plateau of Erdos Basin, Shaanxi
Province, with an area of 62 square kilometers.
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The Group owns a 95% production sharing right to the turnover
from Jinzhuang oil field during the sub-contracting period.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group has the right of first refusal
to acquire the oil field at the agreed price upon the ending of
the sub-contracting period. On 4 November 2011, the Group
acquired the target group which holds the afore-mentioned
contractual right until 2025, and is entitled to share and receive
95% of the income generated from the sales of oil exploited at
the oil field. The consideration for the acquisition was RMB188
million.

According to an independent reserve report, the economic
recoverable reserve of oil in Jinzhuang Block amounts to 4.16
million tonnes. The Group is optimistic about the prospects of this
block and is currently drawing up an overall development plan for
the various blocks it operates in Shaanxi.

During the year under review, crude oil output at Jinzhuang oil
field amounted to approximately 5,000 tonnes.

Summary of Resources
QOil and gas reserves of the Group as at 31 December 2011 are
summarized as follows:

ML

EROGEEN EEEES T HEARE

MEXEBRDKE BEHE ~A&EE
APREHERE NN TCERELESR
2B - R2011F11 548 - K& B PA1.881E
TARERE KEZHEBE2THENHR
FRELEMMH A - REBEBZE  ZA
RIEE LB S EE2025F BZEB%E
FERERAEABEETEEHRA -

REURERS EBRAMOEHETR
EEZMCEN SEHHERARELE R
IERLAL PR PE Y 2 (B SR 4R Il BE B 2 FA BT &I o

EOEFERN cEHMANRBEENS
5,000 °

7 4 8120114512 31 B #3 2 17 18 8 it 1
I

Crude Oil Coalbed Methane
IRk RER
Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan Jinzhuang Sanjiao
i s R B =} eF =%
Million barrels Million barrels  Billion cubic feet (Gross)
HE1E =R FIET T HER (HEEE)
Proved and Probable BE R 2.8 (Note a) 30.4 (Note b) 405.6 (Note c)
(Fff5Fa) (P 5ED) (M 5Ee)

Notes

(@) The oil reserve is estimated by internal experts.

(b)  The oil reserve is extracted from a report formulated by an
independent reserve valuation firm in September 2011 according to

the PRC’s reserve standards.

() The gas reserve is extracted from a competent person’s report

provided to the Company in November 2011.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure

On 30 June 2011, Mandolin Fund Pte Limited (“Mandolin Fund”)
acquired a total of 1,300,000,000 shares in the Company for
investment purposes. Subsequent to the acquisition of shares,
Mandolin Fund has become the biggest substantial shareholder
of the Company. As at 31 December 2011, Mandolin Fund
held 1,5618,215,000 shares in the Company, representing
approximately 12.6% of the total issued share capital of the
Company. Mandolin Fund is a subsidiary of Richard Chandler
Corporation, which has been providing capital to companies and
governments in Asia, Africa, Latin America and Eastern Europe
since 1986. It has invested in a wide range of industries, such as
telecommunications, power, steel, banking and energy.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2011, net assets of the Group were
HK$3,061,000,000 (31 December 2010: HK$2,528,000,000)
while its total assets were HK$3,937,000,000 (31 December
2010: HK$3,423,000,000). As at 31 December 2011, the Group
had external borrowings of HK$307,980,000 (31 December 2010:
Nil) and the gearing ratio based on total assets was 7.82% (31
December 2010: 0%). As at 31 December 2011, the current
ratio was 0.65 (31 December 2010: 0.76). In early July 2011,
the Group successfully issued convertible notes in an aggregate
amount of HK$468 million. Subsequently, the current ratio has
been improved indicating improved cash flow for the Group. The
net proceeds from the issuance, other than those used as general
working capital, will lay a solid foundation for the imminent active
development of the Sanjiao CBM project.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. At 31 December 2011, no related hedges were
made by the Group. In respect of trade and other receivables and
payables held in currencies other than the functional currency of
the operations to which they relate, the Group ensures that its
net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group employed approximately 275
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to focus on expanding its exploitation
businesses based in the Erdos Basin, which is endowed with rich
oil and natural gas resources.

NDRC deputy director and head of the National Energy
Administration Liu Tienan made remarks on China’s energy
sector at a national energy work conference held on 10 January
2012. He reaffirmed the state’s furtherance of the coordinated
development of natural gas with a goal to realize rapid growth
of domestic production. The country will forge ahead with the
development of unconventional natural gas.

According to meeting reports, during the 12th Five-Year Plan
period from 2011 to 2015, natural gas users will increase by 100
million to a total of 250 million. The country plans to produce 30
billion cubic meters of CBM by 2015.

Pursuant to the 12th Five-Year Plan, China will expedite the
transformation of the CBM sector by encouraging market-
driven operations and policy support. Related ministries are in
negotiation in respect of raising the exploitation subsidy from the
current RMBO0.2 to RMBO0.4 per cubic meter. In addition, the state
will budget RMB3 billion per year for the governance of the CBM
sector and on tax incentives to subsidize enterprises to import
CBM equipment.

In addition to gaining policy support under the 12th Five-Year
Plan, the infrastructure construction of the Sanjiao CBM project
has also been much encouraged by local authorities. The Group
has already commenced trial sales of CNG generated at test runs
to local enterprises in Shanxi Province. External sales began in
August 2011 with current daily sales amounting to approximately
18,000 cubic meters. Upon completion of the expansion of the
CNB head station, production capacities will increase further.

The Group has commenced the tendering for drilling works in
2012. It is expected that 50-60 new horizontal, vertical and
directional wells will be drilled within this year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEERES

Apart from selling natural gas in the form of CNG, the Group is
also actively paving the way for selling piped and liquefied natural
gas (“LNG”). Plans are under way to realize piped gas and LNG
supply in the second half of this year. Construction works of a
new pipeline mainly invested in by a local state-owned enterprise
in Shanxi Province were completed in the fourth quarter of 2011.
The new pipeline is designated for CBM transportation and
passes through the main CBM blocks on the eastern fringe of
Erdos Baisn. It is situated between Linxian and Lishi in Lvliang
Municipality, Shanxi Province, and will form part of the first phase
of the “Linxian-Liulin-Linfen” gas pipeline project. The length of
the gas pipeline is 130 kilometers with an annual transportation
capacity of 1.1 billion cubic meters. The pipeline will be located
about 20 kilometers east of the Sanjiao Block. Shanxi Provincial
Government has also approved the construction of two small-
scale LNG plants within the Sanjiao Block. The Group expects
the construction of local pipelines in Shanxi and the LNG plants
to drive the production scale expansion of the CBM project,
and to bring further improvements in the project’s revenues and
profitability. Management believes that the Sanjiao CBM project
will become the Group’s future growth drivers. The Group looks
forward to capturing the opportunities arising from the 12th Five-
Year Plan to bring satisfactory long-term returns for shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 44, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010 and Chairman of the Board of the
Company in September 2011. Dr. Dai was awarded a PhD in
Econometrics by the School of Economics, Jilin University, the
PRC. Dr. Dai is very experienced in the corporate finance sector
as well as merger and acquisitions and corporate restructuring
of companies in the PRC. He is also familiar with the capital
market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one of the co-founder of
China Securities Journal published by Xinhua News Agency and
was a journalist, department head and deputy general manager
of the agency, through which he has extensive experience in
government public relations and investor relations. Currently, Dr.
Dai is the executive director and Co-chairman of China Precious
Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., (stock code: 1194), a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He is also
an independent director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co., Ltd. (T FEZERE
R B AT]) (stock code: 000899), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. King Hap Lee, aged 49, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in September 2011. Mr. King has been
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since November
2010. Mr. King is principally responsible for strategy development
planning and daily operation of the Company. Mr. King graduated
from Xian Jiaotong University in 1983. He worked for various
central government departments and state-owned enterprises
for a considerable period of time and has more than 20 years’
experience in government organizations and enterprises
management. He was the deputy director and Chairman of
Workers’ Union of Mechanic and Electronic Products Importation
and Exportation Office of the State Council, the deputy general
manager of B T 2 Hi5RYII&E A7 (China Machinery
Industry Marketing & Supply Shenzhen Group Corporation*) and
managing director of F#EFE/AF] (China National Machinery
Hong Kong Company *).

Mr. Xu Zucheng, aged 60, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in March 2012. Mr. Xu graduated from the
Geological Department of Northwest University, the PRC, in
1976. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Xu served as Deputy
Chief Geologist in PetroChina Coalbed Methane Company
Limited since 2008. Prior to the aforesaid position, Mr. Xu worked
for the Shaanxi Bureau of Geology and Mineral Resources, the
Daging Oilfield Institute and the Secretariat Office of the Ministry
of Petroleum. He was also the Head of Reserve and Mining Right
Divisions of PetroChina Exploration & Production Company. Mr.
Xu has substantial experience in oil and gas exploration and
mining right management. He was also awarded the second
prize of Science and Technology of the Ministry of Land and
Resources.
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Mr. Wang Ziming, aged 45, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in August 2010. Mr. Wang graduated
from the College of Economy and Trade Management,
Shanghai International Studies University in 1988, and received
a Bachelor Degree in Economics. Mr. Wang has worked in
Sinochem Corporation, PRC and has extensive experience in the
exploration and management in the resources sector. He is also
well experienced in mining business investment and possesses
abundant governmental public relations resources.

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 47, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also
the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wan holds a
bachelor degree of commerce and a master degree of business
administration. He has years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He is an
independent non-executive director of China Primary Resources
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Kong Siu Tim, aged 46, resigned as Chairman and Executive
Director and assumed the position as Non-Executive Director
of the Company in September 2011. Mr. Kong was appointed
as Non-Executive Director of the Company in August 2005 and
redesignated as Executive Director of the Company in November
2005, and then appointed as Chairman of the Company in March
2009. Mr. Kong holds a master degree of Economics at University
of Warwick, UK and has years of experience in banking and
securities industries. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, aged 52, was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in April
2006. Mr. Wong is currently a practising barrister-at-law of the
High Court of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Wong holds a master
degree of commerce in marketing from University of Strathclyde,
UK and a post-graduate certificate in laws from University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has more than 18 years of extensive
experience in legal practice.
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Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick, BBS, JP, aged 63, was appointed
as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in
August 2010. Dr. Wong is a practicing certified public accountant
in Hong Kong and managing practicing director of Patrick Wong
CPA Limited, Wong Lam Leung & Kwok CPA Limited and Hong
Kong Pengcheng CPA Limited. He has over 30 years’ experience
in the accountancy profession. Dr. Wong was accorded Doctor of
Philosophy in Business, was awarded a Badge of Honour by the
Queen of England in 1993, was appointed a Justice of the Peace
in 1998 and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the
Hong Kong Government of SAR in 2010. He has been appointed
Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance, The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University since 2002. Dr. Wong participates
in many types of community services, holding posts in various
organizations and committees, both governmental and voluntary
agencies. Dr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive
director of Water Oasis Group Limited, CC Land Holdings
Limited, Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited, Real Nutriceutical
Group Limited, Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., China
Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co. Ltd. and Winox Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong is also an independent non-
executive director of National Arts Holdings Ltd. (listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange).

Dr. Wang Yanbin, aged 54, was appointed as Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2011.
Dr. Wang is a professor and tutor for doctoral candidates of
China University of Mining & Technology (Beijing), and head
of the Scientific Research Office of China University of Mining
& Technology (Beijing). Dr. Wang holds a bachelor degree in
coalfield geology from the faculty of geology of Huainan Mining
Institute in China. He also holds a master degree in coal petrology
and coalfield geology and a doctor degree in coalfield, oil and
gas geology and organic geochemistry from China University of
Mining & Technology (Beijing). Prior to 1993, Dr. Wang mainly
engaged in teaching and scientific research on coalfield geology
and coalbed methane geology. Since 1993, he has focused on
geological research on coalfield geology, oil, natural gas and
coalbed methane. He has led the development of a project
for the National Natural Science Foundation of China, and few
scientific projects for China National Petroleum Corporation and
China Petrochemical Corporation. Dr. Wang has also participated
in more than 30 scientific projects in cooperation with various oil
fields and Mining Bureaus nationwide. He was granted the State
Scientific and Technological Progress Award for several times and
has published 3 books and more than 70 academic papers.
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Senior Management

Dr. Di Lingjun assumed the positions as vice president of
the Company and the Chairman of the board of directors of
Orion Energy International Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company) responsible for the coalbed methane exploration
business of the Group in September 2011. Prior to this, Dr. Di
was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for
the period from August 2010 to August 2011. Dr. Di graduated
from Northwest University, PRC, major in the field of petroleum
and natural gas geology in 1980. Dr. Di was awarded a doctorate
degree in sedimentology and basin analysis by the Northwest
University, PRC. In his career, Dr. Di has worked as a project
manager of the regional petroleum and natural gas exploration
project of Changqging Qil Field, Geology Controller and Deputy
General Manager of the North Shaanxi Petroleum and Natural Gas
Exploration Project conducted by the New District Exploration
Division of the China National Petroleum Corporation and the
Deputy Chief Geologist of Exploration and Development Institute,
Changgqing Oil Field, CNPC.

Dr. Rao Mengyu has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group since November
2010) since December 2007 and now serves as the deputy
general manager. Dr. Rao graduated from the Department of
Geology of Anhui University of Science & Technology. In 2005,
Dr. Rao was awarded a PhD in Geology by the China University
of Petroleum (East China). He was engaged in research work
for the oil and gas geology fundamental theories and coalbed
methane (“CBM”) development technology in the post-doctoral
station of the College of Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering,
China University of Petroleum (Beijing). He has over 20 years of
experience in the industry and has years of experience in onsite
work and indoor scientific research in respect of CBM projects.
Currently, Dr. Rao is mainly responsible for the scientific research,
exploration deployment, engineering design, onsite engineering
design, CBM exploration of Sanjiao Block CBM project of the
Group. Dr. Rao has published 24 research papers in the journals
such as Acta Petrolei Sinica, and also is one of the principal
participants in the scientific research achievement of “Research,
development and application of CBM multi-lateral horizontal well”.
Such achievement was awarded the second prize of science and
technology advancement in 2009 by the China National Coal
Association.

EEEBEAE

BEEELT  W2011F0AEZT AR R A E
BE RARAZENBARILRERE R
FEBRERAREERNERGE BEELEET
BrREEIRAFEES -2 BiEL S
E2010F8 A 22011 F8 A iR HAE AR R 2
B IEMITE S o Bi1E L1980 F ¥ RNk
Bt KRB (EEAHERARME) - IR
EEFRALNEB RN EFHRNE
EHEAMMHN BELETREEHBAMBK
RRBEHFEEELE PRI ATER
A EHFEEEREIL A RRATHIFEEE
MM ERENBAKE UEkPABEEEHR
FR &) 45 5 25 A T B 2 48 5t " B -

u.ue—.L\b

BEZRELT 592007F12A RN B LR

BIRAERA A ( 1502010¢11H;ﬂz7%2rkﬁlz
2EMBRAR) TIF BABEE- - #iF
TEERTHIET KEHE X - H2005F &
BHPAERAZ (ER)HE2PBFH LS4
TEBEFRAGHAE QLR ARERART
RERBIRUEREHREREREIEER
ﬁ%l%%ﬁﬁlﬁ MR 1T A B20F T

R BESFRERBERERZRNRST
ERBMEARPLERE HRSEHELFEE

EAEER=ZREREBERIEBE AR - #
FHE ITEZFT REIBET -HKESX
AREEH - EE LT O ECERER)EHT
FRERBHmXo4E  TREEBRSZ DK
FHPREER BERKRNEELEAZ—
2RI L E2000F EHF B Kk TEHE R
R —F 8o



Directors and Senior Management Profiles
EEREEEEASHA e

Dr. Yang Luwu joined the Company in November 2010. Dr.
Yang is currently the Group’s Technical Consultant on coalbed
methane projects. Dr. Yang is principally responsible for advising
and assisting the management of the Company in formulating
development programme of CBM project. Dr. Yang holds a PhD
degree in geology of China University of Mining and Technology.
He is a certified appraiser of mineral reserve in China and
a member of Coalbed Methane Specialized Committee. He
has nearly 16 years experience in project management and
technical research for coalbed methane and petroleum and coal
development. He was the director of technology department
and research center of China United Coalbed Methane Co., Ltd.
and led the formulation of Specifications for Coalbed Methane
Resources/Reserves of China.

Mr. He Hongbing joined the Company in 2008 and was
appointed as Vice President of the Company in November
2010. He is principally responsible for the corporate finance and
investor relation of the Company. Mr. He holds a bachelor degree
of Geology at Peking University and a master degree of Civil Law
at Yantai University. He is a CFA Charterholder and a member
of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts. He holds a
Chinese lawyer qualification, and has nearly 10 years working
experience in corporate finance and investor relations. He was
the financial manager of Shenzhen B&K Electronic Co., Ltd, the
deputy general manager of the Investor Relation Division of China
Gas Holdings Limited in Hong Kong and an investment analyst of
Singapore UOB Kay Hian Research Pte Ltd.

Ms. Yim Siu Hung was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company in December 2011. Ms. Yim has joined the
Company since August 2005 and holds a degree in law and a
degree in accountancy. She is an associate member of both The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. She has years of
extensive experience in the company secretarial sector and has
worked for international accounting and law firms and listed
companies in Hong Kong.

*

For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and management of the
Company are committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance for the purpose of providing a framework
and solid foundation for its business operation and development.
The Company considers that effective corporate governance with
probity, transparency and accountability makes an important
contribution to corporate success and to enhancement of
shareholders value.

The Company has complied throughout the year 2011 with all the
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) applicable during the year as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

THE BOARD

The Board is structured to ensure it is of a high calibre and has
a balance of key skills and knowledge. The Board comprises five
executive Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman), Mr. King
Hap Lee, Mr. Xu Zucheng, Mr. Wang Ziming and Mr. Wan Tze
Fan Terence; one Non-executive Director, Mr. Kong Siu Tim; and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) required
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, namely Mr. Wong
Kwok Chuen Peter, Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang
Yanbin. The INEDs represents one-third of the Board which is in
compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Dr. Wong Lung
Tak Patrick has appropriate qualifications and accounting related
financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. There is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between the Directors. All the three INEDs
are independent under these independence criteria, and with
their wide range of skills and experience to the Group, they are
capable to effectively exercise independent judgment on issues of
strategy, performance, risk and people through their contribution
at Board and committee meetings.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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The Board has extensive corporate and strategic planning and
industry experience for discharging their duties as Directors in
the best interest of the Company and that the current board
size is adequate for its present operations. Each of the Directors
keeps abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section
of “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual
report and that the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the
Company’s publication such as circular, announcement or
relevant corporate communications in which the names of
Directors of the Company are disclosed.

The Board conducts meeting on a regular basis and on ad hoc
basis to meet its business needs. The attendance of individual
Directors at board meetings and at other board committees
during the year is set out as below.
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2012.

Meetings Attended/Held during term of office in 2011
—
Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee
-4 BZESE FNEEE
Number of meetings held during the year FEERBTERAEE 11 2 3
Executive Directors BITEES
Dai Xiaobing (Chairman) )E(EE) 11/11 - 1/1
King Hap Lee (appointed on 1 September 2011) S H| (201149510 EZ(T) 5/5 - -
Wang Ziming TeH 11/11 - -
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE 11/11 - -
Non-executive Director kHITES
Kong Siu Tim SLOH (R20114597 1 HEHF) 11/11 - 2/2
(redesignated on 1 September 2011)
Ni Zhenwei (deceased on 25 July 2011) RIRE (Reo1147 A25H # 1) 8/4 - -
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRTES
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter =EE 11/11 2/2 3/3
Wong Lung Tak Patrick iR 11/11 2/2 3/3
Wang Yanbin (appointed on 1 September 2011) T 1M (K201 14951 HEZ(F) 5/5 - -
Di Lingjun (resigned on 1 September 2011) BREE (R201149/1HE L) 5/5 2/2 -
Notes: =
1. Dr. Dai Xiaobing was appointed Chairman of the Board on 1 1. BNEBLR2011F0A1REZTAESS
September 2011 and a member of the Remuneration Committee on EEER2011F0A2BHEZ T AT INEZES
2 September 2011. KE -
Mr. Kong Siu Tim was redesignated from Executive Director and 2. I AER00MFIOAIHANTESTNE
Chairman of the Board to Non-executive Director on 1 September EeTFERATIFENITES LN2011F9H2H
2011 and ceased to act as member of the Remuneration BESMEZES/KE -
Committee on 2 September 2011.
Dr. Wang Yanbin was appointed Independent Non-executive 3. FEREIE - R2011FOR1HEZFEABEIE
Director and member of the Audit Committee on 1 September HITEENEREZESKE -
2011.
Dr. Di Lingjun resigned as Independent Non-executive Director and 4, RSB EE 2011 E9 1 H B LB L IEH 1T
ceased to act as member of the Audit Committee on 1 September EENBIEERZTEESKE -
2011.
Mr. Xu Zucheng was appointed Executive Director on 14 March 5. AR S £ F2012FE3A14B E R T BT

Bx-
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and performed by two separate individuals, Dr. Dai Xiaobing
and Mr. King Hap Lee respectively, to ensure a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman of the Company provides
leadership to the Board and ensures that the Board discharges
its responsibilities effectively. Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s primary roles
and duties include to formulate corporate strategies and plans in
conjunction with the Board and to ensure that Directors receive
complete, accurate and timely information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the effective management and operation
of the Company and his primary roles and duties include to
monitor and control the operational and financial performance
within the Group and to implement the Company’s strategy and
policies for achieving its objectives.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL

The Company’s Bye-laws provide that each Director is required
to retire by rotation at least once every three years and that one-
third (or the number nearest to but not less than one-third) of
the Directors shall retire by rotation every year at the Company’s
annual general meeting. Retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr. Wong Lung Tak
Patrick has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years whereas each of Mr. Kong Siu Tim and
Dr. Wang Yanbin has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholders’ value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions within its terms of reference. Its duties include to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report as required under
the revised Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules which will come on 1
April 2012.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.

The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the
Board and its committees with adequate information in a timely
manner to enable them to make informed decisions. All Directors
have access to Board papers and related materials that will
assist them for decision making. Any Director, wishing to do so
in the furtherance of his or her duties, may take independent
professional advice through the Company’s expense. No such
independent professional advice was requested by any Director in
2011.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for financial reporting and corporate control. The
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter, Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang Yanbin,
and is chaired by Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick. None of the Audit
Committee members are members of the former or existing
auditors of the Company. The Committee met twice during the
year. During the year, the Audit Committee has discharged its
duties which include to review the completeness, accuracy
and fairness of the Company’s financial statements, evaluating
the Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well as its
internal control systems, to review the interim and final financial
statements before their submission to the Board and the annual
general meeting for approval, and to make recommendation
on the appointment of external auditor and approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including
independent access to and advice from external auditors. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are made available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business
requirements and industry practice. The Board has established
a Remuneration Committee which comprises three members
including one Executive Director and two INEDs, namely Dr.
Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr. Wong
Lung Tak Patrick. The committee is chaired by an INED, Dr.
Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The Remuneration Committee meets
at least once a year. With reference to business needs and
company development, individual performance and contribution,
changes in relevant markets and general economic situation, the
Remuneration Committee reviews and recommends to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of the
Directors and senior management. During the review process, no
individual director is involved in decisions relating to his or her
own remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are made available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the year and prior to the establishment of the Nomination
Committee, the Board was responsible for selection and approval
of candidates for appointment as directors to the Board. The
Board considered that the human resource policy in recruitment
of new senior staff was also applicable to nomination of a new
director. In considering the nomination of a new director, the
Board would take into account the qualification, in particular any
qualification as required in the Listing Rules, expertise, industry
experience, leadership and integrity of the candidates that, in the
opinion of the Directors, would enable them to make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board.

The Company’s Nomination Committee was established in March
2012 pursuant to the revised code provisions which will come into
effect on 1 April 2012. The Nomination Committee currently has
three members including one Executive Director and two INEDs,
namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr.
Wong Lung Tak Patrick. Dr. Dai Xiaobing acts as Chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee bases on the
aforesaid criteria when making recommendations to the Board
on the nomination and appointment of directors, assesses the
independence of INED, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board at least annually and makes recommendations
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on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. The Nomination Committee is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties. The terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee are made available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and the annual reports.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
controls to ensure that shareholders’ investments and the
Group’s assets are safeguarded.

In order to implement an effective and efficient internal control
system, the Group performs comprehensive review for the internal
control system systematically on a regular basis which covers
financial, operational, and compliance controls as well as risk
management function.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews annually
the continued effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls
dealing with risk and financial accounting and reporting, the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws
and regulations, risk management functions. During the year, no
significant control failures or weaknesses have been noted. The
Board considered that these systems of internal controls were
effective and sufficient to guarantee the Group in achieving its
business objectives.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

BDO Limited was appointed as external auditor of the Company
by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external auditors
of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately HK$1,500,000
for statutory audit services rendered (excluding disbursement
fees) to the Group.

The reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited, the auditors, are
stated in the Auditors’ Report on page 40 of the Annual Report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. Information in relation to
the Group is disseminated to shareholders and investors in a
timely manner through a number of channels include interim and
annual reports, announcements, circulars and press releases.
Electronic copies of these documents and general information of
the Group’s operation can be obtained through the Company’s
website. During 2011, the Group also held numerous meetings
with analysts and investors in Hong Kong and overseas,
conducted investor group briefings, overseas roadshows and
spoke at few investor conferences. Annual general meetings
and special general meetings also provide a useful forum for
shareholders to share views with the Board. Members of the
Board (including member(s) of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees) attend shareholders’ meetings and make themselves
available to answer shareholders’ questions. The Company
will continue to promote and enhance investor relations and
communication with its investors.
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The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, which
are set out on pages 43 to 164.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in operation of (i) exploitation and
sale of crude oil and natural gas and (i) exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane in China.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 21
to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES UNDER

GENERAL MANDATE

On 5 July 2011, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement with the subscribers, under which the Company
agreed to issue, and the subscribers agreed to subscribe for,
the convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$468 million at 5% coupon rate. The convertible notes are
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and will mature on 13 July
2012. The subscription was completed on 13 July 2011. The net
proceeds from the issue of convertible notes are approximately
HK$454 million. Out of which, it will be mainly used to finance the
coalbed methane project in the Sanjiao Block, Shanxi Province in
the PRC. The remaining balance of the funds will be applied as
general working capital for the Group, financing other existing oil
and gas projects of the Group and for possible future investments
in certain infrastructure facilities in relation to oil and gas projects.
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Further details of the aforesaid issue of convertible notes are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 5 July 2011
and 14 July 2011 and note 30 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 4 and 5.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers
took up 100% of the turnover for the year from continuing and
discontinued operations and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 100% of the Group’s turnover for the year from
continuing and discontinued operations. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
13% and the largest supplier accounted for approximately 7% of
the Group’s total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. King Hap Lee (appointed on 1 September 2011)
Mr. Xu Zucheng (appointed on 14 March 2012)

Mr. Wang Ziming

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kong Siu Tim (redesignated on 1 September 2011)
Mr. Ni Zhenwei (deceased on 25 July 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter

Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick

Dr. Wang Yanbin (appointed on 1 September 2011)
Dr. Di Lingjun (resigned on 1 September 2011)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 87(1), Dr. Dai Xiaobing,
Mr. Wang Ziming and Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick will retire by
rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 86(2), Mr. Xu Zucheng will
hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting and will
retire and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election. All other
remaining directors continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EERIE4BARMEN S IELS
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the MR2011F128318  ARRIES ([EF]) &
directors (the “Directors”) and chief executive of the Company in THAHENARARIKEE M EE (AEFE
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company HREE GG ([BH RGO ) EXVEBFT
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the MPzEE)Z2BRD  BEBRORESFTHE
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as IR R BIRIEFE S KB ERPIEIHEFE
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to ZEEMAHIBE LT RAREZTETES
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company RGZZESFR ([ZESTA]) mAME AR
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for A REE T R KRBT

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the

“Model Code”) were as follows:

Interests in shares/ Number of shares/
Name of Director Long/short position underlying shares Nature of interest underlying shares held
RERHE Fisxag ke,
EEE e/ %e R R G D BanE HERGEE
Dai Xiaobing Long position shares Beneficial owner 548,400,000
g HE &t ExBEBA
Short position shares Beneficial owner 480,000,000
wE Rkt EnBERA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
e ERE EREAA
King Hap Lee Long position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 300,000,000
KA 3 & REHRANER (K1)
Short position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) 200,000,000
*E f&fp REHRAOES (Hit1)
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
59} ERE EREAA
Wang Ziming Long position shares Beneficial owner 100,000,000
TEH 5 fx EnBEEA
Short position shares Beneficial owner 100,000,000
WE 3 EnERA
Long position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 5,000,000
HE fxfp REBHRANER (HH2)
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
HE i EnBAA
Wan Tze Fan Terence Long position shares Beneficial owner 30,660,000
BTE HE & ip ExERA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 49,000,000
HE EE EnEAA
Kong Siu Tim Long position shares Beneficial owner 40,500,000
IHH HE &t ERBEEA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 25,000,000
HE Bk ExERA
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter Long position shares Beneficial owner 2,000,000
BEZ e 30) EnEBA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 9,000,000
HE BikiE ExERA
Wong Lung Tak Patrick Long position share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000
BRE HE BiiE EHERA
Wang Yanbin Long position share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000
TR HE BRE EnfEBA



Report of the Directors

EEEREE =

Notes:

1. As at 31 December 2011, Wai Tech Limited owned 300,000,000
shares and had short position of 200,000,000 shares of the
Company. Wai Tech Limited was wholly owned by Petromic
Corporation which in turn was wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.

King Hap Lee.

2. As at 31 December 2011, 5,000,000 shares of the Company were
owned by Harmonie Developments Limited which was wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Wang Ziming.

3. Particulars of directors’ interests in the share options of the

Company are set out in the section “Share Option Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
Directors nor any of their associates had any interests or short
positions in the securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 28 May
2010, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “New Option Scheme”) and the
termination of the old share option scheme adopted on 6 March
2002 (the “Old Option Scheme”, together with the New Option
Scheme, collectively the “Schemes”). No further options may
be granted under the Old Option Scheme upon its termination
and options granted and unexercised prior to such termination
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
provisions of the Old Option Scheme.

The Schemes are in full compliance with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Schemes
is to enable the Company to recognise the contributions of the
participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering to the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the share
capital of the Company.
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The eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time
employee (including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries,
any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers. The Old Option
Scheme and the New Option Scheme became effective on 6
March 2002 and 28 May 2010 respectively and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of coming into effect.

Pursuant to the Schemes, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Schemes
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit
may be refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However,
the total maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Schemes and any other share option
schemes must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time
to time.

Under the Schemes, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.
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The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Schemes will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, Under the Old Option Scheme, no option may be
exercised later than 10 years from 6 March 2002. Under the
New Option Scheme, an option may not be exercised after the
expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the option.

Pursuant to the Schemes, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Schemes are set out in
note 33 to the financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2011, the directors and employees of the MR2011F12A31H  AEEEEREERNIR
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe Bl as FTOREBERETRBEAQ AR
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration mrERERBEAEIATZEAAEZS  BHE
under the Schemes. Each option gives the holder the right to PRl Fi5E ARBIREOD ZER - NEEH
subscribe for one share. Details of share options held by the EEZNEEBNEHZE2011F12A31HIEFEF
Directors and employees of the Group and movements in such SERENZEEREZEDFBIN T X
holdings during the year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:

Number of options
RBRENE

Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding at Exercise price
at 1 January during during 31 December Date of grant Exercise period per share
2011 the year the year 2011 (D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
R2011% R2011% Bk
1818 ] 128318 BHEY ARAR 2ARR
i K AT 1 REARHE REMTTE e} AT 1 (B.A.%) (B.R.%) BT

Directors:

s

Dai Xiaobing - 36,000,000 - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

EIfP=

King Hap Lee - 36,000,000 - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

EUE

Wang Ziming - 36,000,000 - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

TEH

Wan Tze Fan Terence 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375

BTE 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.08.2012 0.180

- 36,000,000 - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

Kong Siu Tim 17,000,000 - - 17,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.08.2012 0.375

IOH 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.03.2012 0.390

- 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

Wong Kwok Chuen 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.08.2012 0.375
BEZ 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.03.2012 0.180
2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.03.2012 0.390

- 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

Wong Lung Tak Patrick - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

BRe

Wang Yanbin - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

TR

Employees 97,250,000 - 41,000,000 56,250,000 26.01.2007 26.02.2007-25.02.2012 0.189

&8 352,190,000 - 14,000,000 338,190,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375

8,000,000 - 2,000,000 6,000,000 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.08.2012 0.180
211,400,000 - 600,000 210,800,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.08.2012 0.390
- 547,700,000 - 547,700,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276

Notes: Biat -

1. During the year, the weighted average closing price of the 1. FRNARARARODRBEETEBBAITE
Company’s shares immediately before the dates on which the BERS A 2 hniE U B BB RR0.45678 T ©
options were exercised was HK$0.456 per share.

2. The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 6 2. AR BIRE () B 2011612 A6 8 (BN BE A% 42
December 2011, being the date on which options were granted, BHER) A2 BT EBRER0.275E T

was HK$0.275.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Schemes”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2011, the following persons, not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Name of shareholder

%R & ity

Nature of interest

EEBERN S ES 2B

BRI IEFRBD KRR N T 2 Eam | M8
Pt &l | e TR EEE SN - RARHEAT
fa] AR Bt X B AL B X F AR R AT SR &2
BE BUEARREELWEF EER B L1185
AT FREBARRRREMEMABHE
2B RES T -

FTERRZHES

BR2011F12831H M FA L (WIEARAE
FRTHAER) RIREZAS KB EEH 5336
BEFEEZELMATERA QR Z Kk AERE
RO EBERIAR

AXAERBPERZFR

Number of shares held

Fif ik 8 8

Mandolin Fund Pte Limited (Note 1) (#/2#1)

CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. (Note 2)

EiRemBEERRAT (Hitz) RE =R
Notes:
1. Mandolin Fund Pte Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Richard

Chandler Capital Corporation Pte Limited which is in turn a
wholly owned subsidiary of Richard Chandler Capital Corporation.
Richard Chandler Capital Corporation is wholly owned by Cosimo
Management Limited as trustee of a trust of which Mr. Richard
Chandler is the settlor. Pursuant to the SFO, Richard Chandler
Capital Corporation Pte Limited, Richard Chandler Capital
Corporation, Cosimo Management Limited and Mr. Richard
Chandler as settlor are taken to be interested in the shares held by
Mandolin Fund Pte Limited.

2. Regarding the security interest in 2,296,000,000 shares being held
by CDB Leasing Co., Ltd., China Development Bank Corporation
Limited which holds 88.95% interest in CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. is
deemed to have security interest in such shares.

Beneficial owner

BEHBEEA

Security interest

1,596,625,000

2,296,000,000

Hyit

1. Mandolin Fund Pte Limited&Richard
Chandler Capital Corporation Pte Limited#)
2 &M B QR M%#E ARichard Chandler
Capital Corporationt) % & K & A &) ° Richard
Chandler Capital Corporation]y B — 1= 5
(Richard Chandlerfe = B HBER T A) 6
{= 5 ACosimo Management Limited% & #
A o IRIEBEFEHKEIEKH - Richard Chandler
Capital Corporation Pte Limited * Richard
Chandler Capital Corporation * Cosimo
Management Limited & Richard Chandlert 4
(ERMEET A) 1R & »¥Mandolin Fund
Pte Limited T A B D R HE A %= o

2. FHBERcMEEARAA(THEEES]
7 §92,296,000,0000% A% 15 &) & & # %5, B
RERFEEBRITEROERARFARRHRE
88.95% Mz - FUL B RN ZERD P S
RigtE o
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Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2011, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 10 and note 11 to the
financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance subsisted at any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interest, whether
directly or indirectly.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year have been audited by BDO
Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIAZBRES f

Tel : +852 2541 5041

Fax: +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk
|

EEE - +852 2541 5041
{85E : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 43 to 164,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
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KELAD2518

BPEHRIERBRATRE
(REREZEAMA 2 FRLA])

NAZEED (A TEBIAT) EEZFEBER
ERERAR([ERAA]) REKRBRAR (5
[E5E]) N FE43E1648 2 R 6 T 53R
= WA BREK e EN2011412HA31H
ZHRAERRAMBERAREREZALTFE
ZEHAETEHRER HKEEREHERES
HeREgR URIBZEFBRBMER A
SRR

EENGSMBRRAREZR
fE
BEAREFAAERBEBEHMAE RIS
ZEBBHRERREBA DG 2 RE
RERBEAMBERE  USRAHBERE
EHREATZ R REEEFRAHL
BRAMBRERFAVEZABEE UERA
MBBRETFEARRFRERMEH S
e

23 A g

A2 ETARBATZERYRERAH
BRRRHER - BREERE-AN—FA
FAE00M (BIERT)  AMEER 2 ER
BEMTEL AR FTTERARE 2
ME - HEAEEATBERRAERE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

BIEBEREE e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

ZEET 2 B (48)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 3(b)
to the consolidated financial statements which states that:
(i) the Group incurred a net loss of HK$96,239,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2011 and its current liabilities
exceeded current assets by HK$201,437,000 as at that date;
and (i) the Group can only utilise the remaining loan facility
of RMB800,000,000 on meeting certain prerequisites. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Shiu Hong NG

Practising Certificate Number P03752

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehens
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #{£2011F12A31H L F & "-.

(\{e Incorq_ve
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T
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Y

2011 2010

Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
fitsE FET TEL
Turnover EXE 5815 35,079 29,224
Direct costs BEAA (31,380) (26,021)
Gross profit E£F 3,699 3,203
Other revenue Heb A 6 8,803 5,558
Other gains and (losses), net Hils & (B18) 58 7 2,475 73,066
Administrative expenses TRER (107,086) (69,522)
(Loss)/profit from operations mE(BR) /& (92,109) 12,305
Finance costs BMERKA 8(a) (6) (1,459)
Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity EEERZEEERAEBE 20 (496) (2,658)
(Loss)/profit before income tax expenses ﬁ%ﬁﬁ B A (BR) /EH 8 (92,611) 8,194
Income tax expenses BRI 9 (3,628) (3,510)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (BR) /&5 (96,239) 4,684
Other comprehensive income, after tax Hit2Ekas - BRFiE
Exchange differences on translating BERINEB
foreign operation ERER 13,023 7,407
Less: Reclassification of exchange reserve B MESIHBRRICER
to profit or loss upon disposal of FEEBABRRZEMN
foreign subsidiaries 24 35 - (335)
Other comprehensive income for the year AFEHM2EKE 13,023 7,072
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2HEKNERE (83,216) 11,756
(Loss)/profit attributable to: ATALEE(BR),/EH -
Owners of the Company AREEARA 12 (96,239) 6,108
Non-controlling interests el i = (1,424)
(96,239) 4,684
Total comprehensive income attributable to: DTATEEEZERS :
Owners of the Company ADEEAA (83,216) 13,180
Non-controlling interests JErE At A 5 - (1,424)
(83,216) 11,756
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (58) /&F
- Basic - 7. 14 (0.979) HK cents#fll  0.101 HK centsi# 1l
- Diluted 3 14 (0.979) HK centsi#fll 0.098 HK centsi& ll

B—hEHEERARAD ¢ 2011 £ 5
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Consolidated Statement of Financi

e MBRIAR

At 31 December 2011 2011F12 831 H

2011

2010

Notes HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

B aE THT THT FER TEx
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment nx BERRE 16 267,471 89,199
Gas exploration and evaluation assets AR THR R HEE 17 3,007,374 2,598,644
Intangible assets B EE 18 249,997 49,219
Goodwill HE 19 4,230 4,230
Interest in a jointly controlled entity R—FEREEEENA 20 6,452 6,948
Deposits and prepayments k& RENTA 23 32,368 2,355
Total non-current assets FREEELTE 3,567,892 2,750,595
Current assets RBHEE
Inventories RE 22 635 =
Trade and other receivables, FEUER SR ~ E MR

deposits and prepayments ReRERHE 23 24,235 72,738
Notes receivable K ER 24 - 135,000
Other assets HingE 25 - 222,458
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREeEEY 26 344,451 242 529
Total current assets r@AE®® 39321 672,725
Total assets waE 3,937,213 3,423,320
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables and accruals EENRERERER 27 (546,149) (878,952)
Borrowings - secured EE-EHE 29 (22,287) =
Taxation it (2,322) (895)
Total current liabilities r@ake® (70,78) (879,847)
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (201,437) (207,122)
Total assets less current liabilities @EER AR 3,366,455 2,543,473
Non-current liabilities ErRBAR
Provisions B 28 (1,132 -
Borrowings - secured EE-HHER 29 (285,693) -
Deferred tax liabilities ERETEEE 31 (18,674) (15,098)
Total non-current liabilities FrRBaEes (305,499) (15,098)
NET ASSETS BEFHE 3,060,956 2,528,375
Capital and reserves attributable to AATHHAEEERREE
owners of the Company
Share capital B 34(a) 120,190 91,414
Reserves f#f 2,940,766 2,436,961
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 3,060,956 2,528,375
On behalf of the Board
REREEE
Dai Xiaobing Wan Tze Fan Terence
B/NE Y Eh
Director Director
= EE



Statement of Financial Position

At 5 AR L R

At 31 December 2011 R2011F12 831 H

2011 ' 2010

Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
i & THET THET FHET THL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERARE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries INGEVNGIPA: §:3 21 2,850,382 2,871,252
Notes receivable U EE 24 - 9,000
Total non-current assets ERBEELS 2,850,382 2,880,252
Current assets RBHEE
Other receivables, deposits Hitt IR - e
and prepayments RERAHIE 23 240 1,738
Other assets Hit & 25 - 60,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEY 26 147,428 28,087
Total current assets MYEELD 147,668 89,825
Total assets BEE 2,998,050 2,970,077
Current liabilities RBER
Other payables and accruals HipEAFERERER 27 (1,932) (502,832)
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/ (AR FHE 145,736 (413,007)
NET ASSETS BEFHE 2,996,118 2,467,245
Capital and reserves attributable to FAF#EAEIEEX
owners of the Company 31
Share capital B 34(a) 120,190 91,414
Reserves it 34(b) 2,875,928 2,375,831
TOTAL EQUITY BRES 2,996,118 2,467,245
b
J:H_
On behalf of the Board "2
REREFE B
i
B
Dai Xiaobing Wan Tze Fan Terence i;
B/NE Y Eh g
Director Director E
EZE EF I
45
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Consolidated Statement of Cash FIows(_j_,
GARSRER b VS

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #Z2011F12A31H L FE +

2011 2010

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FH T
Operating activities TEER
(Loss)/profit before income tax expenses B FriS %tz A (E518) % A (92,611) 8,194
Adjustments for: FHEIEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% BEMEEITE
equipment 8,802 10,351
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EHH 46 323
Imputed interest on convertible note AR R 1R 2 FEET 7 & - 1,452
Imputed interest income on notes JE W] 2 FERT AL E A
receivable = (1,444)
Interest expenses FEX H 6 =
Interest income FEMA (7,897) (103)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE KB A AUk EE - (72,798)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME MERRZESE
plant and equipment - 3
Impairment loss on property, plant and M - WERFZEREESER
equipment 1,414 =
Equity-settled share-based payment IR A& B LA ) 2 2 S
expenses 60,000 19,200
Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity ~— fE{h L E1Z#E A & A Rl E1E 496 2,658
Deposits and other receivables written 2o K& EAth B UK SR IR HEE
off 2,355 465
Loss on redemption of convertible note BRI ®KREEES - 703
Operating loss before changes in BESSEHRKEERR
working capital (27,389) (30,996)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (GEm) w (635) 446
Decrease/(increase) in other assets Hi&EERD (35Gm) 56,656 (116,656)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other FEURBR FR « o fh fE Y SR IE -
receivables, deposits and prepayments Re RBEMNFER LD (38 m) 19,783 (50,324)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Efh fE A RIE R TER
and accruals B CRL). /18 m (36,916) 89,636
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXREEH o ZE (6,241) (1,439)
Cash from/(used in) operations EEERELE (R ZHRE 5,258 (109,333)
Tax paid B IE
Income tax paid — ERFTEHIE —
the Peoples’ Republic of China REE ARFEFBEE ([HRE)
(the “PRC”) - -
Net cash generated from/(used in) EWEERES (FTA)
operating activities ZIR&FHE 5,258 (109,333)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ZREAEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 2 Z2011F12A31HILFE =

2010

2011
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B & THET FH T
Investing activities BEEH
Payment for purchase of property, BAYE  BEX
plant and equipment BEEENEN (36,511) (4,339)
Payment for purchases of other assets BAEAMEERMNK - (105,802)
Payment for purchases of intangible assets & A £ 2 & & it & - (910)
Payment for purchase of gas exploration B8 A XA R EN R &
and evaluation assets & EMR (104,830) (22,906)
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash HEWE QA
disposed of MBRAEERES 35 - (236)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of W BB BT 1B A B
cash acquired MR EEIR & 36 (39,439) (275,318)
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — R K F
acquired in prior year 2B AT Z R 27() (500,000) —
Cash advance to a third party ME=ZAZNZ
REHARK 6(a) (140,000) =
Cash receipts from a third party BE=FHEZ
& WK 6(a) 140,000 -
Interest received 2 U F B 7,897 103
Interest paid 2R A8 (4,561) (534)
Proceeds from notes receivable FEH&m%F FT 18 508 13,000 =
Net cash used in investing activities WEFEFIA 2R FE (664,444) (409,942)
Financing activities B EE
Proceeds from convertible note issued BTAMBREBRMEHIE 30 468,000 =
Issuance cost on convertible note AR SRR B AT R AR 34(a)(vii) (15,716) =
Repayment for convertible note AR EEER 30 - (25,000)
Proceeds from issuance of warrants BITRREEFAEHRIE  34(a)i) - 7,250
Proceeds from exercising warrants TERREFFSEHRIE  34(a)(ii) 2,200 49,720
Proceeds from shares issued under RERETEIEITRG
share option scheme Fr1S 3K 18 34(a)(iv) 13,953 62,284
Proceeds from borrowings-secured Eﬁﬁ#ﬁfﬁgﬁﬁ% RIE 29 307,980 =
Issuance of shares BITIR M 34(a)(vi) - 713,993
Payment for acquisition of additional Wi — KB A A
equity interest in a subsidiary BHANERE T IR - (289)
Repayment to a controlling owner TR R 2 B R - (52,818)
Net cash generated from financing BEEFHELZRS
activities i -] 776,417 755,140
Net increase in cash and HeRBE£EEY
cash equivalents ¥ niE3a 117,231 235,865
Cash and cash equivalents N1A1EBZHRER
at 1 January REEEYD 242,529 10,535
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgEgzHE
changes (15,309) (3,871)
Cash and cash equivalents ®12A318 : QR &
at 31 December, representing REIRITTHBZERE
cash and bank balances RIREEEY 26 344,451 242,529

B—rEMRBERERAT ¢ 2011 £ H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 R % I B .

1. GENERAL

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in Bermuda on 2
November 1999 under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and its shares were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 9 February
2000. The registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Suite 3707-3708,
West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
21(a).

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2011

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BB B MEERZERT

Amendments to HKAS 32

R G EREI25E 2 EF]

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 14

EE(BRVBEHRERERZES) -
ZEREE145R 2185]

HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 19

EE(BRVBHREREZES) REF19%R

HKAS 24 (Revised)

R G ERIE245 (KEFT)

Except as explained below, the adoption of these new/
revised standards and interpretations has no material impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

2.

REARIZERERAGIRER R E
— NN\ —F RAE (KIEFT) M1999F
MMA2BEBREFMRLARBREE
R A&l HERKR D MN200062 898 R &
BHERXGAERABER LT - AR
AlzaMPEERFEEEME D RIU
HClarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, BermudaXz &8 T &8
#168-2005% 15 72 #* 0 78 BE3707-3708

= o

ARAB—RREZRAT  EHBA
Az EBEBRRIE21E) -
RANE B H & 2R

(a) RENHT EETEEUER
HXA|-2011FE1A1BER

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010

2010F BB M K|S E A 2 Dok

Classification of Rights Issues

il SR

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
REESRE 2 FAMNKIEA

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
ABRATEEEMEEE
Related Party Disclosures
S AL HRE

BRIATE BN - SRR AT K
ERREMBREENE R EER
BHRRUBEERTE -



Notes to the Financial Statements
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2011 (Continued)
HKFRS 7(Amendments) - Financial Instruments:
Disclosures
As part of the Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010,
HKFRS 7 has been amended to enhance the interaction
between quantitative and qualitative disclosures. If the
carrying amount of a financial asset best represents the
maximum exposure to credit risk, the standard does not
require a positive statement to this effect in the financial
statements. This amended disclosure requirement has
been applied retrospectively. The carrying amount of the
Group’s trade receivables represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial assets
as at 31 December 2011 and 2010. The prior year financial
statements included a positive statement to this effect
which is removed in the 2011 financial statements following
the amendments. The adoption of the amendments has
no impact on the Group’s reported profit or loss, total
comprehensive income or equity for any period presented.

HKAS 24 (Revised) - Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) amends the definition of related party
and clarifies its meaning. This may result in changes to
those parties who are identified as being related parties
of the reporting entity. The Group has reassessed the
identification of its related parties in accordance with the
revised definition. The adoption of HKAS 24 (Revised) has
no impact on the Group’s reported profit or loss, total
comprehensive income or equity for any period presented.

HKAS 24 (Revised) also introduces simplified disclosure
requirements applicable to related party transactions where
the Group and the counterparty are under the common
control, joint control or significant influence of a government,
government agency or similar body. These new disclosures
are not relevant to the Group because the Group is not a
government related entity.

RMESHMIERE A (E)

(a) IRGPFETEIETEEMBRE

#A|-2011FE1A1B A ()
EEMBREELETHE (BTE) -
MBITH: HE
EBR2010F FTEME BB IEREE
Alz gtz —35  BEMB RS LER
FTHREASET AR T = HE M H B
ZEMER - WM EE 2 REE &S
REFMEEz2EZ=EERR - BIZER]
NERRE RN Z e 2 EERR
oo ZIBLEETRBATEBBPER -
AEERKEFRZERERRAEER
20114 N2010F12 AS1B Mz S M 5
BEFEGBZEREERR -BAEFE
MHERREEEZYEZEERM - &
ER2011F B AR MR B EZE
BE] - MMM ST EHARNEBNE
ME2MBABMzHEEE 2 EKEE
ARSI REE -

FE S ERIE245% (E185T) -

EALHE

FB G ERIF245% (RERT) BRI HIEE
BATZEBRLEBHME - BRAER
ARESEREHEMNAREEREEAL
LHEFEATHREE - REBEEREL
EIEREHFHEEBEALZEND
RME LG ERIFE245 (KER]) X &
HAEEREM2RBM o mEBE
EHE S E S RRERERTZE -

BB G ERIF245% (KERT) el AE
ARAEEMEFHEHA - BRTHEA
HBLUEE —RES - KFRZEHHEKR
FETETZIHEALR G ZBLRE
RE BRAKEAFRNTHEEERE -
xR AR B T ARRE -

UV _ hEhGZERERLDE e« 2011 £ 3§
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BPNEEUBREER(EF)
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
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the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group.
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Fair Value Measurement*
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (Continued)
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January,
2013 and 2014, as appropriate

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

Amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) - Presentation
of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) require the Group to
separate items presented in other comprehensive income
into those that may be reclassified to profit and loss in the
future (e.g. revaluations of available-for-sale financial assets)
and those that may not (e.g. revaluations of property, plant
and equipment). Tax on items of other comprehensive
income is allocated and disclosed on the same basis. The
amendments will be applied retrospectively.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

Under HKFRS 9, financial assets are classified into
financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised cost
depending on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics
of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be
recognised in profit or loss except for those non-trade equity
investments, which the entity will have a choice to recognise
the gains and losses in other comprehensive income.
HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair
value through profit or loss, where the amount of change
in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of that
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless
that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 10 introduces a single control model for
consolidation of all investee entities. An investor has
control when it has power over the investee (whether or
not that power is used in practice), exposure or rights to
variable returns from the investee and the ability to use the
power over the investee to affect those returns. HKFRS 10
contains extensive guidance on the assessment of control.
For example, the standard introduces the concept of “de
facto” control where an investor can control an investee
while holding less than 50% of the investee’s voting rights
in circumstances where its voting interest is of sufficiently
dominant size relative to the size and dispersion of those
of other individual shareholders to give it power over the
investee. Potential voting rights are considered in the
analysis of control only when these are substantive, i.e.
the holder has the practical ability to exercise them. The
standard explicitly requires an assessment of whether an
investor with decision making rights is acting as principal or
agent and also whether other parties with decision making
rights are acting as agents of the investor. An agent is
engaged to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another
party and therefore does not control the investee when it
exercises its decision making authority. The implementation
of HKFRS 10 may result in changes in those entities
which are regarded as being controlled by the Group and
are therefore consolidated in the financial statements.
The accounting requirements in the existing HKAS 27 on
other consolidation related matters are carried forward
unchanged. HKFRS 10 is applied retrospectively subject to
certain transitional provisions.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements
Joint arrangements under HKFRS 11 have the same basic
characteristics as joint ventures under HKAS 31. Joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. Where the Group has rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement,
it is regarded as a joint operator and will recognise its
interests in the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
arising from the joint arrangement. Where the Group has
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement as a whole,
it is regarded as having an interest in a joint venture and
will apply the equity method of accounting. HKFRS 11 does
not allow proportionate consolidation. In an arrangement
structured through a separate vehicle, all relevant facts and
circumstances should be considered to determine whether
the parties to the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. Previously, the existence of a separate
legal entity was the key factor in determining the existence
of a jointly controlled entity under HKAS 31.

HKFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities

HKFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosures
requirements about interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint arrangements. It also introduces new disclosure
requirements, including those related to unconsolidated
structured entities. The general objective of the standard
is to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the
nature and risks of a reporting entity’s interests in other
entities and the effects of those interests on the reporting
entity’s financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how to
measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other
standards. The standard applies to both financial and non-
financial items measured at fair value and introduces a fair
value measurement hierarchy. The definitions of the three
levels in this measurement hierarchy are generally consistent
with HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.
HKFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The standard removes
the requirement to use bid and ask prices for financial
assets and liabilities quoted in an active market. Rather the
price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative
of fair value in the circumstances should be used. It also
contains extensive disclosure requirements to allow users of
the financial statements to assess the methods and inputs
used in measuring fair values and the effects of fair value
measurements on the financial statements. HKFRS 13 can
be adopted early and is applied prospectively.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 20 — Stripping Costs in

the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

Stripping activities carried out in the production phase
of a surface mine may give rise to two benefits: usable
ore that can be used to produce inventory and improved
access to further quantities of material that will be mined
in future periods. The Interpretation requires that costs
of stripping activity are accounted for in accordance with
the principles in HKAS 2 Inventories to the extent that
the benefit from stripping activity is realised in the form
of inventory produced. The costs of stripping activity that
provide a benefit in the form of improved access to ore are
recognised as a non-current stripping activity asset when
certain criteria are met. This asset will be accounted for
as an addition or enhancement to an existing asset and is
classified as tangible or intangible according to the nature
of the existing asset of which it forms part. The stripping
activity asset is measured initially at cost and subsequently
in the same way as the existing asset of which it forms part.
It is depreciated or amortised on a systematic basis over
the expected useful life of the component of the ore body
that becomes more accessible as a result of the stripping
activity. The interpretation is applied to production stripping
costs incurred after the beginning of the earliest period
presented. Predecessor stripping activity asset balance
is reclassified as a part of an existing asset subject to the
conditions in the Interpretation.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 -
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities
The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application
issues relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifically,
the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has
a legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous
realisation and settlement”. The amendments to HKFRS
7 require entities to disclose information about rights of
offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting
requirements) for financial instruments under an enforceable
master netting agreement or similar arrangement. The
amended offsetting disclosures are required for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures should
also be provided retrospectively for all comparative periods.
However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective
until annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014,
with retrospective application required.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the potential impact of these new/revised HKFRSs and the
directors so far concluded that the application of these new/
revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention as modified by the

inclusion of certain financial instruments at fair value.

The Group incurred a loss of HK$96,239,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2011 and its current liabilities
exceeded current assets by HK$201,437,000 as at that
date. In addition, as described in the paragraph below,
the Group can only utilise the remaining loan facility of
RMB800,000,000 if certain prerequisites are met. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern will depend on it being able to
utilise the remaining loan facility and the continuing efforts
management of the Group to improve profitability and
operational cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)
As set out in note 29, the Group obtained a loan facility of
RMB1,000,000,000 repayable by instalment over five years
from a financial institution in the PRC. As at 31 December
2011, the Group had only utilised RMB200,000,000 of this
facility. The remaining facility of RMB 800,000,000 can
only be drawn after the Group has submitted a plan for the
development of the coalbed methane field or part of the
coalbed methane field (the “Overall Development Program”
or “ODP”) of the production sharing contract set out in
note 37 (“Sanjiao PSC”) and obtained the approval of the
ODP by the National Development and Reform Commission
(the “NDRC”). PetroChina Coalbed Methane Gas Company
Limited (“PetroChina CBM”), the PRC party under the
Sanjiao PSC, has confirmed to the Group in writing that its
parent company has approved the ODP. PetroChina CBM
further confirmed that they are in the process of completing
the formalities for the submission of the ODP to the NDRC.
PetroChina CBM anticipates to submit the ODP to the
NDRC by middle of May 2012. As advised by the Group’s
legal counsel in the PRC, there should be no obstacle in
obtaining preliminary approval of the ODP from the NDRC
once it is submitted by PetroChina CBM and the approval
process will normally be completed in ten working days.
Accordingly, the directors are confident that the ODP will be
preliminary approved before 30 June 2012 and the Group
will be able to make use of the remaining loan facility of
RMB800,000,000.

As a result of the above and after taking into account
the Group’s cash flow projection for the coming vyear,
the directors are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities as they fall
due in the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. If the Group were unable to continue as a going
concern, the Group may not be able to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

EEIE R (M)
(b) SIEEERFEEZERE(E)

ANME20FTE,  AEEHR —KPE &
MEENSF—HEXRE BAAR
#1,000,000,0007T * BN A F A5 H
EE - R2011F12A318 ' A& EEDH)
R#&ZEE %2 AR #200,000,0007T °
% T~ B &% A R#%800,000,0007T &
ARAEEGRRAEREITAHE CER D
KeER ((Z=XREmaKER]) 2EE
RESIHFLHERH ([EEEHEE
% [ODP)) RRFATEIA R EFSHRER
MEZEE ([BEXREDIER 5T
R -=XREMOIKER2ZFAEHF
BREBERAREEAR([FARBEE
RNDERAAEEELHEERR B8R
A EHL/EODP « R A B B Rt — P
R EFEAHBEREFENZRRODPZF
o P ARBAKEREE2012F58 F -
H M 3N R IR RO0DP » AL E 2
BEZMAEN — B AHREERER
ODP  HEBSENEZ N L A RET
eXIEWERLEBASLEEFETS
RTBEREAATK Bl EFHEL
20126 H30H 2 RIF) X S M &
ZHE - BAREEEEMI AR TER
A R #800,000,0007T °

i

ERNEXFERERAREHRERS
MEZAA EFRAAEEKAEER
WL EESRNEBAREHRAEBER
K+ —ERZEMEIE - AR EKREE
MRRFERE 2R AEBRBEEX
RIERXBBIETEREELFERE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k R Mt 5

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(@) Business combination and basis of
consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries or businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration balances arising from business
combinations whose acquisition dates preceded 1 January
2010 (i.e. the date the Group first applied HKFRS 3 (2008))
have been accounted for in accordance with the transition
requirements in the standard. Such balances are not
adjusted upon first application of the standard. Subsequent
revisions to estimates of such consideration are treated as
adjustments to the cost of these business combinations and
are recognised as part of goodwill.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k R Mt 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R ESTE: .

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company is able to
exercise control. Control is achieved where the Company,
directly or indirectly, has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries

When the Group acquires a subsidiary where the underlying
assets are not integrated in forming a business to generate
revenues, the transaction is accounted for as a purchase
of net assets. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition and no goodwill
is recognised.

(d) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration
paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

(e) Joint Venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity
which is subject to joint control and none of the participating
parties has unilateral control over the economic activity.

Jointly controlled entities

Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amounts are adjusted for the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the jointly
controlled entities’ net assets except that losses in excess
of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities are
not recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R ESTE: .

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint Venture (Continued)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly
controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are immediately recognised in profit or loss.

Accounting for production sharing contracts

Production sharing contracts constitute jointly controlled
operations. The Group’s interests in production sharing
contracts are accounted for in the financial statements on
the following bases:

()  the assets that the Group controls and the liabilities
that the Group incurs on an accrual basis; and

(i) the Group’s share of income that it earns from jointly
controlled operations together with the expenses
that it incurs are included in profit or loss when it is
probable that economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to/from the Group according to
the terms of the contracts.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:

- Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

- QOil and gas properties 14 years
— Furniture, fixtures and office

equipment 5 -7 years
- Motor vehicles 5 — 8 years

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as
well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation
is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it
is completed and ready for its intended use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(g) Intangible assets

Oil exploitation rights and operation rights

Oil exploitation rights and operation rights are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses and are amortised on the units of production method
utilising only proven and probable oil reserves in the
depletion base.

Motor vehicle registration license

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful
lives acquired are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

The Group tests impairment for the indefinite useful lives
motor vehicle licenses annually by comparing its carrying
amounts with its recoverable amounts, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that it may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, but when
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets

Gas exploration and evaluation activity involves the search
for mineral resources, the determination of technical
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an
identified resource.

Licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore in
an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised
over the term of the permit.

Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, costs
directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation assets until the drilling of the
well is complete and the results have been evaluated. These
costs include directly attributable employee remuneration,
materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to
contractors.

Geological and geophysical costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

If no potentially commercial coalbed methane are
discovered, the exploration asset is written off as a dry hole.
If extractable coalbed methane are found and, subject to
further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional wells),
are likely to be capable of being commercially developed,
the costs continue to be carried as an intangible assets
while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing
the commerciality of the coalbed methane. Costs directly
associated with appraisal activity undertaken to determine
the size, characteristics and commercial potential of a
reservoir following the initial discovery of coalbed methane,
including the costs of appraisal wells where coalbed
methane were not found, are initially capitalised as an
intangible asset.

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical,
commercial and management review as well as review for
indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract
value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case,
the costs are written off to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets
(Continued)

When proved reserves of coalbed methane are identified,
development is sanctioned by management and approved
by relevant government bodies, the relevant capitalised
expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if
required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the
remaining balance is transferred to oil and gas properties.
No amortisation is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.

() Leases

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases.

(i) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal installments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments

i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame
established generally by regulation or convention in the
marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary
asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

o granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s
financial difficulty; or

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any part of financial
asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

i) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, the debt element of convertible
debts issued by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

iv)  Convertible notes containing liability and equity
components

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity (convertible note equity
reserve).

s, ESEHBE (@)

() MBIERE)

i) HEEE
AEBERELFAGEZENKEEMBAR
SR RBEKRATFEZLHBEED S
BRAFEREERIGMEE ZKNANGTE °

REBERFERZMB AR

HBERAGEZYHABERRENE
AR EA RN RIR  BERAEEAE
TRAMBRERZEGSEY  ERERE
BRA RORIRESHRC A FT 8 - HHBF B X

EABERIERRE - UAREHEBREFR -
W E R SRR AR o

v) BEEEREZEDZATRRER

AEEBRTZAUBRRERBREEERY
BER D  ROTHEAF DR EEEN
BIER - AT RREIE MBI B
BERXBMARNREERBZBATAL
BZABEIERBATA -

MNEERE - AEID 2 A FERFAA
FABMBRERZBITIM SN REE - %
TABRERRRZAERALREABER
DZRFEEZE(AFEATRELR
RS BB St AR 2 AR
RS

N—hEHEERERDT ¢ 2011 ]



N — Ppavwi sbuip|oH ses pue (10 ouls 110z 1oday [enuuy

Notes to the Financial Statements

R ESTE: .

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(1) Financial instruments (Continued)
iv)  Convertible notes containing liability and equity
components (Continued)
In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible note is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible note equity reserve until the embedded option is
exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible
note equity reserve will be transferred to share premium).
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry dates,
the balance stated in convertible note equity reserve will
be released to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the option.

v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

vi)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are equity (warrant reserve). The
warrant reserve will be transferred to the share capital and
share premium accounts upon the exercise of the warrants.
When the warrants are still not yet exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in warrant reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(1) Financial instruments (Continued)
vii)  Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for

derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or

expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date of financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration

paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of

changes in value.

() Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business

less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4.

FEEHBE (@)

() MBIERE)

vii) AR RERR
WERVBEEZRARBREREZELN
EFER MY BEEELEEE M
EREERTA B ST ELFEI95 2 &£
IEFERZAE - BIRNE B Al &R FERZIA
MIEERE -

MBERABERBEBANRNEEZEERE
17 WBUB R B R LR -

WERERERMBRABZHER A&
BEERAZTEESRAT AN
EMABL 2B BRE MERTZK
ATARENKETNEHFEZHHITD
MHBABERRRREZAFENTER
KB - HEBTRATAZAFED
A EE AIRATAGHEARKR
M EREZ A FE - FAEHENB
BEFEF I CEEEEENREZE
BRAFEBRRT R -

(k) RERBFELEEY
RekREeFEVEETFAR S MR
BATF A R E AR B =R B 1 2 58 iR
B HEREMERERSANBELZ
Re MAAAXZEEEZHARBEE
o

n #&

FENFRUATER - LRI A KX
BHRFEMED 2 REBERR - KA
BREMAARBEA NIKARGEE
ERERRHNERBERMEEZH
AR o AN DA D4R F I R AR ET & o
AR FEEAAEREERES Z MG
EEREHEMBZAARARABLZ
2o

SN— FEHRERARA D ¢ 2011 F 1§



S\ — panwi sBuip|oH seD pue |10 ouls « |07 1oday [enuuy

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 R % I B .

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Decommissioning liability

Decommissioning liability is recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also
recognised as part of the cost of the related property, plant
and equipment. The amount recognised is the estimated
cost of decommissioning, discounted to its present value.
Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning or
decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively
by recording an adjustment to the provision, and a
corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment.
The unwinding of the discount on the decommissioning
provision is included as a finance cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from

past events and whose existence will only be confirmed

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the

Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past

events that is not recognised because it is not probable

that outflow of economic resources will be required or the

amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

(n) Income tax
Income tax expense represents current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items directly recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
directly recognised in other comprehensive income.

(o) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p) Employees’ benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of

non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the

associated services are rendered by employees. Where

payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At
the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(p) Employees’ benefits (Continued)
(iii)  Retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions as employer vest fully with the employees

when contributed into the Scheme.

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension
scheme organised by the PRC government for certain of
its employees, the assets of which are held separately
from those of the Group. Contributions made are based
on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they became payable, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s

contributions vest fully once they are made.

(g) Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;

o gas exploration and evaluation assets

° intangible assets; and

o investments in subsidiaries, and jointly controlled

entities

. EEEHBE (@)

() ESEF (&)

(i) BIKIEFI5E
AEBRBEREIERE T ERD - B
HBEEMBRERERIEBEHRFEHER
B R REANE 8 ([%ETE]) - f5KT5
NEBZEXAFEADLIEL  ARIE
Zat Bl Z RN BN AR ERANE -
ZatBlc BEDNFRN —EBYEE L
AR BXKEZEEIRABE &
AEERZEHKEK REAETRE
FHEREEHZ-

AEECAETEEZNATERME
BrzatlER REKRETE  FEEE
BAKEEESHATHE - HEXDUAE
REBZHF AN LIFL  XRIEF S
ZRAREMNESERSRAINER - BE
HFERELEFKN 2R EERS -

() HtvEEZRIE

REfEREHEERE  AEEEHT
SIBEZREE  AHE S B TP
SBRAZEEELRRERE  HTH
HAZBREBED MEFEXD E R

A
o HMABRKXTZWE - BERRE
s XRARBERITEEE

s BEEE:R

s RHMBARKRARZEEAEAFAZ
BE

R hEmEERERAE e 2011 F 8§



& — paywi sbuip|oH seD pue |10 ouls e |10z Moday [enuuy

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 R % I B .

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

(r) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which require
a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets, are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

(s) Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. iE :’rrti% (..ﬁ)
(Continued)
(s) Related parties (Continued) (s) BAEANL ()
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) MHEE THEN - ZEREE R
conditions apply: £ 7K 5 B 5 B B -
()  the entity and the Group are members of the same iy =& %&$‘§ BEER—%SBEzKE
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and (NE&RAF - MBARRRERW
fellow subsidiary is related to the others); BRw EJE RAEE) ;
(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) —EEREAS—EBERZHBELEN
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of BENE (GAEEX—SEBZ2KEZ
a group of which the other entity is a member); Bt aghsx mMus B
BALEE ZKE)
(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; (i) MEERER/ERE=F26&01
¥
(v) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —AERAE-FEZALELER
other entity is an associate of the third entity; S—EBARE-ERBIBMEDE
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (V) ZEBAASEEEAEBES BB
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity JERZEERAME ZHEEE
related to the Group; AErEl
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (Vi) ZEBXZ(IDPTHERZ AT
identified in (a); and s RS &
(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) R@OFMBREERBEEATEZ
over the entity or is a member of key management ALt HERERE(KEEZEAA)
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). =RE IE]\E\ e
Close members of the family of a person are those family H_ATZEHERBRKEEBEAZE
members who may be expected to influence, or be ZATHE @i’%?iﬁgﬁiﬁé;ﬁgﬂﬁﬁa
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity ATHEZEBRBXRNEWBIE
and include: i
J:H_
(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (i) ZANTZ F R RRRIESR K ESYE %
I
(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; (i) BBREATZEBIRERHZT ;:5
and Rk T
S
&
(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or (i) HBATHZBALTZEBHRE E
domestic partner. BHIZBEAN- &
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(t) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and

excluded value added tax or other sales related taxes.

i) Sale of crude oil

Revenue is recognised when crude oil is delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the crude oil delivered

and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

ii) Sale of natural gas

Revenue from sale of natural gas is recognised when the
natural gas is siphoned to the customers’ tankers which
is taken to be the point in time when the customer has
accepted the natural gas delivered and the related risks and

rewards of ownership.

i) Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding using the effective

interest method.

5. TURNOVER
The principal activities of the Group are operation of (i)
exploitation and sale of crude oil and natural gas and
(i) exploration, development and production of coalbed
methane. Since the operation of exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane is in the exploration
stage, no turnover was generated during the year 2010 and

2011.

The amount of each significant category of revenue

recognised in turnover during the year was as follows:

TERHBE (R

t) WA EERZ
WATIAB W EWAEZ R FERE °
BACHRBEHTFPRE EHNEREME
PURBEEL AR - E T BEEERHE
s EH

) HERM
WAERBZXEEFPYER (ARAR
PEWERERBIEHEB AR
B K% [B] SR BF ) HERR

i) HERAR

AARBEERAERARRRAZEFLZ
AR (AEREPREREXERAR
NEGHERR 2R R KB HRE) #R o

i) R B U A
A BUW AT AR E B ¢ REE A ERF X
SEIREF R L I B E R 5T o

—f 3
REBZFEEBAKENRRREE
FBom R RARRGSE  AEREER
ER -BRHE AEREERERZ
7% TR B ER B R - iR U 20104 &
2011 F AN B EHEREEAE ©

FRELEFREAZEEETZRAER
ZERERINE ¢

2011 2010

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET FAT

Sale of crude oil $HE Rl 35,079 23,899
Sale of natural gas HEXAR - 5,325

35,079 29,224
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6. OTHER REVENUE

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTERT FAT
Interest income on bank deposits RIT1F KA B WA 75 103
Interest income on other loan H B HFE WA
(note a) (Mt 5Ea) 7,822 -
Imputed interest income on notes FEW R IR 2 FEEF B A
receivable = 1,444
Income from sale of coalbed methane /& [E & 5 & WA
(note b) (Hft3Eb) 550 -

Rental income He WA - 115

Compensation (note c) & E (M sEe) - 2,962

Others H Aty 356 934

8,803 5,558

Note: P &E -

a)  In August 2011, the Group advanced HK$140,000,000 to a a) MR2011F8A  AEERE=ZFARE
third party at an interest rate of 15% per annum. The principal 140,000,000 JT * 5% 5K B & F #| =
together with the interest thereon of HK$7,822,000 were fully 15%5T B o B E A 2 B F 87,822,000
settled in December 2011. A director of the Company is also BILER2011F12AEE - — U AR
a director of the third party. REERNAEF=-FES -

b) It represents trial sale of coalbed methane generated from the b) WIHIR=ZXREGMP>KAERASEER
Sanjiao PSC. EEZHEREE -

c)  The amount represented compensation from an operating c) ZerdEAEEERMNIS RSB RS
consultant for causing a technical fault which led to less SER EARMARMEBEHRE T
crude oil being produced from the Liuluoyu Oil Field. P2 BEE® -

R—rEHRERERAD « 2011 F 1§
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7. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES), NET 7. Hithdrzm R (B518) B8
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHT
Deposits and other receivables R & K E 8 W AR RR G
written off (2,355) (465)
Loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWE  BE L&E2EE
and equipment = (3)
Impairment loss on property, plant Y% - BWER&E 2 REEE
and equipment (note 16) (ff3E16) (1,414) -
Exchange gains, net b 5 W 558 6,244 1,439
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR 2 WS
(note 35) (Fft7£35) - 72,798
Loss on redemption of convertible BRI RE 2 EE
note (note 30) (K3E30) - (703)
2,475 73,066
8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRFEBZTHE (B5E) i
EXPENSES )
(Loss)/profit before income tax expenses is arrived at after BETER T A (ER) SZFENg S
charging/(crediting): GINE
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
a) Finance costs a) BIERA
Interest on borrowings wholly BARAFAZIHEEZ
repayable within five years & E 4,555 196
Imputed interest on convertible AR R I5 2 JE & F) B
notes (note 30) (Fff 5£30) - 1,452
Others HAh 6 1
4,561 1,649
Less: interest capitalised on B BEERNERAREIER
gas exploration EEHhEEZ N A
and evaluation assets (note 17) (Bt sE17) (4,555) (196)
6 1,453
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T
8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. MFIRHBXWw (FBH) i
EXPENSES (Continued) Fl(4&)
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT FHET
b) Staff costs (including directors’ b) E IR A (BiEMEE10
remuneration in note 10) ZEEE)
Salaries, wages and other e ITENEMER
benefits 24,288 13,995
Equity-settled share-based BRAGEEARMD N2
payment expenses (note 33) X i (MF5E33) 60,000 19,200
Contributions to defined TE R FUR RETEI
contribution retirement plan 2 880 613
85,168 33,808
c) Other items c) HiIEE
Cost of inventories FEKAR = 446
Auditor’s remuneration ZER M & 1,656 1,243
Depreciation of property, Y- WENMESETE
plant and equipment (note 16) (M$sE16) 8,802 10,351
Amortisation of intangible B EE
assets * (note 18) (FF5E18) 46 323
Minimum lease payments under KERE v EHEERIE
operating lease —EHEE
— property rentals 4,450 2,788
& Included in “direct costs” as disclosed in the consolidated ! ATARRE RE MRS RATHRE 2 [EEK
statement of comprehensive income. LN

R—rEEEERERDT ¢ 2011 8



R — parwi sbuipjoH seD pue 10 ouls « |10z 1oday [enuuy

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 3R R B 5

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the group companies did not have any estimated assessable
profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax during the years
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010. During the years
2011 and 2010, the subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to
statutory tax rate of 25%. The former subsidiaries in the
United States (“US”), which were subject to a tax rate of
34%, incurred losses for tax purpose during the year ended

31 December 2010.

(i) The amount of income tax expenses charged to the

i

o.

FRiS8iZ

H Z2011F X2010F12A31H L F &
N AREEARTHEZMNETEFSG
M2 BT ERB R A - BT IRE B
TS T EMRE - 2011 K2010F B R » {7
B R B BT B A AR VA TE B R 25 % 5 41
ME-mMURER([EE]) ZAIHERQ
AR T E34% AN T IR - B B2 M B
NAREE2010F12831 8 FFERE
ETRIREE o

() FAREEZERERZABHIH

consolidated statement of comprehensive income B
represents:
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FH T
Current income tax Bl ER FT 15 3¢
— PRC enterprises income tax — B EME 1,358 873
Deferred tax expenses for FAREERIE B (H5E31)
the year (note 31) 2,270 2,637
Income tax expenses FTE R 3,628 3,510
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)
(i)  The income tax expenses for the year can be (if)
reconciled to the Group’s (loss)/profit before income
tax expenses per the consolidated statement of

9. Fﬁﬁﬁiﬂa‘ (..ﬁ)

comprehensive income as follows:

$¢}*Zﬁﬁ SHEX P HEGEE2EK
mRZAEBBRETER S HA (&
1B) uFMEEMT

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
(Loss)/profit before income BRETS R AT (B518) i F
tax expenses (92,611) 8,194
Tax (credit)/charge on (loss)/profit BRFT1S R 2 i Al (B518) i A
before income tax expenses, BB (ER) /X HE25%
calculated at 25% (2010: 25%) HIBETE 21‘5&@2010& 25%) (23,153) 2,049
Effect of different tax rates of REMEERER 2 & 2B A A
subsidiaries operating in other TRABE L ZE
jurisdiction 6,845 (1,557)
Tax effect of non-deductible TR B2 BB E
expenses 19,260 11,639
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBBRA Z R & (1,594) (16,057)
Utilisation of tax losses previously &) ST R R FE R AR JE 5 18
not recognised - (45)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERZMIBEE BB E
recognised = 4,844
Tax effect of deductible AHNBERER I HBETE
temporary differences 2,270 2,637
Income tax expenses 8= H 3,628 3,510

B—rEHRERERAD « 2011 F 1§
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. ESE#E

= 4 T

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 BERBSATIKIEIIEEECES
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: BT
For the year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows: HE2011F12A31BEFEMOT ¢
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement Share-based
Directors’ benefits scheme payments
fees in kind contributions Sub-total (note 33) Total
W %
TR 4] B ZHE
Exne REWNEG TEI#R INgt (HiEE33) @t

HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TiEn TR T#ER TiEn T#ERT

Executive directors HITES

Dai Xiaobing' RN - 1,467 12 1,479 3,069 4,548

Wang Ziming? T HR2 - 1,355 9 1,364 3,069 4,433

Kong Siu Timé T Do - 688 8 696 - 696

Wan Tze Fan Terence BT - 1,355 12 1,367 3,069 4,436

King Hap Lee’ =IRF - 667 4 671 3,069 3,740

- 5,532 45 5,577 12,276 17,853
Independent non-executive B FEHITEE
directors

Di Lingjun® Hf g =8 133 - - 133 - 133

Wong Lung Tak Patrick? & Bef%2 200 - - 200 256 456

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter ZE2 200 - - 200 256 456

Wang Yanbin’ FEm 67 - - 67 256 323
600 - - 600 768 1,368

Non-executive directors ~ FFHTEE

Ni Zhenwei® {7 117 - - 117 - 117

Kong Siu Timé LD e 67 - - 67 256 323
184 - - 184 256 440
784 5,532 45 6,361 13,300 19,661
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows:

10. 5

e =

= (48)

A s
i

HZE2010F12A31H IEEEMT ¢

Salaries,
allowances
and  Retirement Share-based
Directors’ benefits scheme payments
fees in kind  contributions Sub-total (note 33) Total
AR A3 32 5
= RIK Z A
ESHe REVNH AtEIftR NE (P 5E33) @5t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET TEX TET TET TET
Executive directors HIES
Dai Xiaobing' N - 900 1 901 = 901
Wang Ziming? FE - 474 - 474 = 474
Jiang Rizhong? ZRAB - 210 - 210 - 210
Kong Siu Timé LD e - 1,290 12 1,302 436 1,738
Wan Tze Fan Terence BT - 1,169 12 1,181 = 1,181
- 4,043 25 4,068 436 4,504
Independent non-executive B JEH{TE S
directors
Di Lingjun® HREES 75 - - 75 - 75
Wong Lung Tak Patrick? & fef%2 75 - - 75 = 75
Yip Ching Shan 3 ZEIL° 9 - - 9 175 265
Ni Zhenwei ® {7 iRz 90 = = 90 175 265
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter &% 165 = = 165 175 340
495 - - 495 525 1,020
Non-executive directors ~ IFE{TES
Ni Zhenwei 3 {7 M@ 75 - - 75 - 75
570 4,043 25 4,638 961 5,599

O hmmEERERA D . 2011 F 5
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

11.

(Continued)

Notes:

1. Appointed in May 2010

2. Appointed in August 2010

8. Redesignated from independent non-executive director to
non-executive director in August 2010 and deceased in July
2011
Resigned in May 2010
Resigned in August 2010
Redesignated from executive director to non-executive
director in September 2011
Appointed in September 2011

8. Appointed in August 2010 and resigned in September 2011

During the year, no emoluments (2010: HK$ Nil) were paid
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2011
and 2010.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2010: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10. The
emolument of the remaining one (2010: two) individual is as
follows:

11.

 EEMS (@)

I

B 5

1. A2010F5AKE T
MH2010F8 R EZEE
201068 A BB L HFHITTESHESR
IEHMITE S (201147 A Aitt)

201045 B BHE
R201048 A BH{E
R2011FOR HTTEEFERIEANIT
=%

. R20FIOREZRE

8.  M2010F8HEEZEI 20119 A BT

FA AEEBYERNENESEIAHE
(20105 : A T) ERABFMA KRN
AREER 2 RESIEABER 2 /E
HZE2011F K2010F 12831 H L FE -
MEZEENEXRERET A -

o

mREHATL

AEBRUZSHEALTH - WAz (2010
F: =) BARRIZES HE&E
TE M FE108: 58 - H 82— (20105 : M
M) EEFALTZMESHOT

2011 2010

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET TETT

Salaries and other emoluments e hEMe 1,032 1,985
Share-based payments ARR 3 244 2 5/ 78 1,535 52
Retirement scheme contributions RAIRETEI 3R 12 24
2,579 2,061
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11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emolument of the one (2010: two) non-director

individual with the highest emoluments is within the following

bands:

 BEFAL(E)

Rz —L (20105 : ML) FEEA
TzHMENFTHER

2011 2010

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE A&

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A T~ - 1
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,0007% 7t £ 1,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T £3,000,0007% 7T 1 -
1 2

During the year, no emoluments (2010: Nil) were paid by

the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a

compensation for loss of office.

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of HK$69,427,000 (2010: HK$29,949,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the

Company.

13. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

12.

13.

A& BN F A E SIS (2010
F:8B)TEALAUKEHFAL ER
BFEMARR AN K B 2 8RR K AE
RABERZFE

EATIHEB ANEM (BBE)

i Fll
RAREB ARG (BB (&FeEE
B AR R B 7% i 3k 2 E51869,427,000
7 7T (20104 : 29,949,000/ 7T ) ©

B
BEETEHREEE2011F128318 1t
FEEMRE (20104 : £) -

S—hEEEERERDT ¢ 2011 FH
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14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$96,239,000 (2010: profit of HK$6,108,000) and the
weighted average number of 9,832,554,000 ordinary shares
(2010: 6,064,116,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the
year.

(i) (Loss)/earnings

i

14. B (E51E) / BF

a) BEREX(BE) B

BREXN(BEB) BATREARQ RS
A AFE{hE1896,239,0007% 7T (20104 :
i 76,108,000 7T) - LA R F A B 1T
T3/ % 2 hnAE 5 £09,832,554,0000% &
A (20104 : 6,064,116,000/% & & % )

s
=1 &
Al ==+ °

) (EE) BF

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FHET
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners AR FHEAE AR (B518) % T
of the Company (96,239) 6,108
(i) Number of ordinary shares (i)  BHEKEH
2011 2010
’000 "000
Tiz T A%
Weighted average number of FABEBTERRK
ordinary shares in issue IntE
during the year 9,832,554 6,064,116

© — Ppavw sbuip|oH ses pue (10 ouls 110z 1oday [enuuy
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14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14, ﬁﬂ’i(iéﬂﬁ) BF (@)

(Continued)
b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share b) SKEE(BE) EBF
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated based on the FRESE (F1R) B H TR E AR R %
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company and the BAEWE(ER), SR EFERND TR
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year MZMEFHHE (REELBRERE
after adjusting for the number of dilutive potential ordinary RERRERE P k2B TS L BRE
shares on share options granted and warrants subscribed. BIEHARR)FE
(i) Number of ordinary shares ()  EBEREHA
2011 2010
’000 "000
T T A%
Weighted average number of FANEEITEBR
ordinary shares in issue hnAEF 9 &
during the year 9,832,554 6,064,116
Effect of dilutive potential B EE LR 2
ordinary shares: A
— Share options — B e i - 109,077
— Warrants — RIRER - 77,044
Weighted average number of BREERT 2
ordinary shares for purposes I 58 A% N #E 55 E
of diluted earnings per share 9,832,554 6,250,237
Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December HRARGREZ2011F12A318 IEF
2011 is the same as the basic loss per share as the ERMRTECERERARES (WE
Company’s outstanding share options and warrants, where B)EZFEZSRERE BB RE
applicable, had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per ERE MRTFECEREESEES
share in that year. Hx§$)§ﬂ,§\ NI

S— hEHRERERA D ¢ 2011 F 1§
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two (2010: two) reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires different
business strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Oil and gas exploitation:  Exploitation and sale of crude oil
and natural gas

Coalbed methane: Exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ results used
by the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.

. S ERER &
AEEREECEREEBNLA UM
HEBIERRE 2 REBTHGEHH -

REBHEE ME (20105 : ME) 7T | &=
DE e mHREBEBHRETRE®D KR
BIAFTEINRRHRE  #OBBEBL
EE -LTAXREEESARENHLEE
ZHE

BRRRATBR:  BRREE R
BRRAR

KER BE BBRE
ERER

%ﬁk"*ﬁfﬁlﬂﬁﬁi,\“x% ©E
WA R A5 BEREDE - RA
EB’\EEEW%J%EE% AHEDRRRZD
MEETESEERARAEEMNAXE
A o
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15. S EBE (F)

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
a) Business segments a) ¥Boip
Segment information about these businesses is set out as BRAZESEB 2 HEREINOT -
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE2011F12A31H IEFE

Oil and gas Coalbed
exploitation methane Unallocated Total
Rk
KA R KER ROE @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THERT TERT THET
Results EF
Revenue from external customers ~ RBINREE 2 WA 35,079 - - 35,079
Segment results 8 Ak (2,877) (5,999) (81,819) (90,695)
Finance costs BE KA () (3) (1) (6)
Impairment loss on property, ME - BER&E
plant and equipment WEER (1,414) - = (1,414)
Share of loss of a jointly EhERZESE
controlled entity NEI) SR (496) - - (496)
Loss before income tax expenses  BRFT/SFE 2 i AT &S 18 (4,789) (6,002) (81,820) (92,611)
Income tax expenses FrEH < (3,628) - - (3,628)
Loss for the year REFEEIE (8,417) (6,002) (81,820) (96,239)
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Reportable segment assets ° A E D H & ES 555,743 3,229,218 152,252 3,937,213
Reportable segment liabilities AmED AR 69,616 794,356 12,285 876,257
Other segment information HihpEpEs
Depreciation and amortisation e K 7,213 842 793 8,848
Capital expenditure incurred FAEEZENR
during the year X 267,088 383,443 74 650,605

b
J:H_
)
N
T
«
1S
T
=
&
&
gt
i
#
I
97
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. ﬁ%ﬂiﬁ%(%)

a) Business segments (Continued) a)
Segment information about these businesses is set out as
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2010

EBSB (&)

HE2010F12A31B ILFEE

BRAZEXH 2 BEREIIMT

Oil and gas Coalbed
exploitation methane  Unallocated Total
Alk
AARRFRE HEER AAER st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FHET FTHET T FHET
Results E 3
Revenue from external customers ~ REINREF Z WA 29,224 = = 29,224
Segment results 8 Ak (2,794) (626) (57,073) (60,493)
Finance costs BMERA - = (1,453) (1,4593)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QAW 72,798 - - 72,798
Share of loss of a jointly EEEREZEESE
controlled entity NEEE (2,658) - - (2,658)
Profit/(loss)before income tax BR T3 3 AT
expenses wH/ (E1E) 67,346 (626) (58,526) 8,194
Income tax expenses FER (3,510) - - (3,510)
Profit/(loss) for the year AFEERF/ (BE) 63,836 (626) (58,526) 4,684
Assets and liabilities EERAER
Reportable segment assets ° A E D H & ES 377,772 2,646,885 398,663 3,423,320
Reportable segment liabilities AmED AR 53,156 837,034 4,755 894,945
Other segment information HihpHER
Depreciation and amortisation e R# 10,116 27 531 10,674
Capital expenditure incurred FAEEZENR
during the year ¥ 108,474 2,595,157 2577 2,706,208
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15.. ﬁ%ﬂiﬁ%(%;

a) Business segments (Continued) a) EBHE(E)
Notes: Bt &E
1. Unallocated segment results mainly include salaries, rental 1. ROBEHIBEEFZREIE M-
expense and professional fees for Hong Kong head office and EXERAERALANETERIRER
equity-settled share-based payment expenses. HEEZBROZNER-
2. Included in the segment result of coalbed methane segment 2. 2011FEHER 2D IPELE B IE550,000
is the other revenue of HK$550,000 from the trial sale of P& 7T (20104 : &) 2 HM WA - 2R B
coalbed methane generated from the Sanjiao PSC for the R=E=REGI»IKERELEEEBERZH
year 2011(2010: Nil) (note 6). & (fF3E6) o
3. Unallocated segment assets mainly include cash and cash 8. AOESHEEFEBRERENHAS
equivalents. ZEY -
b) Geographical information and major b) WMESEEREEEF
customers
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TEAAEERBINAT P 2 W am KR
revenue from external customers and non-current assets e N FREREEAERAR 2R
other than deposits paid and interest in a jointly conrolled ANz IEmEEE ((HBEERBDEE])
entity (“specified non-current assets”). LT o
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
KEIMRERZEBAN BEFREEE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTET T T FHERT FAT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (FTEH) - - 2,443 3,126
The PRC s 35,079 28,490 3,553,131 2,738,166
The US ES - 734 - -
35,079 29,224 3,553,131 2,738,166 ﬁ
5
35,079 29,224 3,555,574 2,741,292 o
— e T
—— — ¢
During the year, revenues from the Group’s largest and FR REXAEBZFANE_AEPZ T’ﬁ
second largest customers were HK$35,079,000 (2010: Y 2% 2 Bl £35,079,0005 7T (20104 : ﬁ
HK$23,253,000) and HK$Nil (2010: HK$5,237,000), being 23,258,000/ 7t) R Z 7 T (20104 - &
100% (2010: 80%) and 0% (2010: 18%) of the Group’s 5,237,000/ 7)  IE A& B AH E KRR g
total revenue from the oil and gas exploitation segment, AR D #0 UL 28 4258 2 100%(20104F : b
respectively. 80%) 5 0% (20104 : 18%) ° 9|9
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. M - BERBE

The Group AEE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Construction Oil and gas  and office
improvements in progress  properties equipment Total
f&H
g BEERER
MEERE HREE WOAERE @t
HK$' 000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$' 000
THT THT TAT THAT
(note b)
(Mt zHo)
Costs: B :
At 1 January 2010 ®201061A1R 39 125,546 692 128,674
Additions through acquisition BB 2 RE (FFE36()

(note 36(b)) - - - 1,665
Additions RE - 1,994 84 4,339
Disposals e - - (13) (13)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) &8 A ) (Fif7£35) - (39,908) = (39,908)
Exchange adjustments R HE 1 6,098 10 6,160
At 31 December 2010 120106124318 40 93,730 773 100,917
Additions through acquisition BBE 2R E (F15536())

(note 36(a)) - 34,942 16 35,078
Additions AE 3,629 119,907 2,712 146,195
Disposals k3 (14) - (5) (19)
Exchange adjustments EHRE 82 7,134 71 7,854
At 31 December 2011 201145124318 3,737 255,713 3,567 290,025
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERRE (8)
(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Construction Oil and gas  and office Motor
improvements in progress properties equipment vehicles Total
R
HE EERER
WERE EBIE HREE BAERE RE @it
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FEL FEL THL THL TET TAR
(note a) (note b)
(Wista) i)
Accumulated depreciation and EitiTEREE
impairment:
At 1 January 2010 120101 A1H 21 - 11,256 430 1,162 12,869
Charge for the year (note 8(c))  F R i (Mi8(c)) 5 - 9,658 115 573 10,351
Written back on disposal i ERRE - - - (10) = (10)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) &8 A ) (Ff£35) - - (11,805) - - (11,805)
Exchange adjustments R A 1 - 301 6 5 313
At 31 December 2010 1"2010F12A31H 27 = 9,410 541 1,740 11,718
Charge for the year (note 8(c) ~ F R it (H8(c)) 333 - 6,688 299 1,482 8,802
Written back on disposal i E R A (14) - - () - (19)
Impairment loss (note 7) REEE (F7) - - 1,414 - - 1,414
Exchange adjustments R 8 - 592 13 26 639
At 31 December 2011 #o011%12318 354 - 18104 848 3248 22,554
Carrying amount: FREfE:
At 31 December 2011 12011F12A318 3,383 18,542 237,609 2,719 5,218 267,471
At 31 December 2010 12010612318 13 - 843 232 4634 89,199
Note: B 5
(a) It represents oil and gas properties under construction as at (@ EERARBREHELERFIEEBR
the end of the reporting period. BE °
(b)  The additions in 2011 included oil and gas properties of b) 20FEZAREREREMEEERM

HK$105,802,000 transferred from other assets as set out in
note 25.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2011, oil and gas
properties were impaired by HK$1,414,000 due to the

temporary suspension on development of a minor project.

7% #9105,802,000/% Jt 2 SH | & & (40
MIsE25FT#) -

RE Z2011F12A31B IEEERN - |
REEZER—E)RIBE  MAaLE
R 1E1,414,0000 7T ©

-

O— FEHBRERERAF 2011 £HK
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17. GAS EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
ASSETS

© — panwi sBUIp|oH seD pue |10 ouls e |10z 1oday [enuuy

—_
N

The Group FEH
HK$’ 000
FET

Cost R A&
At 1 January 2010 7R2010F1 A1H =
Additions through acquisition (note 36(b)) BB 2 RE (F15E36(b)) 2,570,586
Additions NE 22,906
Interest capitalised (note 8(a)) & AR F B (K sE8(a)) 196
Exchange adjustments PE A 4,956
At 31 December 2010 7R2010F12H31H 2,598,644
Additions through acquisition (note 36(b)) BBUWE 2 ANE (M 5E36(0)) 87,360
Additions* B 291,749
Interest capitalised (note 8(a)) EARMEFE (M 5E8(a)) 4,555
Exchange adjustments ME 5 38 B 25,066
At 31 December 2011 7201146124318 3,007,374

*

The amount included provision for environmental restoration
and decommission costs of HK$1,132,000 (Note 28).

Gas exploration and evaluation assets arose from the
acquisition of Power Great Limited and its subsidiary
(“Power Great Group”) set out in note 36(b). The operations
of Power Great Group are governed by and based on
Sanjiao PSC. Details of this Sanjiao PSC are set out in note
37(i).

As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, the major components
of gas exploration and evaluation assets were exploratory
drilling and trenching costs. The directors have assessed
the gas exploration and evaluation assets for impairment
in accordance with the criteria under HKFRS 6 and by
reference to the progress in the implementation of the
Sanjiao PSC during the year, and the valuation report
prepared by the American Appraisal China Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers, which possess
the relevant professional qualifications and experience.
The directors concluded that there are no facts or
circumstances which may indicate that the carrying amount
of gas exploration and evaluation assets has exceeded the
recoverable amount as at the end of reporting period.

* ZEHEAEREREEERELLFER
& 7 B #51,132,0007 7T (Fi5E28) °

AARRBDELRFHEEDRBEEER
RAMEMBAR ((BEEE])FRE-
N EE360) - EEE 2 EBIIR =
REMOKREBRES RALSER - it
=REmD KA RFBHRHES7()

720108201112 A31H » KA R IF
RiHEEEX EHYFEEH RERK AR
WK - EEEREBERBVBHREELE
B IRENREFRN=REMAKA
RZHTEER —HBBIEEFTER
A-XEFEAERAAGE 2 GERSE
HARARME R EEETRETM
ZAREAHBEEXERRER -EF
EE RBSHERER TEEFE
HERKRBRARDERTHEE 2
EECBBETKESEE -
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18
The Group AEE
Motor vehicle (o]}
registration exploitation Operation
license rights rights Total
RE Rl
BB FRE BiEE gt
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$,000
FHET FHT FHT THT
Cost: BA
At 1 January 2010 201051 A1H - 48,914 46,880 95,794
Additions NE 910 - - 910
Disposal of subsidiaries & KB A

(note 35) (P 5E35) = (49,174) = (49,174)
Exchange adjustments PE N AR - 260 1,606 1,866
At 31 December 2010 R2010F12A31H 910 - 48,486 49,396
Additions through acquisition BBKERE

(note 36(a)) (B 5£36(a)) - - 197,157 197,157
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, 5 B - - 3,679 3,679
At 31 December 2011 R2011F12A31H 910 - 249,322 250,232

Accumulated amortisation: Rty
At 1 January 2010 #2010%1 A1H - 360 - 360
Amortisation for the year AEE & (H5E8(c)

(note 8(c)) - 146 177 323
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HEK B (K #35) - (507) = (507)
Exchange adjustments BE 5 33 2 - 1 = 1
At 31 December 2010 R2010612H31H - - 177 177
Amortisation for the year REE#E (HEs(c)

(note 8(c)) - - 46 46
Exchange adjustments B X, 5 B - - 12 12
At 31 December 2011 2011612 H31H - - 235 235

Carrying amount: IREE :
At 31 December 2011 R2011F12A31H 910 - 249,087 249,997
At 31 December 2010 R2010F12A31H 910 - 48,309 49,219

-
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Oil exploitation rights

The Group’s oil exploitation rights in Grassy Trails Oil Field
and Squaw Canyon Oil Field located in US were disposed of
on 30 December 2010. Details are set out in note 35.

Operation rights

The Group’s operation rights represent the rights under
three (2010: two) development contracts which give the
Group the rights to participate in the production of crude oil
with details as follows:

CEREE(E)
A H R E

N £ B (7 5 35 B B A A N 5t BB A i
Mz AHFERESE R2010F12 A30H
WHE - FIBFHRHIEESS ©

BE®

REBZ ZEETI =17 (2010F : W)
REARAZEN BAKEAES A
ROmAEE - FI/WT

Qil fields Location Expiry date
JHH i 2h FHIE
1. Liuluoyu QOil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2023
075 U i H IR TE A
2. Yanjawan Oil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2023
2R & B PR A
3. Jinzhuang Qil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2025

& FEm A FERAE

The exploitation rights and operation rights are initially
recognised at their fair value on the date of acquisition by
reference to a professional valuation prepared by Assets
Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers, which possesses the relevant professional
qualification and experience. Subsequent to the reporting
period, the exploitation rights and operation rights are
measured using the cost model.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
exploitation rights and operation rights using the units
of production method based on the amount of proven
and probable oil and gas reserves. Amortisation is
charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

BRI R SR SRR A2 AT
HE2EAETERMNERA R (—0
BUSEEEAT BB ANELER
RAES) 172 BEEBEER - R E
£ HIR 1% - BIIRAE R B AR SR A A
Rt & -

WERRER EERRATNIZEE LY
BRI EANEEEAREITHE - #
HEAGEEKRERZ [EEAANIAH
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19. GOODWILL

The Group
HK$’ 000
FHET
Carrying amount as at 1 January and 20104 K& 2011F1 518 k12 H31H
31 December 2010 and 2011 ZAREE 4,230
IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL e 2R EA
For the purpose of impairment test, goodwill acquired R EREmM S BBV A A ES
through business combination of Liuluoyu Oil Field is BHERZEES R ZHS A HE A H

allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU”) of oil and gas
exploitation of Liuluoyu Oil Field.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU have been determined
from the value in use calculations based on formally
approved cash flow projections and budgets.

The following key assumptions have been made for the
purpose of the analysis:

1 Discount rate 19%
2 Operating margin 29%
3 Growth rate 19%
4 Wage inflation 3%
B Crude oil price increase 5%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects the specific
risks of the oil and gas exploitation segment. The operating
margin and growth rate are referenced to the industry.
Wage inflation is based on the expected long term inflation
rate set by the PRC Government. Crude oil price is based
on the expected market price.

RRAARAFEcReELEEN ((ReE
HEEBA]) o
ReEEEM 2 YE S FETRIEEA
BEEE  mEAEENREERNEL
AEZREREBAIREETE -

RETON - SERTHEERR

1 iR = 19%
2 KERNBE=E 29%
3 HERX 19%
4  TEBERR 3%
5 FOAERLA 5%

FERZTRERRBARFARD B2
FERRZBRATER - 2‘“%5FU/FTZ&
BEXDZ2EZZXZARBAEE - TER
ThiR &S EﬁlﬁZﬁﬁﬁEEﬁ@Eﬁ%ﬁﬁi °
RO BRI AR T IS B8 R -

-
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which is accounted for by the equity method.

BARAIHEA0%EE °

20. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 20 7i’$ EH;"EE‘S’Q/AEJZ_*E
ENTITY E=
The Group has a 50% interest in a jointly controlled entity MR ETE  AEBRN —FK LR

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#ET &L

Share of net assets DHEEFE
As at 1 January W1A1H 6,948 9,606
Share of loss for the year KEEZH(GER (496) (2,658)
As at 31 December ®12H31H 6,452 6,948

Particulars of the Group’s jointly controlled entity are as

AEBZAFEERERARFENAT

follows:
Form of business Place of Percentage of ordinary
Name of company structure incorporation shares indirectly held Principal activity
ACEA EBRERL aE A% I B BERFLERE A TEER
Smart Win International Limited Limited company The British Virgin Islands 50% Investment holding
(IIBVlII)
SEBRERAA BRAR RERTHS REER

The financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly
controlled entity is set out below:

BT

BRASEARZEEAERRIZMKE

2011 2010

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHT FATT

Total assets MEE 12,904 13,897
Total liabilities matE - =
Net assets BEFE 12,904 13,897
Group’s share of net assets AEBDREEFE 6,452 6,948
Turnover EER - =
Expenses s (993) (5,316)
Loss for the year AEEEAE (993) (5,316)
Group’s share of loss for the year REBAREEDHEE (496) (2,658)




a) Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2011 are listed below. The class of shares held is

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt 75 3R R B 5 "i;]:%
A
21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21. MWEQEZEﬁ
The Company =AT
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Unlisted equity investments, at cost 3 F AR E KA 2,492,721 2,405,361
Less: impairment loss (note 21(b)) B OREEE (M 5E21(0)) (81,143) (81,143)
2,411,578 2,324,218
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U Bt B8 A Rk IB (Bt E21(0))
(note 21(c)) 438,804 547,034
2,850,382 2,871,252

R20115F12A31H T EH B A 7

ZHBMT - BRRBHBEIN

Ffr

ordinary unless stated otherwise.

Rl B A E B -

Proportion of ownership interest

HEREMM

Place of Group’s

incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe Heldbya
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital holding  Company subsidiary  Principal activities

R/ £y 1] B H-RM
LaaR T R ERTRYRRAHE ERGRE LFRF BATRE IERR
Elite Ascend Holaings Limited the BVI 690 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
hEERARAA ABRAEE 60 S RAE! 0% 2 Bk RERR
Genesis Energy (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each 100% = 100%  Provision of administrative

Limited services o group companies

g (B8 BRAT B JREREET 0BT ERR 100% - 100% WEBRARMTHRE

-

O— FEHBRIERERAF 2011 F£HK
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21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Proportion of ownership interest

HEREMM
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective Held bythe Heldbya
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital holding  Company subsidiary  Principal activities
R/ g 1] BE  B-%M
ARER fr EEYE ERTRARRAHE ERnRkE LFRE BATRE  IERE
Kenwin Global Limited 2 theBV 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Kenwin Global Limited 2 EBRIHE 1REEL0ET, ERR RERRK
Qrion Energy International Inc. the Cayman Islands 100,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100%  Exploration, development and
("OEN") 1S$0.001 each production of coalbed methane
ARRERARERAR (25Z) REHE 100,000,000% S E E0.001 %7 2 TR BERBR AAREE
Power Great Limited the Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 100% 100% - Investment holding
REERAR REHE 1REE0ET L E R RERR
Trillon Intermational Petroleum 2 Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Extraction Technology
HEERARRREEERAR 2 EE 1REE!.0ET 2 SRk RERR
Xian Hong Chang Co., Limited 1 thePRC Registered capital RMB51,706,600 100% = 100%  Participation n oil and gas projects
BREERRRERBERAR 1 #E AR AR 51,706,6007 SERRIAR
Bi Tuo Yuan Technology 1 the PRC Registered capital RMB500,000 100% = 100%  Participation in oil and gas projects
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
AR R BRAR 1 hE M A R 5000007 BERRER
Xian Lilong Petroleum Extraction 1,2 thePRC Registered capital HKS50,000,000 100% - 100%  Participation in oil and gas projects
Technology Limited
ERHERBRRRITERAT 1,2 E 3 A #4°50,000,000% 7 SERRER
Notes: B2
1: registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned 1: BEDBEZEEZEAINEBELE

foreign enterprise

2: newly acquired in 2011

2 R2011EHKE
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21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b) Impairment on investments in subsidiaries
There were no movements in the provision for impairment
loss during the year. The impairment loss on interests in
subsidiaries are made by the directors by reference to the
net assets of the subsidiaries, ability to generate sufficient
future economic benefits and evidence from internal
reporting that indicate the economic performance of the
subsidiaries.

c) Amounts due from subsidiaries
An analysis of the amounts due from subsidiaries is listed
below:

21. K BAT 2 B35 (&)

b) MRMBABZIREARE
RAFEER BEBEREEZSD - K
BRARZMEBMEERVAEZZ2EM
BRBIZEERE EERDAREHE
MBEZRENRBRMEBRR ZEBERR
ZAEHEBBEMIEL

c) REWMHBATRIE
FERHI B D RRBEZATMAT

The Company

EAT
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET F& T
Due from subsidiaries i = NCIE e 725,171 815,904
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (286,367) (268,870)
438,804 547,034

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and in substance represent the Company’s investments
in the subsidiaries in the form of quasi-equity loans.

EUEHMBLARRESEER 28 &
B EHEARANEREEEE T AE
H2EE -

-
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21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 21. j?
c) Amounts due from subsidiaries (Continued) c)

The movements in the provision for impairment loss during
the year were as follows:

B AT 2 S ()
FEUG P B ASIFRIE (&)
FRREBEREE 2 ZEHMT :

The Company

EAT
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FH T
At 1 January »1A1H 268,870 312,463
Additional provision REONEE A 24,467 40,849
Reversal of provision P 5 [m] 52 (6,970) (84,442)
At 31 December ®W12H31H 286,367 268,870

The impairment loss and reversal of impairment on
amounts due from subsidiaries are made by the directors
by reference to the net assets of the subsidiaries, ability
to generate sufficient future economic benefits and
evidence from internal reporting that indicate the economic
performance of the subsidiaries.

R LS Ff B8 2 A SR IR 2 Ok 16 U85 1R Rl 1B 1
BREESENBRARAIZEEFE
EEFDRRLENDRZ 880 RBRH
BRAZERBERBRZAMBSEIEMIE
& oo

22. INVENTORIES 22. 58
The Group AEHE
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ERT FHEIT
Spare parts, consumables and others 1 ~ FE# K H b 635 =
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

23. FEMAES: - HABMEKEIE - %

e REFRIE
The Group The Company
xEH AAT
2011 2010 2011 2010

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$ 000
FET TAET FHET TAET

Trade receivables JE U BR 3R 11,943 6,945 - =
Bills receivable e U = i - 5,317 - =
Other receivables (note i) Hh i W sk I8 (BT =) 7,112 16,718 71 1,074
Amount due from a W —RHW B AR
non-controlling interest FE 12 AR A 25 TR IE
of a subsidiary - 166 - =
19,055 29,146 71 1,074
Utility deposits KEZE 1,407 1,034 - 504
Current portion of other deposits R &N & D H iz &
and prepayments (note iii) N T84 3kIE (B 5%iii) 3,773 42,558 169 160
5,180 43,592 169 664
24,235 72,738 240 1,738
Non-current portion of other FEMEN B o A Ath
deposits and prepayments e RIEMFKIA
(note (ii) & (iii)) (BT 3£ Gi) B (iii)) 32,368 2,355 - -
Notes: Bt 3E

(i)

(i)

As at 31 December 2010, the balance included
considerations receivable of HK$15,000,000 on the disposal
of Ally Bond Limited and its subsidiary (“Ally Bond Group”)
and King Giant Limited and its subsidiaries (“King Giant
Group”) as set out in note 35, which was subsequently
received in January 2011.

The balance includes a guarantee deposit of HK$5,866,000
paid to secure the Group’s borrowing as set out in note 29.

Prepayments include prepaid exploration costs of
HK$10,828,000 (2010: HK$42,231,000) on the Group’s
gas evaluation and exploration assets and prepaid
construction costs of HK$15,674,000 (2010: Nil) on the
Group’s construction in progress under property, plant and
equipment.

()  M2010%F12A31H %X BEF AH
EHTERAARENE QA ([
SEDEEBRERAGAIRENE A A
([EBEE]) 2 B E15,000,000%
70 (BRI FE35) - SRR E £ 7201141
B 1pURER -

(i) HBABEHNMFORNEREAEE
fERZRE L - BHH5,866,000/E 7T °

(i) BERNRESEHAREEBRARBER
=T 1 & B 2 T8 5 &) #R K Z<10,828,000
7 7T (20104F : 42,231,000/ 7T) K& A&
SEREEIRZYE BEREE
Z FELF 32 R& AKX A15,674,0007% 7T (2010
F ) o

-

—— HhEHRERER DA o 2011 F 3|



-

— — panwi sBUIP|oH seD pue |10 oulS e |10z 1oday [enuuy

N

Notes to the Financial Statements

R ESTE: .

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23.
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date at the end of reporting period is as follows:

R FE B H 2 R WBR 5N 3RS AR 4
B Z BRERDMTANT -

The Group The Company
xEH AAT
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET FHET TERT T T
< 30 days LN 3,389 3,210 - =
31 - 60 days 31260X 2,680 3,569 - =
61 — 90 days 61E90K 5,874 166 - -

11,943

The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30
days from the invoice date.

All trade receivables are less than 90 days past due,
not impaired and related to one customer which has a
good track record with the Company. Based on the past
experience, management estimated that the carrying
amount will be fully recovered.

The Group recognised impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note

4(j)(ii).

6,945 - =

SELATRPZFEHEEENAFHERR
sf0E30K -

P A FE YRR 3039 73 B A 1R90R A (48R
B)RBRE-FF ARAEZEF
BRIFZERTDE B EELRIE -
REBEAEER BEEEMGAEREER
2EE -

NEERBEH 4G (IR 2 €5 R -
e E R LR R EEE -
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24,

25.

ERER

NOTES RECEIVABLE 24,
The Group The Company
AEHE b AL
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHT FET T T
Notes receivable FE W = HE - 135,000 - 9,000
Notes receivable represented considerations receivable on EWEEEHERAEBRERER (H
disposal of Ally Bond Group and King Giant Group as set REFFE35) 2 EBMRE - BREE AR
out in note 35. These notes receivable were interest-free, B AR FRAEERNEARRESE
repayable within one year and secured by the shares of SE QA ZRMDEER -
these two disposal group companies.
During the year ended 31 December 2011, an amount of REBE2011F12A31ALFERN - £58
HK$13,000,000 was settled by cash and the rights and /313,000,000 T 2 KA B BB © &
reward of the remaining balance of HK$122,000,000 was & R4 #R122,000,00008 7T 2 B F &
assigned to the vendor of Kenwin Global Limited and its [0 ¥k 2 & 5 T Kenwin Global Limited &
subsidiaries (“Kenwin Group”) as partial settlement of the HEWB AR ([Kenwin&k B 1) 2 & - 1E
consideration as set out in note 36(a). BESREEE (ERMFE36() -
OTHER ASSETS 25 Hith&E
The Group The Company
AEE EAT
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FHET TET T T
Refundable deposits ARERE - 60,000 - 60,000
Advance payments B 38 - 56,656 - =
Oil and gas properties MREE - 105,802 - =
- 222,458 - 60,000

The other assets as 31 December 2010 arose from
the Group’s interest in the Jinzhuang Oil Field as
described below and included (i) a refundable deposit of
HK$60,000,000; (i) advance payments of HK$56,656,000
for funding the development and operation of Jinzhuang QOil
Field; and (iii) amounts of HK$105,802,000 on oil and gas
properties the Group developed in the Jinzhuang Oil Field.

R2010F12A31BE 2 EMEER AR
SEReEHAZER (R THER)
il 2 A& - B 4 (i) A 2R [ #2 ©60,000,000
BT (ARRKCEcEHECES
2 1 356,656,000 7T 5 LA K (i) A & E
AEReTHHENNBREEZSE
105,802,000 7T °

-
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25. OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

In May 2010, the Group entered into an operation
agreement with an independent PRC third party (the “PRC
Party”) for the exploration, development and production of
crude oil and natural gas that existed in an exploration area
located in Shaanxi Province in the PRC (the “Jinzhuang Oil
Field”) for the period from 1 May 2010 to 31 July 2011. The
PRC Party is a party to a production sharing contract with
a state owned enterprise for the exploration, development
and production of crude oil and natural gas in the Jinzhuang
Qil Field (the “Jinzhuang PSC”). Pursuant to the operation
agreement, the Group was engaged as the operator to
explore, develop and produce crude oil and natural gas from
the oil field. The Group bored all development and operation
costs and shared 95% of the income from sale of crude oil
and the entire income from the sale of natural gas extracted
from the Jinzhuang Qil Field. The operation of the Jinzhuang
Qil Field was jointly controlled by the Group and the PRC
Party. At the same time, Kenwin Group based in Hong
Kong, acquired the rights and obligations of the Jinzhuang
PSC from the PRC Party. The Group signed a memorandum
of understanding (“MOU”) with the owner of Kenwin
Group and paid an interest free and refundable deposit of
HK$60,000,000 to the owner such that the Group had the
option to acquire the entire equity interest of Kenwin Group.

In June 2011, the Group and the PRC Party agreed
to extend the operation period to 31 October 2011. In
November 2011, the Group acquired the Jinzhuang Oil
Field by acquiring 100% equity interest in Kenwin Group as
detailed in Note 36(a). The refundable deposit was applied
as part consideration paid to the owner of Kenwin Group.
The advance payments of HK$56,656,000 were either
utilised for development or refunded to the Group and the
amount of HK$105,802,000 was transferred to property,
plant and equipment as oil and gas properties.

HEE ()

2010658  AEEE AP EH — & BF 7
FE=F([FRABHDITLEESRNAE
N £ B 18201065818 £201147 A 31
BEMRTPBERAE 2 EBHBETA
BMAARHE FARREE-FHEH
EE-ERECETCESEHRA ([€
EHB]) AEREERBRARZE
moaKER ([EFEERAKER]) °
BREEERZ ASBERREER -
NER RAEREESEMEB 2 AHBK
RAR -RERHA  NEEXREMRS
BRREEKRANRD ZFB%KE & EH
HAMREE ZBRAREZBZHERAR
HERA 2EHEHZEEBHASE
R BHERES - BRI - 25
LB 2 Kenwings B [ 75 B U8
CEDPKERZENREE - NEEHE
Kenwinfk BB A % 5] — B R B = 8%
([FERESRE]) I —FER22 KR
[ 2 % £60,000,00078 7T T % A A
E ity - 2S5 B A 4 2 A S Kenwings
B2z -

201156 H  AEERFHTZEHREH
RS HAMR FEHA = 20114E10 431 H © 2011
F1H  ANEEE B WEKenwing &
100% % 12 i W s & i B (5515 80
7E36(a)) ° AI R Bl & & # A 1E mKenwin
SECZHEAEAINZHESRE - BEK
1856,656,000/8 7T 1 A 1E AN & B 3% R &
SHEREAEE - £ % 7%105,802,000
BLIZARECEBRENE  BEREE
o ERBREE
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26.

27.

26.

ReRESSEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Group The Company
AEE AAT
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHT FHET T T
Cash and bank balances, A3 E8EEE2
denominated in Re RIRTTHER
— HKD and United States — BT METT
dollars (“USD”) (IE&x) 147,797 234,953 147,428 28,087
— Renminbi (“RMB”) — AR 196,654 7,576 - -
344,451 242,529 147,428 28,087
Cash and cash equivalents of HK$196,654,000 (equivalent 196,654,000 7t (H&E RN AR
to RMB159,632,000) (2010: HK$7,576,000; equivalent to 159,632,0007T) v R e RE 2 ZEEY
RMB6,412,000) were denominated in RMB. RMB is not a (20104 : 7,576,000 7 ' HE R AR
freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out #6,412,00070) A AR K E AR
of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by WHERAREE RPEELESE
the PRC Government. P B BT 2 SNEE PR I FT AR BR o
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HthFEERIERFERE R
The Group The Company
AEE AAT
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET FET T T
Current liabilities mBafs
Consideration payable FERRE
(note (i) (B EG) 9,002 500,000 - 500,000
Other payables and HEa sk
accruals (note (i) TE1R B A (B &Ei) 537,147 378,952 1,932 2,832
546,149 878,952 1,932 502,832

-
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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(Continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2011, the balance represented the
remaining consideration for the acquisition of Kenwin
Group (note 36(a)) to be settled in cash no later than 30
September 2012. The balances of HK$500,000,000 as at
31 December 2010 represented the remaining consideration
for the acquisition of the Power Great Group (note 36(b)).
The amount was settled in cash during the year ended 31
December 2011.

(if) Other payables and accruals include loans denominated in
USD of HK$78,877,000 (2010: HK$78,877,000) from certain
non-controlling shareholders of the Group. The loans are
unsecured, bear interest at 3% per annum and repayable on
demand. The balance also includes exploration costs payable
of approximately HK$443,635,000 (2010: HK$290,205,000)
in respect of gas exploration and evaluation assets and oil

and gas properties.

28. PROVISIONS

M aE

() M2011F12A31H ' %R KE
Kenwinfs B 37 7 T B K20129F9 H30H
NIR e F 2 REHTE (FTE36(a) °
720104124318 * 500,000,000/ J&
ZHRRAWERREE R ERTE (M
F36(b)) * A E N E E20114128
S1HIEFEBHEMBRE T -

iy HaENRERBREABENUET
SEZASEEE FHRERRREER
78,877,000 7t (2010%F : 78,877,000
BIT) c ZEERAEER - FE3%R
BIRERANBEE SRR BEEH
HMARMERTIHEEEARBREEY
JE S B R AKX AN 49443,635,00075 7T (2010
£ 1 290,205,000/ TC) °

28. &

The Group
xEH

2011 2010

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FET

Balance at 1 January MM A1B 2 &% - 338

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) & W B A Al (i E35) - (338)
Provision for environmental restoration BRBEEERIZ ILHERE 2

and discommissioning costs B 1,132 —

Balance at 31 December W12 A318 2 &6 1,132 —

The provision for environmental restoration and
discommissioning costs for 2011 represents directors’
estimated assets retirement obligations relating to the
Sanjiao PSC as set out in Note 37()). The amount in 2010
represented obligations relating to the oil and gas properties
located in the US, which was disposed of in December
2010.

0NFERBEEREFLEERE 2B E
FRE=RERD KA R (FARHTFE373)
Bl ESHFTEERE WA - 12010
F - ZAEEAREBR 2 BEREES
M EEWRE  ZEECLR2010612H
HE o
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T
29. BORROWINGS -SECURED 29. fEE—HEH
The Group
xEH
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FE T
Secured interest-bearing borrowings A & #H i B & &
On demand or within one year RERF—FRER 22,287 =
More than one year, but not BB —F  BETNBBMRE
exceeding two years 91,393 -
More than two years, but not BBRME BN HBARE
exceeding five years 194,300 -
307,980 -
Amount due within one year included FIAGEEE—F N2 2
in current liabilities k) (22,287) -
Non-current portion JEmEE 285,693 =

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
obtained borrowings of HK$61,596,000 (equivalents to
RMB50,000,000) and HK$246,384,000 (equivalents to
RMB200,000,000) from two parties respectively as follows:

On 19 September 2011, OEI, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, entered into a financing
agreement (“Agreement 1”) with Minsheng Financial
Leasing Co., Ltd (RESBMAERHBBER R F)
(“Minsheng”), an independent third party, pursuant
to which Minsheng advanced HK$61,596,000 under
certain conditions to OEl to be repaid by instalment
over three years. In the opinion of the directors, the
financing arrangement is in substance a secured
borrowing. This borrowing is secured by certain
gas exploration and evaluation assets of OEl with a
carrying amount of HK$57,807,000 (note 17) and a
personal guarantee from the Company’s shareholders,
Mr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr. King Hap Lee who are also
directors of the Company.

HZE2011F12A31BILFERN A5
2Bl B8 & A % 1561,596,000/8 7T (B E
» A R #50,000,0007T) %246,384,000
7T (M8 & W A R #200,000,0007T) 2
BE FHBWT :

(i)

2011F9A198 ' AL Bz 2 E W
BARRKZHBYE-FTRES
MEEROKAERAE ([RE]) F]
vEEHE (HBE—  BIER
A ) B 55 %2 78 (961,596,000 T -
ZRBERER=Fy HEERAET
ETHRE -EZERE ZRERH
EREFERBEEREBE 2 — Ut
BEBEzEARERERRTKREE
/57,807,000 7T 2 & T XA R #h
KEFHEEE (FH&E17) - LEA
ANAIREE/NELEERFEFIELAE
(ZRMARRRES) RE 2@
AR -

-

—— HREHRERER DA o 2011 F 3]
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29. BORROWINGS -SECURED (Continued) 29, & — BT (&)
(i) On 23 December 2011, OEl entered into another (i) 20114128230 @ Big L E¥E 7/

payiwi sBUIP|OH SED pue 10 OulS e |07 10day [enuuy

g
(o]

financing agreement (“Agreement 2”) with CDB Leasing
Co., Ltd (HR&@EEBMRAR]) (“CDB Leasing”),
an independent third party, pursuant to which CDB
Leasing granted a facility of RMB1,000,000,000 to OEl
to be repaid by instalment over five years, of which
RMB200,000,000 was to finance the exploration phase
which amount OEI| drew before 31 December 2011.
Pursuant to Agreement 2, OEl can only draw on the
remaining facility of RMB800,000,000 upon submission
of its ODP on the Sanjiao PSC to the NDRC and the
preliminary approval of the ODP to be obtained from
the NDRC on or before 30 June 2012. If approval of
the ODP is not obtained before 30 June 2012, any
drawn down made would immediately become payable
on demand.

The facility is secured by certain gas exploration
and evaluation assets with a carrying amount of
HK$359,882,000 (note 17), a guarantee deposit
of HK$5,866,000, all trade receivables from sales
generated from the Sanjiao PSC, all the shares of
OEl held by Power Great Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, 2,296,000,000 shares of
the Company, personal guarantee of Mr. Dai Xiaobing
who is a shareholder and director of the Company and
corporate guarantee by the Company.

In the opinion of the directors, the above financing
arrangement is in substance a secured borrowing.
As explained in note 37(i), the directors are confident
that the ODP will be approved by the relevant PRC
authority before 30 June 2012.

The borrowings under Agreement 1 and Agreement 2 carry
interest at effective floating rates ranging from 9.4% to
12.6% for the year ended 31 December 2011.

F=FEFEREEEFRAF ([H
BEMAED T LS —BRE K=
([Bz==)) r BUHBERSBEER
B I 27 42 i A R #1,000,000,000
TZBE ZRERIRAF D BE
& Bim L R2011F12 8318 A
B R EE H A R #200,000,00070
RARMEREE - BERZE = - By
ZEAMBERZRIBE=-RER
SR E Rl 2 ODP B 326 & 20124
6 H30H 3k 2 B #£ BODP& + 75 1]
12 BU | #4 % £2 A K #800,000,000
TCRLE - IR R M201266H30H
Z RIESODPHE « RIEIRENZ T
AIRIA R ERRANEE -

ZRECERLEEEREER
359,882,000 T 2 & T X%
REMREABEE (FFE17) -
5,866,000 T ERZE - =
RRERBB=—RELDKERE
ECZHEHEREER BEAR
BRAR (KRR ZZ2EK B R A
REZABERKZRG AR A
2,296,000,000% % 17 - &/ & %
E(RRRIZBRRERES) Btz
EAAER - LARARARMEZ AR
EIR o

EEZRA U LERMERHAEAE L
BEREERBE 2 — - WM
37()F FrfERE - E %= A 5/ 00DPH
7201296 H30H ~ A & A B + B
BT HE R B TE o

HE2011F12A31BIEEE - s — &
WE_BE T ZEENSRE  EERZ
R RNAR9.4%E12.6% 2 [E °
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

The Group and Company

(i) Convertible note issued on 30 April 2009

The Company issued a convertible note denominated in
HKD with a 2% coupon rate on 30 April 2009 and maturing

four years from the date of issue. The note was convertible
to 54,347,826 ordinary shares of the Company at the
holder’s option at the rate of HK$0.46 per share.

The fair values of the liability component and equity
conversion component were determined at the date of
issue. The fair value of the liability component was included
as non-current financial liabilities and calculated using the
market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible note.
The residual amount, representing the value of the equity
conversion component, was included in equity, net of
deferred income taxes, where applicable. Imputed interest
was charged at the rate of 14.12% using the effective
interest method. The convertible note was early redeemed
in full at a consideration of HK$25,000,000 in July 2010,
resulting in a loss on early redemption of HK$703,000.
Though the early redemption right constituted as an
embedded derivative in accordance with HKAS 32, the
fair value of this embedded derivative was value at nil by a
professional firm of valuers.

(i) Convertible note issued on 18 November 2010

The Company issued a convertible note denominated in
HKD with zero coupon interest and maturing in the third
anniversary of the date of issue of 18 November 2010
as part consideration for the acquisition of Power Great
Group as detailed in note 36(b). The nominal value of the
note was HK$780,000,000 and it could be converted into
ordinary shares of the Company at the price of HK$0.5
per conversion share. The Company had the right to settle
the redemption in cash or by the issue of conversion
shares at the conversion price or a combination of both
and had no obligations to redeem the convertible note in
cash, even if the bondholder requested to settle in cash.
The convertible note was accounted for as an equity
instrument, as in the opinion of the directors, the Company
had the option to issue shares at the conversion price on
maturity date. Accordingly, the nominal value of the note of
HK$780,000,000 was credited to the convertible note equity
reserve on the date of issue of the note. The convertible
note was fully converted to 1,560,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company before year ended 31 December 2011.

30. EH&H’:%E?E—% _

FEREREAT

() R20094F4H30H #7727 Aj B E1E
AN A A 7A20094F 4 A30H 2 17 LA T Et
BEEEBXR2% I BRERE 51T
HEIRTHFEANEE - ZRAKRERE
AZREAER0.46/E T2 B ERA
AR F]54,347,8260% LB AL o

BRI RERERT D 2 AFETIR
BITAHET BEXD 2 AFEESR
FERBUBEEAR  UFEARSFETA
BMREB TGN EGE - thEEEER
EnH o 2 EBEH MRELMEE (1
BA) BT AEZR -EEHNESZHT
BREEMNER1412%F B EBE A B AT
HoZA MR ZERE R FER2010567H
#% X 825,000,000/ T 2 BB - BE
A IR BB B F5$8708,00075 7T © & B
BIEE BT ERE325  ZieFRED
EEKBRARITETR  BREZEGEHE
MARGE ZRARTELAEZAF
BEOZT -

)  R2010F11 5180 %772 Al IR Z 1%
AN A & 2010511 188 #t it 5£36(b)
HRNEREREE 2 NRE - BT
B EZERB A BREE  ZAH®
REEBBRITHHBHE=AFIE -
= & {8 A780,000,0008 7T © Al LA &
BB AR P05 T2 BIREHR AR R
AEBARKR ARABAEUBR2IN 3k
RMRERTERBRMOD AR HERE
FimEBAAAZNEEDRE  BEE
FAREERBRKRER  BIFEEH
BEAZRKURES S (ER KB
- BFERA AIBRREBGRIE—ER
AITHE ARG ARENIERRBKRE
Bokh Bl EETEERER @
{6780,000,000/8 7L © EHEE # A Al 2
REEERFER ATRREREREE
20114F12 831 H (L F E A & B8 i & K
A @]1,560,000,0000% & 38 f%

-
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

The Group and Company (Continued)
(iii)  Convertible note issued on 13 July 2011

The Company issued convertible notes bearing interest at
5% per annum with a principal sum of HK$468,000,000 on

13 July 2011.

HKD and would mature in one year from the issue date. The
notes were convertible to 936,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company at the holder’s option at the rate of HK$0.5

per share.

The fair values of the liability component and equity
conversion component were determined at the date of
issue. The fair value of the liability component was included
as current financial liabilities and calculated using the
market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible note.

The residual amount,

conversion component, was included in equity, net of

deferred income taxes, where applicable.

The convertible note was fully converted to 936,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company before year ended 31

December 2011.

The convertible notes were denominated in

representing the value of the equity

. OIRIEER (48)
FREREAT (])
(i) R20114E7 H13H #7712 A 2R Z 1%
RNAFR2011F7HA1BEBEITFEE B

5% @ 7N % %8 /468,000,000 JT 2 A
W AT RS LA B %
THEBF —FREE - BRI KER
EAZBRENEROSE TZERERA
X 2 &]936,000,0000% & A% o

=

BE#N &*%Eﬁ?’ﬁ%%@% DZANFETIR
BROTBHMET BEFHPZAFEER
%Eﬁﬁﬁ’z%ﬁ\/\ﬁ% I FA [ &5 A 42
Hﬁ/\ﬁ%zmiﬁﬂj—v—n YRR
BBH 2 EE %u VEEFTS R (0
)&t At

AR EEHEEREE2011F12H31H 1k
FE A& 8 EE#5 K AQ §1986,000,000
fi% & B A% o
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The convertible notes recognised in the statement of

financial position are as follows:

BRI (&)

30. T
R EHR R R AT RBRBMT -

.1

Liability Equity

component component

BfEHS RN

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET F& T

At 1 January 2010 R2010%1 A1H 16,824 9,489

Imputed interest expense (note 8(a)) &R F & 3 H (M E8(a)) 1,452 =

Interest paid B E (292) =

Release of equity component OIS - (3,176)

Redemption of convertible note HE [O] AT M iR B4R (18,687) (6,313)
Loss on redemption of convertible BRI MARRE 2 B8 (HaE7)

note (note 7) 703 -
Face value of convertible note issued 2010411 5188 317 2 Al &

on 18 November 2010 (note 36(b)) B E A FE (i 5E36(0)) - 780,000

At 31 December 2010 7R2010F12H31H - 780,000

Face value of convertible note R2011FE7 A13H T 2
issued on 13 July 2011 AIMREEAFE 435,520 32,480
Conversion of convertible note AR R IR 2 8 (435,520) (812,480)

At 31 December 2011

MR2011412A831H

-

N— FEHRERERAF ¢ 2011 £

—_



-

Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k R Mt 5

31. DEFERRED TAX
Details of the deferred tax assets and (liabilities) recognised
and movements during the year were as follows:

FRNERZEERBEER (ARE) 27
BRESHMT -

Accelerated Intangible Tax
tax depreciation assets losses Total
3 B I8
heE EREE HIEEGE @t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET THETT TAET
At 1 January 2010 720101 H1H (779) (11,682) - (12,461)
(Charged)/credited to profit (1) /Fr AB =R
or loss (note 9) (FH5E9) (7,386) 35 4,714 (2,637)
At 31 December 2010 20105612 H431H (8,165) (11,647) 4,714 (15,098)
(Charged)/credited to profit or  (¥1E) 5F AEZH B
loss (note 9) (F15E9) (11,115) 20 8,825 (2,270)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 & (833) (1,001) 528 (1,3086)
At 31 December 2011 20115612 H431H (20,113) (12,628) 14,067 (18,674)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off when the deferred tax
related to same fiscal authority. The following amounts in
net, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

EERREERBBERIARERRHIH
TTHE NI 85 A BB AE 7R IR A [R) — B 755
BT HeEhEE -UTREREY
BARARBEEHREE S RFE -

N — pariwi sBUIp|oH seD pue |10 ouls e |10z 1oday [enuuy
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The Group
FEEH

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTET F&T
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBAE (82,741) (19,812)
Deferred tax assets R IBEE 14,067 4,714
(18,674) (15,098)
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32. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

a) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000 by each party. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 18% to 22% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The local government
authorities are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees.
The obligations are calculated based on a certain
percentage of the basic payroll.

33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company operated a share option scheme which was
adopted on 6 March 2002 (“old scheme”) for a period
of ten years commencing from 6 March 2002 whereby
the directors of the Company were authorised, at their
discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including
directors of any companies within the Group, to take up
options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The terms
and conditions of the grant were determined by the Board
at the time of grant. The exercisable period of an option
was not to exceed a period of ten years commencing on
6 March 2002. The options gave the holder the right to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 was payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of an option. Options were forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.

32. FEBRKEH

a) AEEBEEBAGELES
ZEH - RREBEE B EBEHZIE
ZEERTHRHMEATESE ([
Beirgll) - BT ETAEB
VIEFEABERZEBETGR NG
gloBERESTE  BERSRE
BEXBEEEEZBBKRAZ5%
EREE - S HFSABBEKRAL
20,0008 70 & LR o METEI{EL 2
RN FEEFTA ©

b) REFEEBESRAUNEER K
SE2HMBEMREMRTHEEEE
Z E BB TR KE M E B ([ F
tEl]) - Bt AKEEARAER
BEFHF N F18%E22%M Z F 5
ZEH MR - B IRT R RS R
NEKEEZ2MEREELSE
R ZFEANIRBEEAFE 2K
EBED LS -

33. RAGRLIRGBHARZE S

AN A R FA20024°3 A6 H £ 4 — 18 BE AR 1
sTEI([E5H8]]) - B20029F3A6H it
BHI0OF Bt ARG EZTERED
BRAEEREE (REASEEMMKE
RAIZEF)REBRE URBEARQ
ARG - BHZERREHHESER
BRERETE BREZATIEHTSE
FR B E2002F3 A6 A 5t + & - AR IE
BYHBEAENREARR L @R - &
REREZATRENBRER  BX
HEBAREIET - HWEBBEBAAS
AR U BB AR o

-

N— hEHRERERD T « 2011 £ 3]
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 33. KRFAGEHURBHEMRZR S
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48)
The Company adopted a new share option scheme on XA E 20105 A28 R 4y — 1H 37 18
28 May 2010 (“new scheme”). The new scheme is for a MRS (T375T&11) - FET 8 8520104
period of ten years commencing from 28 May 2010. Upon 5H28H 5T AH104F - FNFT T E1%
the adoption of the new scheme, the old scheme was ETEIEN &KL - BRIBIRIERT S 2 B
immediately terminated. The terms and conditions of the ERON - et Sl 2 @R MRS B E T 2
new scheme are the same as the old scheme except for the HHE - RIBEEFE 2 E M BEIRED
effective period of the option scheme. Any share options BEMN  WHEEERESTS 2GR -

granted under the old scheme are still valid and follow terms
of old scheme.

a) The terms and conditions of the share options that a) WUTNA#E#HZ=2011F128318 EF
existed during the years ended 31 December 2011 ERBEFEFECERE 2GR
were as follows and all options are settled by physical KigEH  FrEERELHBERERR
delivery of shares: NP AEE -

Contractual Contractual
Vesting exercise  Number of life of
Date of grant condition Exercise period price options options
R
REEH GRS TR AifTEE BREHE SHEH
"000
Fip
Options granted to directors:
RPES2ERE:
- on 22 August 2007 I[mmediately 22 August 2007 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.375 31,000 4.5 years
— 2007487228 M 200748228 E201243A5H 0.3757% T 45%
- on 21 August 2008 Immediately 21 August 2008 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.180 3,000 3.5 years
~1R200858 7218 ks 20088721 HE201263A5H 0180t 3.5%
-on 22 April 2010 Immediately 22 April 2010 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.390 7,000 2 years
—R201064 228 il 2010648228 2201243750 0.390% T pis
- on 6 December 2011 I[mmediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.276 12,000 10 years
—12011%12A68 M 201112 A6A E2021F12 A5A 0.27638 T 106
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 9 January 2011 to 5 December 2021 (i) HK$0.276 144,000 10 years
—~1201141276H 3 2011E1 898 22021512 A5H() 0.276/ T 10

(i) The grant of the Options was conditional upon the passing of (i) BERANE17.03 Q)F BT ERES
the necessary resolution approving the proposed refreshment MARRERAE EBBVERER
pursuant to Rule 17.03 (3) at a special general meeting BHERBZENAKEE REFIKRE
which was subsequently held and approved the proposed REZB B WHR2012F1 A &L E =2
refreshment in January 2012. HER
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

33. ﬁa:s.%éviaéﬁﬁ;xzaza )

TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (#8)
Contractual Contractual
Vesting exercise  Number of life of
Date of grant condition Exercise period price options options
Rl
BHAH FR&S fTiEHR aifTERE BREHE SHEH
'000
T
Option granted to employees:
BrES2ERE:
- on 26 January 2007 Immediately 26 February 2007 to 25 February 2012 HK$0.189 56,250 5 years
— 120074 1A 268 LS R200742826H £201242 8250 0.1897% T 56
- on 22 August 2007 Immediately 22 August 2007 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.375 338,190 4.5 years
— 120078228 s 1200748 R 220 £201243A58 037587 45%
-on 21 August 2008 Immediately 21 August 2008 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.180 6,000 2.5 years
—1A2008F8A21R il 200858721 HZ2012F3 350 0.180% T 2.5%
-on 22 April 2010 Immediately 22 April 2010 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.390 210,800 2 years
— 1201054228 M 2010F4F22B E201243A5H 0.3907 T 26
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.276 547,700 10 years
~ 1201112868 ks 201112 A6A 22021512 85R 027677 10
Total share options
BRiEay

1,365,940

-

N— hEHRERERD T « 2011 £ 3]
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33.

BASHUROHRZRS

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
of the shares options during the year was HK$0.456 (2010:
HK$0.47).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had exercise
prices of HK$0.375, HK$0.189, HK$0.180, HK$0.390 and
HK$0.276 (2010: HK$0.375, HK$0.189, HK$0.180 and
HK$0.390) respectively and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 1.36 years (2010: 1.2 years).

C) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured with reference to the fair value of
share options granted. The estimate of the fair values of
the services received is measured based on binomial lattice
option pricing model. Lives of the options are incorporated
into the model.

33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (#8)
b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share by BREZEE MINETEBOT :
options are as follows:
2011 2010
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise of share exercise of share
price options price options
IHEF In#E ¥ 15
TEE MEikERE TEE RERRMEEE
HK$ ’000 HK$ 000
#EIT T4 BT T15
Outstanding at beginning REF B ARITHE
of the year 0.351 711,840 0.233 967,950
Granted during the year FAKH 0.276 703,700 0.390 220,000
Exercised during the year FRNTTE 0.234 (59,600) 0.131 (476,110)
Outstanding at the end RERBRITHE
of the year 0.317 1,355,940 0.351 711,840
Exercisable at the end RERA TITE
of the year 0.322 1,211,940 0.351 711,840

FRN - EREETES 2 NEFER
18 50.4567 7T (20104 : 0.47/47T) °

R2011F 1283818 8 K175 88 & 4
ZiTEE D B A0.375% T~ 0.1897%
7T~ 0.180% 7T ~ 0.39078 7T }0.276/% 7T
(20104 : 0.375/%8 ¢ ~ 0.189/8 T * 0.180
7T 20.390/ 7T) - MMEFHIHRT A&
#9F H3 51.86%F (20104 : 1.24F) °

c) BREZAFERER
BRROEREMESRE ZAFET
SEMBLBREZATFEFE - AR
BT 2 RFETIRE — A R
BEBEA G ZEAEKEREZ
FHEFEER -
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 33. BREGHURKAIMZE S
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48)
c) Fair value of share options and assumptions c) BREZATFELRBRXR(E)
(Continued)
Fair value of share options and assumptions AR 2 A FERRE
Date of grant 6 December 22 April 7 November 21 August 22 August 26 January
2011 2010 2008 2008 2007 2007

BHBY 20114 20105 20085 2008 20074 20074

12H6H 4H22H 11A7H 8A21H 8A22H 1A26H
Fair value at measurement date HK$0.086 HK$0.087 HK$0.014 HK0.032 HK$0.035 HK$0.011
RtER#ZATE 0.0867& 7T 0.087%8 T 0.0148 7T 0.0327%8 7T 0.035/% 7T 0.011& T
Share price HK$0.275 HK$0.39 HK$0.06 HK$0.18 HK$0.375 HK$0.189
KB 0.275/%8 7T 0.39% T 0.06% T 0.18% 7T 0.3755 7T 0.189% 7T
Exercise price HK$0.276 HK$0.39 HK$0.18 HK$0.18 HK$0.375 HK$0.189
1718 0.2767%8 7T 0.3978 7T 0.188 7T 0.187%8 T 0.375%8 T 0.18978 T
Expected volatility 51.52% 72.06% 58.06% 50.73% 56% 33.7%
T H R &
Expected life 10 years 2 years 1 year 1 year 0.17 year 0.16 year
TR HY 106 2% 15 15 0174 0.16%F
Expected dividends 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
TEHIRR B

Risk-free interest rate

(based on the yields to

maturity of Hong Kong

Exchange Fund Note) 1.389% 0.58% 0.48% 1.63% 4% 3.725%
EE A &

(RERIIEEERE

kR R E)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility TEHASEIE I A PR i A & (R
(by reference to the weighted average remaining life of PRFEZ MEFEH RS FHAE) » IR
the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to AR B ER 2 TEE R RO B B (E
future volatility by reference to publicly available information. HEEE o TEEARR B YIRS IR B A AKIE o
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. TEHBE ALY AT AEMEER
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could BATE o

materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group recognised total expenses of HK$60,000,000 RAREE AEBHREERAEE
(2010: HK$19,200,000) in respect of the equity-settled LARR 5 1~ 3% 2 X 5 2 #8 % 460,000,000
share-based payment transactions during the year (note % 7t (20104 : 19,200,000 7T) (M 3%
8(0)). 8(b)) °

N— hEHRERERD T « 2011 £ 3]
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At the special general meeting on 16 August 2010,

the shareholders approved the increase in authorised
share capital of the Company from HK$100,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to
HK$250,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 shares of

HK$0.01 each.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive

dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to

one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary

shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual

assets.

B %5 #R 5= Bff 5 i
34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 34. EXRR#iE
a) Share capital a) BK&EX
(i) Authorised and issued share capital () JEEREZFITRA
The Company
AAT
2011 2010
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
48 B 4] R EE !
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’ 000
T TER TR THET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of B EE0.01B T
HK$0.01 each 2 EiBk 25,000,000 250,000 25,000,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &R E{E0.01/8 L 2 @A
At beginning of the year READ 9,141,478 91,414 4,386,148 43,861
Shares issued on exercise of 170 TR AR 75
warrants (ii) BT B i) 10,000 100 226,000 2,260
Shares issued under R BB ITRMD(V)
share option scheme (iv) 59,600 596 476,110 4,761
Shares issued on BB EITRGD V)
acquisitions (v) 312,000 3,120 1,560,000 15,600
Shares issued on placing (vi) 1R & B 1T R D) - - 2,493,220 24,932
Share issued on conversion of BB RERE
convertible notes (vii) BT IR A (vii) 2,496,000 24,960 = =
At end of the year RER 12,019,078 120,190 9,141,478 91,414

MR2010F8A16E IR R &FRI A g - IRE
#b o  ZN A 70E TE IR AR B3100,000,000
7 709 £10,000,000,0000% & I & (&
0.01% 7T 2 Ix 17 1% 1 Z=250,000,0007% 7T
9 /25,000,000,0000% & i% M {B0.017%

TTZ B

BREFEAARERTIEEIR RS
VWHEARRBAAG LBRAIE-RRERE -
PIEEBAREARRZBRTEEZAR

R
FHEE
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 34. EXREE(E)

a) Share capital (Continued) a) B&E(E)

(i) Issue of warrants (i) FEITRIRFEE

The Company entered into a separate agreement on AAFH2010F6 A7H K2010F11 10
issuance of warrants on 7 June 2010 and 10 November AEBII LB W - RIEZZ WS
2010. Pursuant to the agreements, the Company issued KRR DRI it BHZ S 50.018
600,000,000 and 250,000,000 unlisted warrants at the 7t }0.0057% JT Z f& 1% % 17600,000,000
price of HK$0.01 and HK$0.005 each on those dates 7 %250,000,00017 F£ £ 7 R Iz # 3F °
respectively. The contractual exercise prices of the warrants REEIZ2ENTEEI N REBRR
were HK$0.22 and HK$0.53 per subscription share, f# AR 190.225%8 7T % 0.53% 7T  FT 15 ;K 1A
respectively. The proceeds of HK$7,250,000 were credited 7,250,000/ 7T B 5T A RIREFE #& o

to warrant reserve.

(i) Shares issued on exercise of warrants (iif) TR IEERF B TTHR (7

During 2011, 10,000,000 warrants were exercised to 20114 + 10,000,00017 7R i #E 35 £ &
subscribe for 10,000,000 (2010: 226,000,000) ordinary 77 1% LA R 8 AN 22 §]10,000,0000% (2010
shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$2,200,000 #F : 226,000,000f%) EB®K  RE A
(2010: HK$49,720,000) of which HK$100,000 (2010: 2,200,000/ 7t (20104 : 49,720,000
HK$2,260,000) was credited to share capital and the B JT) 0 H 100,000/ & (20104
balance of HK$2,100,000 (2010: HK$47,460,000) was 2,260,000 T) st ARRAK » 88 T
credited to the share premium account. HK$100,000 (2010: 2,100,000/ Jt (20104 : 47,460,000/
HK$2,260,000) was transferred from the warrant reserve to JL) ET AR % E 8K o #E 1t - 100,000/
the share premium account accordingly. 7C (20104 : 2,260,000/ 7T) & B R %

RERBERERMNEER -

(iv)  Shares issued under share option scheme (iv) FZAERBELEZTR G

During 2011, 59,600,000 options were exercised to 20114 - 59,600,0001) 5 iz # 2 &
subscribe for 59,600,000 (2010: 476,110,000) ordinary 175 LA 3R B8 KN A 7]59,600,0004% (2010
shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$13,953,000 F :476,110,0000%) E@EK KE B
(2010: HK$62,284,000) of which HK$596,000 (2010: 13,953,000/ 7T (20104 : 62,284,000
HK$4,761,000) was credited to share capital and the & Jr)  HH596,000/%8 T (20104
balance of HK$13,357,000 (2010: HK$57,523,000) was 4,761,000 7t) st ABRA - 88 T
credited to the share premium account. HK$1,296,628 13,357,000/ T (20104 : 57,523,000
(2010: HK$7,966,000) was transferred from the share option B TT) 5t AR & B R o AR B B 52 4(p) (i)
reserve to the share premium account in accordance with ez &=t - 1,296,628 7t (2010
accounting policy set out in note 4(p)(ii). £ : 7,966,000/ 7T) B B I # E

BMERMDRER-

N— hEHRERERD T « 2011 F£ 3]
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

a) Share capital (Continued)
(v)  Shares issued on acquisitions

On 15 November 2010, the Company’s issued share capital
was increased by HK$15,600,000 through the issue of
1,560,000,000 shares as part of the additional consideration
to acquire Power Great Group as detailed in note 36(b). The
fair value of the consideration shares as determined by the
closing market price of HK$0.48 per share on 15 November
2010 amounted to HK$748,800,000. The premium on the
issue of new shares amounted to HK$733,200,000 was

credited to the share premium account.

On 9 December 2011, the Company’s issued share capital
was increased by HK$3,120,000 through the issue of
312,000,000 shares as an incentive consideration for the
acquisition of Power Great Group as detailed in note 36(b).
The fair value of these shares based on the closing market
price of HK$0.28 per share on 9 December 2011 amounted
HK$87,360,000. The premium on the issue of new shares
amounted to HK$84,240,000 was credited to the share

premium account.

(vi)

Shares issued on placing

During 2010, 874,000,000, 750,000,000 and 869,220,000
ordinary shares were subscribed at HK$0.198, HK$0.22 and
HK$0.45 per share and the corresponding proceeds were
of HK$173,052,000, HK$165,000,000 and HK$391,149,000
respectively. Accordingly, the Company’s issued share
capital was increased by HK$24,932,000 and the balance
of the proceeds of HK$689,061,000, after deducting direct
issued costs of HK$15,208,000, was credited to the share

premium account.

(vii)  Shares issued on conversion of convertible notes

During 2011, the convertible notes as set out in note 30(ii)
and (iii) were converted to subscribe for 1,560,000,000
and 936,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a
consideration of HK$780,000,000 and HK$468,000,000
respectively of which HK$15,600,000 and HK$9,360,000
were transferred to share capital and balances of
HK$764,400,000 and HK$458,640,000 were transferred to
the share premium account from the convertible note equity
reserves respectively. The direct costs of HK$15,716,000

were debited to the share premium account.

BRI ()

a) BE(E)

) B EZTIR G

M2010F 118158 © & B % 17
1,560,000,0008% A% 7 LA 1E & W i B
REE (FBHEHRKE36(0)) 225
HINKE  ARRZBE FEITRAIE N
15,600,000/ 7T « K E R D 2 A FE R
748,800,000/ jT + Jh #2010 11 A15
BzWmEFROASHE TEF - BI1TH
R {5 2 % {8 /733,200,000 7T * E &t A
AR 0@ E AR o

R2011F12 898 © & @ & 17
312,000,0008% B 17 LA 1E A Uk B Bl R S B
(B KT EE36(b)) < RENVRE - AR A2
B 217 AN 13,120,000/8 7T © % E M
B 2 A & &87,360,000/8 7t © JH E R
201112 H9R 2 WM (B & 1%0.287% 7T
EE - BT R 7 2% B A84,240,000
BT BEFARMDRER -

i) HEEFETRG

N2010% » 874,000,000 % -
750,000,0008% X869,220,000/% & i@ i
2 BiE & PR0.198% I ~ 0.227 7t }0.45
BT ZERERE  HEZMSHES
Bl /173,052,000 JT * 165,000,000/
70 }391,149,000/8 7T Bt * A A& Z
B %% 17 f% 7N 32 1024,932,0007% 7T ¢ 1 BT
15 X TE £2%8689,061,00078 7T (EHB% E
¥ 3 17 pX 4~15,208,0007% T) E &5t AR
mER o

(vij) Bt AR IR B IR TR (7
R20114 » Bt 5E30(ii) K (i) F7 & 7] #
& 2 E o 5l 8% & LA780,000,000
75 7T &% 468,000,000/ 7t 2 R B 5 5l R
f%1,560,000,000/% % 986,000,0004%
RAREBRMG - HH15600,000%
7T %9,360,000% ;L B AF ABR A » 82 T
764,400,0007% 7T &458,640,000/ 7T &
HARBREEERFEERERD RE
R ° 15,716,000/ T B # ik A B 5F A B
MmERET o
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 4. EXREEHEE(E)
b) The Company b) AAT
Convertible
Share Share  Contributed Share option Warrant  note equity Accumulated
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
AhEE  TRRER
kx  RBEE  S9RR ERERE fif  EhRE  RER Lh)
Notes  HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HKS'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
fist THT ThL THT Th THn TAT T THL
At 1 January 2010 R2010E171H 43,861 397,978 81,043 21,132 - 9,489 (478912) 74,591
Issue of share options HEhE 3 = = - 19,200 = = = 19,200
Shares issued under share R RESEELT
option scheme &k 34ai) 4,761 65,489 - (7,966) - - - 62,284
Redemption of convertible note  BE AT ARZE 30 = = = = = (6,313) = 6:313)
Release of convertble note ~ ATARER RS
equlty reserve REEE 30 - = - - = (3.176) 3,176 =
Shares issued on acquisition ~ FEMEETRA 34(a)l) 15,600 733200 = = = = - 748800
Issue of convertiblenote for ~ SEAEER{TH AR
acquisition 25 30 - - - - - 780,000 - 780,000
Shares issued on placing ERERTRA Sani) 24932 689,01 - - - - - 718993
Issue of warrants FAkEE 34{ali) - - - - 7250 - - 7250
Shares issued onevercise of 1T RARERERS
Warrants B M) 2200 49720 - - ) - -
Profit and total comprehensive  AEEEFI k2 E
income for the year b - - - - - - 17,720 17,720
At 31 December 2010 H010E128318 o414 19%48 G108 R0 490 TR000  (BO1G) 246745
Shares issued on exercise of T RRERER
Warrants & A 100 2,200 - - (100 - - 2,200
Issue of convertiole note MITRRZE 30 - - - - - 32,480 - 32,480
Shares issued under share ~ RETEH HE
option scheme &t 34(a)) 596 14,654 - (1,297) - - - 13953
Conversion of convertble notes  TERER 2 E# a)i) 24960 1,207,324 - - - (312,480 - 49,804
Shares issued on acquistion  SLMERTRA 34(a)ly) 3120 84,040 = = = = = 87,360
Issue of share options Mk 3 - - - 60,000 - - - 60,000
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AEEBHEREE
income for the year Lgntr - - - - - = (86,924)  (86,924)
At 31 December 2011 Ho0t1% 123318 120100 323866 81048 91060 489 - M%) 2996118

-

wW— REHRZERER DA o 2011 F 3]
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 34. EXRFEE (8)
c) Nature and purpose of reserves c) HEMERRE
(i) Share premium () BREE
Share premium represents premium arising from the issue R s B ABEHERD FREEERR
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share. TROMELEZTAI DK =E - K7D %
Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in BRI BEEUE ARl & EAB R AKM
paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to BaBFEEABRTZRBETROKNARED
equity holders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the REBHDIRMERE -

premiums on repurchase of own shares.

(i) Contributed surplus (i) AN ER

Contributed surplus arises when the Company issues shares KRB ZBRBHRKREARRAIETRG
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired, ARBETBEAMBARZERMD  HER
and represents the difference between the nominal value of ARG B ETROEEREI09F AE
the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets BEARRANBRGEEBH ARSI ETMm
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation T ZEBEAMBANB AR EESF
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s BErHEZEZB BEBFE—NL/N\—F
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the NEVE (BIEF]) - BABHKAIHEDIE T
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed EREFAEA AR MEBEATHIER -
surplus is available for distribution to equity holders. RKABTAIEIRORMNIKB B #ANE
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or SBRIEE DI -

make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

— it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay its - RS IR AT 18 BB A 5 ] BE R
liabilities as they become due; or FEENNHEE S %

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less - BREEZUEZREEERAE
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share ERETRARRM RER 2B -

capital and share premium account.

(i)~ Share option reserve (i) BRI

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the ERERESERAAREERLOCE
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options Bk het BB 2 M ARTTHEEREZ AT
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with 8+ I 2 4% BB 5E4(p)(i) st A B 1D X+t 2
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as RIBRIHEM S TR ERAR o

set in note 4(p)(ii).

(iv)  Warrant reserve (iv) RRIREEGE
Warrant reserve represents the equity component of RIEEEBEBRRAND R EIT 2RI
warrants issued by the Company. BRI D °
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(v)  Convertible note equity reserve

The reserve represents the equity component (i.e. option to
convert the note into shares) of convertible note issued by
the Company.

(vi)

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange

Exchange reserve

differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which are
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(0).

(vii) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents capital contribution from the
controlling owner in the form of interest-free loans. The
amounts are estimated by discounting the nominal value of
their non-interesting bearing loans to the Group at current
market interest rate for similar financial instruments. The
loan was fully repaid on 2010 and the reserve was reversed
accordingly.

34. EXREEH(E)
c) HEMERAREE)
() THREFESEE
BEREAAABRL 2 THRREE Y #
#EH (BB EBEIR ARG 2 RIBHE) -

i) [EXGFE
EXFREEERREETBAINER 28
BRMERMEEZMBINEEZR - IR
B &E4(0) T8l < & FTERRBE IR °

(i) B

BARBEEERRRARSEERZARA
FHZBATE - ZF & RILBUR K
TARTHSNEFMREBAEE(FH
ZESBERzZEEBEETMHE - ZEKE
R2010FBHEERFHED IFMLRED -

-

Ww— hEHRERERD T « 2011 F£ 3]
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31

December 2010

On 30 December 2010, the Group disposed of Ally Bond
Group, whose activities are in oil exploitation and sale of

crude oil. The net assets of Ally Bond Group as at the

completion date were as follows:

 HEMEAD

HE2010F12A31HILEERMHE
M AT

R2010F12830H - AEBEHERER
HARMEEZHASE - BHEER
KB EEFENT

HK$’ 000
F#& T
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) Y% - BE&&E(HE16) 28,103
Intangible assets (note 18) m A E (Fs18) 43,092
Pledged deposits EERTFR 1,130
Cash and cash equivalents e kReEEY 65
Other payables and accruals Hib N FIE RTEIRE R (1,708)
Provision (note 28) B (MY sE28) (338)
Net assets disposed of FTh&EEEFE 70,344
Reclassification from exchange reserve BEHREBEEFTDE (334)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR R 1,424
71,434
Gain on disposal (note 7) &z W (BFEE7) 68,566
Total consideration BB 140,000
Satisfied by: XfAR :
Cash consideration receivable (note 23(i)) P& W3R (B (B 5E23()) 14,000
Note receivable (note 24) FE W =& (Kt 3E24) 126,000
140,000
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEL ZH SR FE
Cash and cash equivalents balances FIHERERESEFEY
disposed of S (65)

Ally Bond Group did not contribute to the Group’s turnover
and a loss of HK$14,248,000 for the period from 1 January

2010 to the date of disposal.

H2010F1A1HEEZEHEHE A%
BREABAESBECEBLRER R2
JERK B 814,248,000/ 7T °



Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k R Mt 5

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. '::HEWE'AEJ ()

(CONTINUED)

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 HE2010F12AIBILEERHE
December 2010 (Continued) MEBAS (&)

On 30 December 2010, the Group disposed of King Giant R2010F12A30H * AEBEEERER
Group, whose activities are in oil exploitation and sale of MBI REE B BEH - EREFER
crude oil. The net assets of King Giant Group as at the ERBEHsEEFERAT

completion date were as follows:

HK$’ 000
FE T
Intangible assets (note 18) mE E (MisE18) 5,575
Trade and other receivables JE LS BR 5% e H Ath i MR R IR 294
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBREEEY 171
Other payables and accruals HEmpEmaEkiEiRER (271)
Net assets disposed of FTh&EEEFE 5,769
Reclassification from exchange reserve BEHREBEEFDE (1)
5,768
Gain on disposal (note 7) &z W (BEEE7) 4,232
Total consideration BRE 10,000
Satisfied by: SHRHAR:
Cash consideration receivable (note 23(i) & WOE € R (B (M sE23() 1,000
Note receivable (note 24) FEUWEE (K15E24) 9,000
10,000
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEL A SN HFE
Cash and cash equivalents balances FIHERSRREEEY
disposed of &R (171)
King Giant Group contributed HK$734,000 to the Group’s H2010F1A1HEEHERH  EB &
turnover and a profit of HK$266,000 for the period from 1 AR K E & 558 5 B734,0007% 7T -
January 2010 to the date of disposal. I A 3R 4 F1266,000/%8 7T ©

wW— hEHRERERD T « 2011 F£ 3]
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36. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

a) Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2011

(i) Kenwin Global Limited

On 4 November 2011, the Group indirectly acquired a
100% equity interest of Xian Lilong Petroleum Extraction
Technology Limited (“Xian Lilong”) by acquiring a 100%
equity interest of Kenwin Global Limited and Trillion
International Petroleum Extraction Technology Limited, the
ultimate holding and immediate holding company of Xian
Lilong. The acquisition has been accounted for as purchase
of assets and assumption of liabilities since the operation of
Xian Lilong does not constitute a business for accounting
purpose in that its mainly activity is to hold the operating
rights of the Jinzhuang QOil Field. Details of the cost of net

M B A

a) #HZE2011F12A31HILEEER
WREF B AT

() Kenwin Global Limited
MR2011F11H48 - A5 EFE B W E
Kenwin Global Limited X Fl| 2 B B f
FERE B R A A (7% FE A HFEK
it ARAR ([T ME]) 2 HEER
NEREEZERAF)100%0% £ f E#
U BE 78 22 R 100% A 42  m 7 70 &2 ) 2
ZEZEBREAESEHE I KERE
HiGERErms WAEK —TBER
HMEEREEREREEEE RAESR
BEAR - T EEFE 2K AFY W
T

W — panwi sBUIP|OH seD pue |10 ouls e |10z 1oday [enuuy

=
(o)}

assets acquired are as follows:

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T T F&T
Property, plant and equipment Y BB REE (HiE16)
(note 16) 35,078
Intangible assets (note 18) mREE (MsE18) 197,157
Other receivables E fib & W 3R IE 3,648
Cash and cash equivalents ReMAESEEY 423
Other payables and accruals Hippetm RTEIRE R (5,442)
230,864
Satisfied by: THRAR:
Cash consideration paid BERNESKE 39,862
Cash consideration payable (note 27) FERIR & RE (Hik27) 9,002

Transfer of refundable deposits AREZSEY (H7E25)
(note 25) 60,000
B EWER (M5E24)

Assignment of notes receivable

(note 24) 122,000
230,864
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition: FEUWEEEAE 2B EE
Cash consideration paid BENESRE (39,862)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired kR e MRS EEBY 423
(39,439)
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36. BB B 4 = (4)

36. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

b) Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the year b) #HZE2010F12A31HBILEER
ended 31 December 2010 Wi B Bt JB 2 B

(i)  Power Great Limited (i)  HERERADA

R2010F11 8150 » AEEBEBER
i 2R A R EVGE B R A Rl1100%A%
RET R4 W B B IR 22 100% AR 4 - R B8
T2 EER e ME X TEK —IHE
%M ERESREREEEE KK
EEEAR BRETEREEERHE -
FREREE - BRIBEMIELR DEREE
PEER - FTIB B EFE 2R ARSI T -

On 15 November 2010, the Group indirectly acquired a
100% equity interest of OEl by acquiring a 100% equity
interest of Power Great Limited, the holding company of
OEl. The acquisition was accounted for as purchase of
assets and assumption of liabilities since the operation of
OEl did not constitute a business for accounting purpose.
OEI solely engages in coalbed methane exploration,
development and production and the project is currently still

in the exploration stage. Details of the cost of net assets

acquired are as follows:

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHT T
Gas exploration and evaluation AARBBHERTHEE
assets (note 17) (FF5E17) 2,570,586
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BERE&E
(note 16) (FF=E16) 1,665
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBREEEY 4,682
Other receivables H h g W kI8 1,433
Other payables and accruals HEf A HERERER (269,566)
2,308,800
Satisfied by: AR
Cash consideration paid BENEERE 280,000
Cash consideration payable (note 27) e IR & RAE (Fi5E27) 500,000
Issue of ordinary shares at fair value BERAFEZRTEBR
(note 34(a)(v)) (Bt 5E34(a)(v)) 748,800
Issue of convertible note (note 30) BT AR 28 (M9 7E30) 780,000 -
i
2,308,800 &
"Lu
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition: FEUWEEEA 2R mHEE ;
Cash consideration paid BERNBESKE (280,000) I
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrER e RESEEY 4,682 %ﬁ
&
&=
(275,318) il
&
|
137
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36. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
b) Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)
(i) Power Great Limited (Continued)
As part of the consideration was settled by the Company’s
equity instruments, the acquisition was an equity settled
share-based payment transaction. According to HKFRS 2,
the fair value of the equity instruments should be recognised
based on the fair value of the net assets acquired. However,
the directors of the Company considered that it would be
more prudent and appropriate to measure the fair value of
the net assets acquired by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments issued, as the valuation of the Group’s
participating interest in the Sanjiao PSC was based on the
reserve of the coalbed methane resources, which could not
be reliability measured at this moment.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, if OEl could
demonstrate within one year from the date of completion of
the acquisition by the Company that the aggregate of the
proven reserves, probable reserves plus possible reserves
of the coalbed methane field attributable to OEIl under the
Sanjiao PSC showed a 15% increase over the aggregate of
such reserves in a competent person’s report and reached
an amount not less than 663.8 bcf., the consideration for
the acquisition would be increased by HK$156 million, to
be satisfied by the issue and allotment of 312,000,000
new shares of the Company at the issue price of HK$0.5
per share (“Incentive Shares”) within one month after the
production of such a competent person’s report.

On 14 November 2011, OEl produced to the Company
a competent person’s report showing proven reserves,
probable reserves plus possible reserves of the coalbed
methane field attributable to OElI under the Sanjiao PSC
as of 31 October 2011 to be 669.5 bcf.. As a result, the
Company allotted and issued the Incentive Shares to the
vendor on 9 December 2011. The fair value of the shares
of HK$87,360,000 (note 34(a)(v)) at HK$0.28 per share was
debited to the gas exploration and evaluation assets (note
17).

BB 2 ) ()

b) #H=2010FE12A31HIEEER
WeBEB B AT (48)
(i)  HEBRA A (E)
AN EKREREABAZEFELY
PREBAATNZB/ATALN - K
BE-ERAGEEURONRZZS -
REESYBRE LR F2H WAL
B ATFEERERBAESEFEZA
FETAER - AT ARATEERE -
MRAAEBR=ERIKARASH
BRAZHENRBEBREEREMIE
HeomMEBRETEMBRAKE  HE
e B E S E A FERIAE T BT
ZEATAZ AFEEREZERAEE
REE -

t

&
i3

BIEWRERZ  NRIETENERER
AWEE TR 2 AT —FRBARRE=
REBAKAER BRI EGEER B
ZEHRARE  BMHHEENTEREZ
BREBTREERATRERT 2B
HELAEIERIS% BHEEITLR
6,63818 32 77 IR - B s X (& #5318 0
156,000,000/ 7T ' Rz A B/ ALTHRE
EXEE—HEAAN FRAFETEIRARN
A]312,000,000% & i 3 178 £0.57% 7T
ZE R, ([ERENAR G5 ]) 24T o

R2011F11 148 » BT R AR 8RR
R—MEEBEBALTRE  MEBTIRE
=REMmOAOKER  BERTEMGEER
HzEHhBHEE MRESENATERE
H E2011F10A31H A6,695(8 37 /5 &
R e F - ARQAEE R2011F12H9H
MBS DR RETRERD - LAEAR0.28
IR 2 2 7% F ik A F {E87,360,000
78 7T (F 5E84(a)(v)) B sT ARA R BN K&
S EE (MsE17) 2Eh °
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37. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS

The Group currently has two production sharing

arrangements and two development contracts in respect of

the development and production of coalbed mathane, crude

oil and natural gas in the PRC.

(i)

On 28 March 2006, OEl (which the Group acquired on
15 November 2010 as set out in note 36(b)) entered
into the Sanjiao PSC with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd (“CUCMCL”) (the “PRC
partner”) for the exploration, development, production
and sale of the coalbed methane and other related or
derivative products that may exist in a total exploration
area of approximately 461.74 square kilometers
subject to reduction in accordance with the Sanjiao
PSC located in the Erdos Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi
Provinces in the PRC (the “Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao PSC, OEl is engaged as the
foreign partner and operator to provide the necessary
technology know how and assign its competent
experts to explore, develop, produce and sell coalbed
methane or coalbed methane products extracted from
the Contract Area. OEl and the PRC partner have
formed a joint management committee as required
under the Sanjiao PSC and appointed representatives
as members of the committee (the “Joint Management
Committee”). The Joint Management Committee is
responsible to oversee the operation in the Contract
Area.

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interest
and associated obligations with respect to certain gas
fields, including the areas covered by the Sanjiao PSC,
to PetroChina CBM. The transfer was approved by the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
PetroChina CBM
joined the Joint Management Committee of the Sanjiao
PSC. after replacing CUCMCL as the PRC partner.

Commission of the State Council.

37. ERHKAFREEEF

AEBEEMETEAMBAELAKER R
HERARFAEREERBZEEDK
ZHRMBAZERAR -

R2006F3H28H  Big & (K&
B ®»2010F11 158 W B Z A A
(F R sE36(b)) )RR B E B R A
REFEAR (REEER]D (T4
H# #J) ETM_@:XEDDDW
AR BRERBMRPELAEE X
PREE 2 BRZ B2 =X Em
SERER ([GRME]) #HiE - [
% AR RIEE A BEEA461.74F
FABRMEEE (BFER) A
FuHEzZEERREMBBESITEE

o)
on °

RE=XRXEmDOKER - BIm<(F
RINTRHEREER RESELZ
BiTAE R RIRER 2 ERARE
[ 3 [ Hh R - PO - EE RIHERT
REZEEBRIKEREM - B
REPTEHERBE=ZREMDK
ERZRRIBAEEZREER
ZERKREEZZES (Wﬁ%”é‘?J)

ZHKE BMECAEEESRMBE
2 EE

200954 H » & B FEHR
%%%ﬁaa(a?%ﬁﬁﬂ REmMD

ﬁXAHFﬁEE%ZE%*)ZEJE&*
AETEBR TR O HKER © %2

%%ﬁ-aﬁéli&ﬁlﬁﬁéﬁﬂﬁﬁ
ZEEHE BRI BIEERK A
RERHE PORMEEREIMA

EREMOKRABRZBES

-
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37. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS

AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Under the Sanjiao PSC, the development of the
Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase
and production phase. OEl is required to conduct
core testing and run pilot production to ascertain the
potential commercial value of the coalbed methane
field in the planned exploration area.

The exploration phase has an initial term of four years
and expired on 1 July 2010. The PRC partner has
extended the exploration period to 30 June 2012 in
order to develop a larger production scale. Based
on the supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao
PSC dated 28 October 2010, the exploration period
was extended to 6 years to 30 June 2012. All costs
incurred in the exploration phase shall be borne by
OEIl. The project will enter the production phase
once OEl has developed and submitted the ODP and
obtained the preliminary approval by the NDRC.

On commencement of the production phase, all the
development and operating costs shall be borne as
to 70% by OEl and 30% by the PRC partner, except
if the PRC partner chooses not to participate in a
particular site. If the PRC partner chooses not to
participate in a particular site, all the development and
operating cost will be fully borne by OEl. Also, the
PRC partner’s participation can be less than 30% for
certain wells in respect of which the PRC partner will
not need to bear the development costs or will bear at
a specifically agreed percentage. As a result, the profit
sharing ratio will be adjusted according to their actual
participating interest in the coalbed methane field.

(&)

RE=XXEmDOKER  aRMLE
ZHABEDIRBERAREES - BiF
ZAETERZRNANAEAREE
REWRREAZKERAZEER
XEE-

B R B R BRI U 5 - 201047
R1BE® - R A BHE EHIERE
EHIE2012F6 A30R « E K&
ERE B B H A2010610A8
28HZ=REMDKE R #
& R EIRR B EHI N F E=2012
F6H30H - MR BHEELE ZMA
FX 7N FE B BB I 2 AR E o RIn R E
NMIRZZODP » WHERENE IS4t
KR BEBEANEERE -

EEEHRMAR  MARRREE
KAKEmRRInE P HEHESE
1270% K% 30%.2 Lt Il & - 1 i R
FRMHEET2HERKE BT
25 BIERIGR - AR A B HEET
LEARARE BT ARER
e RERMAHEL AR 2 AR RE
RN o WA - RS BT E T B
KA ZL2EINA A DHR0% © M
BB BBAE BT 25
RECAR - XA E—EERIBE
=T s A S Bl - i | a0 e <
EREFESENEERBZER
SHEERMELFE -
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37. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The Sanjiao PSC has a term of thirty years, with
production period not more than twenty consecutive
years beginning from the date of commencement
of commercial production to the expiry date of the
production period as specified in the ODP, unless
production is suspended or abandoned in accordance
with the Sanjiao PSC or under special circumstances,
the production period can be extended with the
approval of the relevant PRC authority.

Sanjiao PSC is currently in the exploration stage. As
explained in note 3(b), the Group anticipate to submit
the ODP to the NDRC by middle of May 2011. As
advised by the Group’s legal counsel, there should
be no obstacle in obtaining preliminary approval of
the ODP from the NDRC once the ODP is submitted
by PetroChina CBM and the approval process will
normally be completed in ten working days time.
Accordingly, the directors are confident that the ODP
will be preliminary approved before 30 June 2012
when the Group will be allowed to commence the
production and distribution of coalbed methane.

Details of the Jinzhuang crude oil and natural gas
production sharing arrangement are set out in note 25.

The Group’s interests in the Sanjiao PSC and the
Jinzhuang PSC constitute jointly control operations
and are accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy as set out in note 4(e).

37. &

EARAFAREBEAR (@)

(&)

=REmMAKRERASH=1TF &
ENFOREEERAEREES
ERFMA REBEEBERAIM
BE)RILETAIZREE —+4
BRIERBE=REmIKAREEFLE
EFIMELEELHAFH BN EED
EEBTBERTHBILETER -

W =REmDKE R IEERBR
B o 40 Bff 7E3(o) P it - AN &= B FE A
2011465 A /1 &) Al [A] B B & R AT
ODP © ¥ a7 & B A Ba fE At -
—BHRAEREERAFIRZZODP

i RALBREBEEENTEL
EEBRRATK - Al - EFHEE
ODP# 12201246 4308 2 Al % 1]
SHE - ERAEESEERREE
RZEERDH -

TERBARRKAREES KL
AIE B P FE25 -
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EEROKERZEZBERERE
Bl 2 %% WRBEK T4 EZ
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37. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS

(Continued)
(i) During 2009, the Group acquired through a transfer (i) 2009 W @ NEEFEBEEWHZ

A — paywi sBuIp|oH seD pue |10 oulS « | L0z Hoday [enuuy

—_
N

agreement and an assignment agreement the rights
and obligations to participate in two oil exploitation
projects for the exploitation, development and
production of a number of oil wells, each for a period
up to 2028. The oil wells of these projected are
separately located in Liuluoyu, Shaanxi Province,
the PRC (the “Liuluoyu Oil Field”) and in Yanjiawan,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC (the “Yanjiawan Oil
Field”). The Group also acquired, under the transfer
agreement and assignement agreement, the business
assets including oil and gas properties, the rights to
use the on site plant, machinery and facilities for the
exploration, evaluation and development, and assumed
the liabilities assoicated these oil fields.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers,
the Group is entitled to the rights and obligations
of the development contract and participate in the
exploitation and production of crude oil in the Liuluoyu
Qil Field and Yanjiawan Qil Field. Since the Group has,
in practice and substance, the power to govern the
financial and operational policies over the operation of
the oil fields, the Group consolidated the results of the
oil production and the related assets and liabilities of
these oil fields into its financial statements.

kEZEHZ KE2HEREALR
FHIEE 2N RET AR
REREEZEHt HAEBE
2023F - ZEFHEB 2@ H DRI
7R PR A D& WA (9% WA i
H) RTPBERAEBRE (AR
EHE]) c AEEBETMRERRE G E
MEZEGZREXBEE (B
REE) Rt #E - sFTERAEE
RAME - a5 Kk RiE 2 R - I
BEZEHAHAEHECABE -

REBEARFNPEEZERZE
R AEEHRERESR T 2R
K EAE - I A] 2 SR A B N R
REHAZFHFARREE - AR
AEERBERENEEZS A
LBEZMBEREEREK  FHAE
BE®ZSTmE 20 HEEREN
RBEERABEHIIARGRE
HK
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38. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH
TRANSACTIONS

(@)

During the year and as set out in note 36(a)(i), the
Group settled the consideration for the acquisition
of Kenwin Group by (i) transfer of refundable deposit
paid to the vendor of HK$60,000,000 from other
assets (note 25); (i) assignment of a note receivable
of HK$122,000,000 (note 24) to the vendor; and (i)
cash of HK$48,864,000 of which HK$39,862,000
was paid and the balance of HK$9,002,000 remained
outstanding and included in “Other payables and
accruals” (note 27) as at 31 December 2011.

During the year, the Group allotted and issued
312,000,000 ordinary shares as incentive shares for
the acquisition of Power Great Group (note 34(a)(v)).

During 2010 and as set out in note 36(b)(ii), the Group
settled the consideration for the acquisition of Power
Great Group by (i) issue of 1,560,000,000 shares of
the Company (note 34(a)(v)); (i) issue of a convertible
note with a carrying value of HK$780,000,000
(note 30); and cash of HK$780,000,000 of which
HK$280,000,000 was paid and the balance of
HK$500,000,000 remained outstanding and included
in “other payables and accruals” (note 27(i)) as at 31
December 2010.

During 2010, the Group disposed of Ally Bond Group
and King Giant Group for a total consideration of
HK$150,000,000, comprising cash consideration
of HK$15,000,000 and promissory notes of
HK$135,000,000 (note 24). As at 31 December 2010,
the cash consideration receivable was unpaid and
included in “trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments (note 23(i)).

During the year, interest on borrowings of
HK$4,555,000 (2010: HK$196,000) was capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation assets (note 8(a)).

During the year, provision for the environmental
restoration and decommission costs of HK$1,132,000
was included in the gas exploration and evaluation
assets (note 17).

(a)

38, EXEBEETS

FEA N EES6(a) () FT - AN = E
EEBIEEXREMEERES
Y {4 2 1] R B #7 £60,000,000%
7T (Bt 5£25) ¢ (ii)/m & 5 B E E UK
= $£122,000,0005 7T (Mf 5524 ) :
K (iii) 3R 448,864,000 jT (H &
39,862,000 T B X 15 - 858
9,002,0007% 7T 1) & X f-F I 51 AR
2011123318 2 [ E A FE - 5B
KIERERIA (FF27))  HUk
EKenwineE 2 (B -

FRN KN EBE R OBE K BT
312,000,000/ & @ A% » 1 & WEE
BiR S B 2 ZE R (M 7E34(a)
(v)) °

2010 A - 0 M 5£36(b)(ii)FT
Mo AEEFEB)BTARA
1,560,000,0008% i% 2 (K 5£34(a)
(v)) 5 (ii)& 77 BR M 18 A&780,000,000
B Z AR EERE (HF30)
¥ I8 £780,000,000/8 Tt (& &
280,000,000 L B X 1 * % &
500,000,000 7t 3 & 32 = 37 5+ A
201012 A31 8 2 [ H fb it 3%
BRERER]A (HFE2760)) X
MKERRER ZNAE -

2010F A - "&E BN BRE
150,000,000/ T HEH A LB R E
BEE - B EHR £ R {E15,000,000
7 7T & 135,000,000/ 7T 2 # i, =
& (f5E24) - 20105128318 -
REREBEEKRASZST  FFATE
U BR K - bR EE e T8
F#0E ] A (B EE23() ©

FREEFBE4555000% T
(20104 : 196,000/ jt) & & &N
{tERXARTMELTHEE (B
8(a)) °

FRN - REEENELLFEREEEG
1,132,000/ 7T B 5t A KA & &) &
L EEER (H5E17) °

-
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38. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(99 During the year, other assets amount of
HK$105,802,000 was transferred to property, plant
and equipment as oil and gas properties (note 25).

. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher
owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the
Group consists of net debts, which include other payables
and accruals, provisions and borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issue as well as the issue of new debts or the
repayment of existing debts.

CEXEBST S (H)

(9 A 105,802,000% T 2 £t &
EWEEME BEMXRE EA
HREE (BsE25) °

. BXEH

AEEEREAZEZARNREALE
EREMEBASBLEEELE M
B EE K RYEZ Em MRS E
BUNESAEKRAZRE HELHE
B A BiE Bl N A7) E At K 25 48 B8 & 5 R

Nz
M a e

AEEEGLERAHEARBERERS
RER fMERSEEKFEERTH
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39.

40.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2011 and
2010 were as follows:

.BAXRER(E)
MR2011F K2010F12 A31H 2 &% /FE
HEZL RN

The Group
AEE

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHETT FHET

Total debts: BEARE -
Other payables and accruals Hibpe B RTEIRE R 546,149 878,952
Borrowings B 307,980 =
Provisions B 1,132 =
855,261 878,952
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERREEED (344,451) (242,529)
Net debts B R E 510,810 636,423
Equity T 3,060,956 2,528,375
Net debts-to-equity ratio B FEEE L X 17% 25%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgement, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

40.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

(i) Participation in oil and gas exploitation and production
in the PRC

By way of a transfer agreement and an assignment

agreement, the Group has acquired the rights and

Each

development contract enables the Group to participate in

obligations of two development contracts.

an oil and gas exploitation project to produce crude oil and
natural gas in an oil field in the PRC. Significant judgement
is required from the directors that the Group has the rights
to participate in, and the power to govern the financial and
operational policies of the exploitation and production of
crude oil and natural gas in oil fields in the PRC so that
the Group is entitled to consolidate the results from the
operation of these oil exploitation projects into the results of
the Group.

(i) Acquisition of subsidiary

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured
at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. When an entity acquires
an asset or a group of assets, careful analysis is required to
identify whether what is acquired constitutes a business or
represents only an asset or a group of assets that does not
constitute a business and determining whether a particular
set of integrated activities and assets is a business may
require significant judgement.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (Continued)

(iii)  Units of production amortisation of intangible assets
Intangible assets are amortised using the units of production
method over total proved developed and undeveloped oil
reserves. This results in an amortisation charge proportional
to the depletion of the anticipated remaining production
from the field. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually,
having regard to both its physical life limitations and to
present assessments of economically recoverable reserves
of the field at which the asset is located. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions, including
the amount of recoverable reserves. The calculation of the
units of production rate of amortisation could be affected
by actual future production which may differ from current
forecast production based on total proved reserves.
Changes to proved reserves could arise due to changes
in the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves,
including price assumptions. If there is any changes in
the assumptions used, the calculation will be changed
prospectively.

(iv)  Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement
in determining whether it is likely that future economic
benefits are likely either from future exploitation or sale or
where activities have not reached a stage which permits
a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves.
The determination of reserves and resources is itself
an estimation process that requires varying degrees of
uncertainty depending on sub-classification and these
estimates directly impact the point of deferral of exploration
and evaluation expenditure. The deferral policy requires
management to make certain estimates and assumptions as
to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an
economically viable extraction operation can be established.
Any such estimates and assumptions may change as
new information becomes available. If, after expenditure
is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting
that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant
capitalised amount is written off in profit or loss in the
period when the new information becomes available.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (Continued)
(v)  Going concern assumption
Management makes an assessment of the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern when preparing the financial
statements. The Group is dependent upon the preliminary
approval of the ODP by the NDRC and the successful
implementation and outcome of the measures as set forth in
note 3(b) in order to meet the Group’s future working capital
and financing requirements. In assessing whether or not
the going concern assumption is appropriate, management
takes into account all available information about the future,
which is at least but is not limited to, twelve months from
the approval date of the financial statements. If the Group
were unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded
assets and liabilities may need to be incorporated in the
financial statements.

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.

(i) Impairment of receivables

The Group maintains impairment allowance for doubtful
accounts based upon evaluation of the recoverability of the
trade receivables and other receivables, where applicable,
at each the end of reporting period. The estimates are
based on the ageing of the trade receivable and other
receivables balances and the historical write-off experience,
net of recoveries. If the financial condition of the debtors
were to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be
required.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent
that management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(iv)  Contingencies

Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or
any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult
to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such
actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine
if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the
settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether
a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any,
can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group
accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates
and judgement are reasonable, it is possible that certain
matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(v)  Oil and gas reserves
Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas reserves
are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgement involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to
be met before estimated oil reserves can be designated as
‘proven’ and ‘probable’. Proven and probable oil and gas
reserve estimates are updated on regular intervals taking
into account recent production and technical information
about each oil and gas field. In addition, as prices and cost
levels change from year to year, the estimate of proven and
probable oil and gas reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in the related
amortisation rate for of intangible assets.

Despite the inherent imprecision, engineering estimates are
used in determining amortisation charges and impairment
losses. The capitalised costs of oil exploitation rights
and operation rights are amortised using the units of
production method based on the proven and probable oil
and gas reserves. The useful lives are reviewed annually in
accordance with the production plans of the Group and the
proven and probable reserves of the oil fields.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(vi)  Estimation of impairment on exploration and evaluation
assets

The Group tests the exploration and evaluation assets

for impairment according to accounting policies stated

in notes 4(h) and 4(q).

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

The assets are reviewed for

indicate that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset
or a cash generating unit is determined based on value-
in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions
and estimates. While conducting an impairment review of
the assets, the Group makes certain judgement in making
assumptions about the future gas prices and production
costs, changes in these estimates may result in significant
variance to the statement of comprehensive income.

(vii)  Estimation of assets retirement obligations

Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of oil and gas properties. The amount of
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc.
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure are also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil properties. Changes
in any of these estimates will impact the operating results
and the financial position of the Group over the remaining
economic lives of the oil properties.

(viii) Recognition of share-based expenses

The Company has granted share options to directors and
employees. Management has used valuation model to
determine the total fair value of the options granted, which
is to be expensed over the vesting period. Significant
judgement, such as risk free rate, dividend yield and
expected volatility and expectations of early exercise, is
required to be made by management as the parameters for
applying the valuation model. Accordingly, any changes to
the variables adopted may materially affect the estimation of
the fair value of share options.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit,

liquidity, interest rate, currency risks

and commodity price risk arises in the normal course of the

Group’s business. These risks are limited by the Group’s

financial management policies and practices described

below.

a) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a

customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to

meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from

the Group’s trade and other receivables and cash at banks.

() Trade and other receivables

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade

and other receivables. Management has a credit policy in

place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored

on an ongoing basis. As at 31 December 2011 and 2010,

the Group had a significant concentration of credit risk as

100% (2010: 100%) of total trade receivables was from one

customer.

(i) Cash with banks

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing

cash and deposits with financial institutions that meet

the established credit rating or other criteria. Given these

high credit ratings, management does not expect any

counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BIEEISEE (8)
(Continued)
b) Liquidity risk (Continued) b) REBELERE(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as HHRAaEEzEHEEBERAT
below:
Total More than ~ More than 2
contractual Within 1 1 year but years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than 2 Less than
The Group amount cash flow demand years 5 years
k]
BHRFR 15/ 1ENE 2E L
XEE fREE ReReE HHEKR B2 T {B5E T
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 00
TAT THL TET T THL
2011
Non-derivatives: JEATAE -
Other payables and accruals HipENZFERERER 546,149 546,149 546,149 = =
Borrowings fa & 307,980 396,470 52,808 118,772 224,800
Total @ 854,129 942,619 599,047 118,772 224,800
2010
Non-derivatives: FEATE -
Other payables and accruals HiwERZERERER 878,952 880,317 880,317 = =
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rates and
terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed
in note 29 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss for the year by approximately
HK$3,079,000 (2010: HKS$NIl). The sensitivity analysis has
been determined assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the
borrowings in existence at that date. The 100 basis point
increase or decrease represents management’s assessment
of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual reporting date.

d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2011 and 2010, no
related hedges were made by the Group.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. ﬁﬁ%lﬁllﬁ%ﬁ(%)

(Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued) d E&¥EKE(E)

(i) Exposure to currency risk () ATERXZ EEE R

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TRV ASER K ESHHELERBHRA
end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from BMRANEBEEZINEEBUINZ B
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency SEZEESBEMEAR 2B R
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they B -BREREIMBREEBRRNR B2
relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between B MZEESTINEFRE R 2 e
group companies where the denomination of the balances BN EEETE -

is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower.

The Group AEH
2011 2010
Australian Australian
dollars usb RMB dollars Usb RMB
A% E3 N B e N
’000 ’000 ’000 '000 '000 '000

Fr Fr Fr T T T

Trade and other receivables JE R 30 e A A B W50 - - - - = 406
Note receivable * ERFE 1,949 - - 1,949 - -
Deposits paid BEfifEe - 8 2,015 - 59 2,095
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 1 43 32 1 1 106
Amounts due from group companies  JEEE A FIFE - 9,071 175,601 = 922 3,883
Trade and other payables ERERRAMENTE - (10,652) (42 = (78,667) =
Amounts due to group companies ENEBARIE - (10,001) (3,300) - (100) -
Overall net exposure BRERFE 1,950 (11,251) 174,306 1,950 (77,785) 6,490
* Included in interest in a jointly controlled entity * MARLRIZEEEE AR 2R

VI— A EHRIERER DT « 2011 £ 3]

—_
~N



Notes to the Financial Statements

R ESTE: .

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s (loss)/profit after income tax expenses (and
accumulated losses) and other components of consolidated
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an decrease
in loss/increase in profit and other equity where the HKD
weakens against the relevant currency. For a strengthening

 HEEREE (&)

d &¥EREE&E)
(i) BRI
TRETHRBREARERSERNEEE
REARNRERRZIMNEE KA fE 2 & B E
ERAEERMAEH L& (BB 8
M (R REEE) A RS B H A
MOZHNED -FRESNMEEEE
ARAIE &SR MEFEHTIAET
HIET 2N ERIAIN 2 B FHE - fi
BTEREAREBE ZEXRRKS U TER
KraMEE Nk E bR -
EEATREBER ZEXRES - RIATRE
HEDREMESEKNSESFRERR
TE O BATEHRAES/ER-

payiwi sBUIP|OH SED pue 10 OulS e |07 10day [enuuy

Ul —
(o]

of the HKD against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss and other
equity, and the balances below would be negative.

The Group AEE
2011 2010
Decrease Increase
in loss in profit
after after
taxation taxation
and Effect on and Effect on
decrease in other decrease in other
Weakening  accumulated components Weakening accumulated components
in HKD losses of equity in HKD losses of equity
Rtk Kk
BRAY it RIS GERAM
REitE iAo EST ands
ETRE By 2He ATRE BED a7
% HK$'000 HK$' 000 % HK$'000 HKS' 000
% TR TER % AL iR
RMB ARE 4% 8,589 - 3.5% 268 -
Australian dollars R 12% 1,853 - 12% 1,863 -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. BREEEEE(E)

(Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued) d E&¥EKE(E)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i) HEESHT (E)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that R E 5 M7 Th R 5% IINDE BB =R 2 = ) A 3R
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the EHRERBEREREHAEEET
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the EERERAZATEZMBIEMIR
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial ZEERE mMAABEEMEH (LER
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other FE)RFBIAEETE -

variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment Fruiz EHEEEEBEHERS N —ERSE
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates MM RIEAIM 2 INEE R & 12 2
over the period until the end of the next reporting period. e Eeogmtms BESTRE
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between THEERIeTNETHBEME
the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected by MeEMBEZSH cERTE - EXRF
any changes in movement in value of the USD against other TZDMERBEHAEBETSERIZ
currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the above ENMEEETEWIEREBEASRE 2
table represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the RITEEXRERBTUAHES 2B 2Kk
Group entities’ profit after income tax expenses and equity TSR HE e RS o Ea%E o
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated 2N TR EB2010F fHR 2 EEH T ©

into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting
period for presentation purposes. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2010.

e) Commodity price risk e) FEmEEEKE

The Group engages in petroleum-related activities. The oil AEBREEARMBBEZER - AET
market is affected by global and regional demands and BRXEHREMEBEERKRKBEREITE o B E
supplies. Prices of onshore crude oil are determined with R ER T2 BB TS 2 R h 815 1
reference to the prices of crude oil on the international oo Bl RIEERE MBI TR A sE A
markets. A decline in the prices of crude oil and refined EEFERRERTFTE ANEEH
products could adversely affect the Group’s financial E AR OT A B 7 T Bk [Rm &
position. The Group historically has not used derivative BIREE -

financial instruments to hedge against potential price
fluctuations of crude oil.

f)  Fair values f) A¥E
The fair values of all financial assets and liabilities are not FEVBEERBREZAVEEAERE
materially different from their carrying amounts. BrETEERAER -
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42. COMMITMENTS

-

Q) — parwi sBUIP|OH sED pue |10 oulS e |10z 1oday [enuuy

o

(a) Operating lease commitments

The Group

At 31 December 2011 and 2010, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
were payable as follows:

(a) BEHERE

AEEH

MR20114 2010512 831H @ R A]
BHGEERE 2 RRZREAERBLE
T

The Group
EX 1)

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ET FHET
Within 1 year 1FE R 2,091 3,302
After 1 year but within 5 years 1F £ B5F A 2,245 20
4,336 3,322

The Group is the lessee of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to two years without an extension option.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

AEERREBEKEHERAZENEL
EBEA—RME ZFHEZNTH
AN FIE2F Y EEHEEE-FTF
HEBERERIBREE -
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42. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b) Capital commitments
The Group
(i) Authorised but not contracted for
As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group was
committed to develop in total 9 (2010: 16) new oil wells
under the development contracts of the Liuluoyu Oil
Field and Yanjiawan Oil Field. The estimated total capital

42. #4E (48)
(b) EHEIM
F%H

() EREEREZTL

MR20114F %2010 12A31H  KEE K
DIRBENEWHERBREHEMES
B R ZEA HOofE (20104F : 161E) Fimdt o
HETAEZET BRI EARNT HBEA

expenditure for developing these new oil wells is HK$10.2 10,200,000 7t (20104 : 16,400,000
million (2010: HK$16.4 million). BIT) o
(i) Contracted but not provided for (i)  BETAMERBERE
The Group
#%E
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FAT
Commitments in respect of M=REMDKE R 2 &IE 82,231 118,750
the Sanjiao PSC
Commitments in respect of REEEMDKE R 2 FIE - 4,590
the Jinzhuang PSC
82,231 123,340

-

oO— hEHRIERERD T « 2011 F 3]
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43.

44,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Environmental liabilities

The Group carries out oil exploitation operations in the PRC.
The PRC has adopted environmental laws and regulations
that affect the operations of the oil industry. The outcome
of environmental liabilities under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be estimated
at present, and could be material. Under the existing
legislations, however, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position of the Group.

The Group also engages in the exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane resources. The
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted.
As at 31 December 2011, a provision of HK$1,132,000 was
made in the consolidated statement of financial position
(note 28).

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
transactions with related parties:

The directors consider that the following were related
parties of the Group during the years ended 31 December

2010 and 2011.

Name of party

44,

FHRRARZER
AEBRPELEAHRARER -+ E
EETRFRARRAR  RFEERZK
REBIOBTIRZEE - BEPHK
RZBRRIEFMSIBZBRARRZAE
B AR EREEMAE - BEMREEAKN -
Am-RERELL EEERR X
TEEEAAESAKSENHRREE
EREEMFEZARE-

AEENTKERERERZME B
MEE METEEREZBRBER
BRIFRES C E AR -  NEBEE
BRECRS TKAERE  INERE i
ERRERZER - R2011512 H31
H - &G&MBIRRFRAER 71,132,000
BT 2 B (FTak28) o

EXBAEALRS

REEMBBRARTREEI A&
BEEHAEALIINATEARS

H E20104F R2011E12A318 IFEF E
N BEZRE AEBZBEALTWOT :

Relationship with the Group

BN L &7 BAREZEHEZ

Mar/Reg Oil Company Operator of a subsidiary
—RMBATZLER

Note: M=t -

Mar/Reg Oil Company ceased to be a related party of the Group

after the disposal of King Giant Group set out in note 35.

Mar/Reg Oil CompanyA Kf 3E35F7 & i & & %6
SEETBAAEEZBEEAL -
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45.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group sold
crude oil of HK$734,000 to Mar/Reg Oil Company in the
us.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 10, all the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 11, and three other senior management
personnel are as follows:

4. EXHENLRS (@)

(a) FAEANLEES
HZE2010F12A31BLFERN ' AEE
M iz A 3= B ZMar/Reg Oil Companyiti
& [R)A734,000%8 7T °

(b) EEXEFEAEME
AEETREREAEME (BHEMFE10
FIRBEZERARABAIEEMNZHRA
MEAREZEAE2EBESHFEEX
NZRERA=Z2HEMESREEABX
MZHBE) W

2011 2010

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THERT FHET

Short-term employee benefits 2 HiE B 18 A 10,417 6,649
Post-employment benefits BEER 2R A 68 90
Equity settled share-based payments & 7S 45 & DA% (5 S (4 2 3B 18,928 488
29,413 7,227

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
8()).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2011 and
2010 may be categorised as follows:

45.

M@t ATE IR F (R K
8(b)

~—

o

MEEERMBRRZSEE
3

A20114E B2010FE12 A1 AR 2 A E
BB EERYHEEEZEREESED
T

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#&IT FAT
Financial assets MBEE
Loans and receivables (including ERRERRIE(BIERER
cash and bank balances) RITEEER) 370,779 526,720
Financial liabilities MBaE
Financial liabilities measured BN AT ECIFEE
at amortised cost 853,871 878,952

-

o — HREHRERER DA o 2011 F 3]



payiwi sBUIP|OH SED pue 10 OulS e |07 10day [enuuy

o) —
B

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 3R R B 5

o
i’ T

1 . k) i | -“ = £ i 3 1= F k=5
46. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4

HMBBRZEM

The financial statements were approved and authorised for Bk 2 HESFNR201243H30H
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2012. EHE R R EE o
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